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Corporate Profile
Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust (“Extendicare REIT” or the “REIT”) is a leading North American 
provider of long-term and short-term senior care services. Through its network of owned and operated 
health care centers, Extendicare REIT’s qualified, experienced and dedicated workforce of 38,000 
individuals is committed to helping people live better through the delivery of post-acute care, rehabilitative 
therapies and home health care.  The REIT’s 258 senior care centers in Canada and the United States 
have capacity to care for approximately 28,800 residents. 

Extendicare REIT is a specified investment flow-through trust (SIFT) that has been subject to the SIFT tax 
since January 1, 2007. Monthly cash distributions paid to its unitholders are at the discretion of its board of 
trustees. The REIT’s units trade on the TSX under the symbol EXE.UN.

More information is available at www.extendicare.com.

Financial Highlights
(millions of dollars unless otherwise noted) 2009 2008 2007

Balance Sheet    

Cash and cash equivalents  134.0  123.1   44.2  

Long-term debt (including current portion)  1,234.0   1,332.8   1,071.7  

Total assets   1,668.1   1,806.9   1,440.2  

Unitholder Information    

Funds from operations (FFO) – continuing operations 142.0  71.4   95.7  

FFO from continuing operations ($ per basic unit) 1.95   0.99   1.36  

Adjusted funds from operations (AFFO) –  
 continuing operations  141.3   72.4   82.5  

AFFO from continuing operations ($ per basic unit) 1.94   1.00   1.17  

Distributions declared  61.3   80.6   78.1  

Distributions declared ($ per basic unit) 0.84   1.11   1.11  

Weighed average units – Basic (thousands) 73,000   72,460  70,336  

  – Fully diluted (thousands) 86,817   82,558  73,392 
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(1)   Refer to non-GAAP measures on page 57.
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Forward-looking Statements – Information provided by Extendicare REIT from time to time, including this Annual Report, 
contains or may contain forward-looking statements concerning anticipated future events, results, circumstances, economic 
performance or expectations with respect to the REIT and its subsidiaries, including its business operations, business strategy 
and financial condition. Please refer to page 8 for a caution to the reader on the reliance of such statements. 



to a trust in 2006. Our solid performance in 2009 underlines  
the strength of our business model and reflects our commitment 
to deliver high quality resident care.

Our U.S. operations achieved an annual EBITDA margin of 
13.2%, our highest since 2005. This was achieved despite the 
economy’s impact on our skilled mix and total occupancy through 
a combination of increased per diem rates, diligent cost controls 
and improved collection of accounts receivable. 

Fellow Unitholders,
During 2009, Extendicare REIT strengthened its financial  
position and enhanced its status as a leading North American 
provider of quality senior care services. Disciplined cost controls, 
improved operating fundamentals and a focus on quality and 
customer service formed the core of our “back-to-basics” 
operating plan going into the year. The successful execution of 
these principles has enabled the REIT to emerge from a difficult 
economic period in a position of strength. Our 2009 AFFO from 
continuing operations almost doubled to $141.3 million from 
$72.4 million in 2008.

The foundational elements implemented in 2009 position  
us well for continued growth and profitability. Going forward,  
our priorities include strengthening our occupancy and skilled  
mix in the U.S., maintaining high occupancy and growing 
preferred accommodation in Canada, investing in new and 
existing centers across North America to grow our business and 
ensure home-like environments for our residents. We intend to 
be conservative in the management of our cash balances while 
pursuing a deleveraging strategy in the course of refinancing  
the majority of our U.S. long-term debt.

Driving Strong Results
Extendicare REIT achieved strong results in 2009 through a 
combination of improvements in core operations, higher per  
diem rates and attentiveness to costs. Excluding the positive 
impact from a stronger U.S. dollar, consolidated revenue  
improved by 4%, while EBITDA grew by 25% and our AFFO  
grew by 84%. Our consolidated EBITDA margin reached 12.3%  
for the year ended 2009, the highest since our reorganization  

(signed)

Timothy L. Lukenda
President and Chief Executive Officer

“  Our performance underlines  
the strength of our business 
model and our commitment  
to quality resident care.”

In 2010, we will focus on three main areas to drive continued growth 
in U.S. operations: optimizing Medicare, Managed Care and 
Medicaid rates, re-investing in targeted projects to attract short-
term stay residents and delivering cost-containment initiatives that 
will not impact our quality or efficiency of care delivery. 

The economic downturn has led to reduced state tax revenues, 
increased unemployment and higher demand for Medicaid 
services, putting state Medicaid budgets under considerable 
strain. As a result, a number of states in which we operate have 
faced severe budgetary shortfalls in 2009, are expected to 
continue to experience the same in 2010, and have implemented 
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or proposed reductions in Medicaid funding or provided for below 
inflationary increases. At Extendicare REIT, through our continued 
focus on increasing occupancies and leveraging operational 
efficiencies to manage costs, we endeavor to absorb rate 
reductions if and when they do occur and adapt our operational 
strategies to optimize our resident mix and per diem rates.

Our Canadian operations also recorded notable improvements 
in 2009, while maintaining overall occupancy of 98%. Funding 
enhancements in Ontario and Alberta contributed to an increase 
in the average daily revenue rate of almost 5%, while revenue from 
preferred accommodation in Ontario grew by a modest 0.4%.  
We are committed to further increasing preferred accommodation 
and enhancing relationships with various government bodies 
to increase the availability of capital funding for the continued 
growth of our Canadian operations.

Building the Future
We are focused on renovating and expanding our U.S. and 
Canadian operations to meet rising demand for long-term 
care centers as the population ages and increasing customer 
expectations for more residential-style environments that offer 
greater privacy and more amenities. 

In 2009, three development projects in the U.S. reached 
completion at a total cost of approximately US$35 million, 
financed primarily with proceeds from our 2008 offering, while 
an additional three new state-of-the-art centers are currently 
underway in Alberta at an estimated cost of $74 million. We 
have successfully secured $66 million in Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation financing to complete these projects.

U.S. Health Care Reform
We remain highly optimistic about the future outlook for the REIT 
in spite of the external uncertainties we face. Reforms under 
consideration by the U.S. Congress may provide for an expansion 
of government funded health care, with final legislation yet to be 
passed. Since government funded health care coverage is proposed 
to be extended to a greater number of Americans, every sector of the 
health care industry is expected to absorb funding reductions to help 
pay for the proposed changes. Although recent political events have 
created some doubt as to whether such an expansive reform bill will 
be passed, the likelihood of some funding redistribution remains. 

While we continue to closely monitor the progress of these debates, 
we are accustomed to evolving health care funding methodologies, 
and we are prepared to respond quickly and efficiently to changes 

as they are announced. We are confident in our ability to remain an 
integral component of the U.S. health care arena and continue to 
emphasize that as a low-cost provider of the types of skilled services 
and rehabilitation programs that we provide, we expect long-term 
care to be part of the solution to true health care reform. 

Strong Financial Position
I would like to emphasize that Extendicare REIT will not be 
impacted by the impending specified investment flow-through 
trust (SIFT) tax that some trusts face as a result of the upcoming 
change in Canadian federal taxation policy in 2011. We have 
been subject to SIFT taxes since January 1, 2007, following our 
conversion to a trust in November 2006. The new tax regime will 
therefore have no impact on our distributable cash generation.

On February 4, 2010, Extendicare REIT completed a bought deal 
equity offering of 9,228,750 trust units at a price of $9.35 per unit. 
The net proceeds of the offering of $82.8 million will be used to 
repay indebtedness, fund redevelopment of the REIT’s existing 
properties, and for general trust purposes. We are confident in our 
ability to refinance our commercial mortgage backed securitized 
financing as it matures in 2011. Our strong balance sheet and cash 
position increase our flexibility to prepay a portion of our existing 
debt, and achieve our objective of deleveraging the REIT’s 
balance sheet and staggering future debt maturities. 

While it is the prerogative of the Board to review the level of 
distributions on an ongoing basis relative to the needs of the REIT 
and changing market conditions, we believe that the current level 
of distributions is sustainable.

Helping People Live Better
At Extendicare REIT, we are committed to delivering appropriate 
returns to our unitholders through sound operational practices and 
the execution of prudent financial strategies. We are continually 
seeking ways to build on our strong history and demonstrate 
leadership in the North American health care sector. 

The dedication and shared values of our employees received 
independent acknowledgement in 2009 when the American 
Healthcare Association awarded the Step I Quality Award to  
33 of our U.S. skilled nursing centers. We are proud that the ongoing 
demonstration of our organization-wide commitment to quality care 
led to this prestigious honour. 

Through our collective efforts in 2009, I believe we have furthered  
our mission of “helping people live better.” I would like to express  
my appreciation to the entire Extendicare REIT team for a successful 
year -- to our employees for their dedication and skill, our Board of 
Trustees for their advice and expertise, our customers for their loyalty 
and trust and our unitholders for their confidence and support. 

Timothy L. Lukenda 
President and Chief Executive Officer

“  Distributable cash will not  
be impacted by the impending 
Canadian SIFT tax in 2011.”
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Canadian Operations

•  Revenue increased 6.1% to $642.9 million; 
EBITDA margin grew to 10.1% 

•  Funding increases received in Ontario  
and Alberta  

•  Three construction projects under way  
in Alberta, totalling 600 beds for 
completion in 2010 and 2011

Overview
Extendicare REIT’s Canadian operations 
are conducted through its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Extendicare (Canada) Inc. 
(ECI). Average occupancy levels in our 
Canadian centers remain consistently 
close to full capacity as a result of 
government restrictions on the supply 
of long-term care beds combined with 
strong demand for the types of services we 
provide. We remain focused on growing 
preferred accommodation and engaging 
in discussions with various government 
bodies to increase the availability of capital 
funding. Canadian operations represented 
approximately 30% of consolidated revenue 
and 24% of consolidated EBITDA in 2009. 

U.S. Operations

•  Revenue increased 3.1% to US$1.3 billion; 
EDITDA margin grew to 13.2% 

•  Higher average daily revenue rates from 
two highest U.S. funding sources

 –  Managed Care: up 7.1% to US$383
 –  Medicare Part A: up 7.3% to US$453 

•  Three state-of-the-art centers were 
opened in 2009, totalling 260 beds 

Overview
Extendicare REIT’s U.S. operations are 
conducted through its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Extendicare Health Services, 
Inc. (EHSI). In the U.S., our business 
focus is on strengthening our Medicare 
census, skilled mix and total occupancy 
while optimizing our per diem rates. The 
prestigious Step 1 Quality Award was 
awarded to 33 of EHSI’s centers in 2009. 
U.S. operations represented approximately 
70% of consolidated revenue and 76% of 
consolidated EBITDA in 2009. 

11,500
beds 

77%
of resident  
capacity in  
Ontario

82
centers in  
4 provinces

98%
occupancy 

17,300
beds 

34%
quality mix  
census

176
centers in  
12 states

53%
quality mix 
revenue

1  NURSING CENTERS  
1  ASSISTED lIvING & RETIREMENT CENTERS  
1  CHRONIC CARE UNIT  
1  PARAMED HOME HEAlTH CARE (22 BRANCHES)

1  NURSING CENTERS  
1  ASSISTED lIvING & RETIREMENT CENTERS  
1  PROSTEP OUTPATIENT REHAB (19 ClINICS) 
1  REHAB HOSPITAl  

Operations 

      at-a-glance
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Our 38,000 employees across North America share a common 
goal: helping people live better. The well being and comfort of 
our residents is our top priority, and we ensure all levels of our 
operations are staffed with capable and experienced executive, 
administrative and health care professionals to maintain a high 
level of organization-wide efficiency and quality of care. 

The dedication and professionalism of our employees received 
independent acknowledgement from the American Healthcare 
Association when 33 of our U.S. centers were awarded the 2009 
Step I Quality Award. This prestigious award recognizes the high 
standard of resident care delivered by the frontline physicians, 
nurses, caregivers and administrators of each winning facility, 
and underscores the combined efforts of employees across the 
organization to maintain a customer-focused operating mission. 

This quality award program is criteria-based and independently 
judged, and we are all exceptionally proud to have achieved such 
an important honour. 

Working Together 
It is through this same commitment to quality service that  
our “back-to-basics” operating plan for 2009 was successfully 
executed throughout the year. This plan was developed in  
2008 to solidify our balance sheet and strengthen the underlying 
fundamentals of our business while improving and growing our 
core senior care operations.

As a result of efforts at all levels of the organization to implement 
the principles outlined under the plan, we succeeded in 
enhancing the overall quality of resident care while optimizing 
resources and improving operating efficiencies. 

The perseverance and dedication demonstrated by our people 
were an essential element of our ability to achieve and surpass  
the financial and operational performance goals we established 
for Extendicare at the beginning of the year. 

Putting Residents First
Our centers operate according to resident-focused principles. 
This means that residents and their families are fully involved 
in decisions concerning daily living and specified care, while 
activities at the administrative and executive levels seek to achieve 
ongoing improvements in the operation-wide processes that drive 
efficiencies and improve quality standards within our centers. 

The strength of 
  our people
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Initiatives are constantly under way to improve capabilities at all  
levels to ensure the most positive experience possible for each  
resident. These include the incorporation of various new technologies 
as well as investments in existing and new centers to improve the 
living and working environments of our residents and employees. 

We know that in order to provide our residents with a high standard 
of care, a commitment must be made to constantly seek ways to 
improve. As we strive to maintain a resident-focused environment 
throughout our operations, we remain dedicated to making 
enhancements for the benefit of our residents and employees while 
monitoring costs and ensuring the efficient use of resources. 

The Extendicare Way 
Our values guide our behaviour and determine our future.  
That is why we remain committed to upholding the core values 
that have driven Extendicare’s success for over 40 years. This 
means providing quality services to the residents and patients 
who entrust us with their health and dignity and endeavouring  
to make each day an affirmation of life. 

We strive to create enjoyable and rewarding work environments 
for our employees, who are dedicated to delivering the high 
standard of care that defines our principles. 

The “Extendicare Way” is about helping people live better, and  
we are committed to the ongoing achievement of this goal. 

Our people were an essential 
element of our ability to achieve 
and surpass the financial and 
operational performance goals.

What Matters Most
What Matters Most is Extendicare’s 
customer service program, created 
with the goal of establishing an 
operation-wide understanding of Extendicare’s core 
values. These values, which we strive to uphold in all  
of our activities, include:

• Dignity  • Respect

• Pride  • Responsiveness

• Compassion  • Integrity

This program is supported by a series of regular seminars 
and facility-specific sessions through which employees 
learn about our values and are provided with suggestions 
as to how they can be effectively woven into daily routines. 

These principles form the foundation of our organization 
and guide our daily interactions with residents, families  
and co-workers. By establishing a collective understanding  
of Extendicare’s core values throughout our operations, 
we aim to instil in our employees a sense of purpose and 
pride in their work. 
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Leveraging Flexibility
The living and working standards enjoyed by Extendicare’s residents 
and employees are among the best in North America. Because we 
own the majority of our centers, we have the freedom and flexibility 
to continually upgrade our current properties and invest in the 
construction of new centers to ensure our high standards. 

During 2009, Extendicare completed or began construction of 
a number of new centers in both the U.S. and Canada. These 
centers will offer the latest in comfort, care and technology and 
will ensure a positive and productive environment for residents 
and employees alike. 

Investing in the Future
Demand for long-term care centers continues to grow as the 
population ages, and we are increasingly focused on expanding our 
operations to accommodate those in need of the types of services we 
provide. In an effort to meet the changing demands of our customers, 
we are creating more private suites and home-like accommodations 
that provide a warm, inviting feel and greater amenities. 

In the U.S., we completed a 100-bed skilled nursing center in 
Okemos, Michigan plus a 100-bed skilled nursing center and  
60-unit assisted living center in Summit, Wisconsin. 

We are expanding our Canadian operations with the construction 
of three new state-of-the-art centers in Alberta. Scheduled for 
completion in 2010 and 2011, these projects include a 280-bed 
continuing care center in Red Deer, a 140-bed designated assisted  
living center in lethbridge and a 180-bed nursing center in Edmonton. 

To meet the changing demands 
of our customers, we are creating 
more private suites and home- 
like accommodations that  
provide a warm, inviting feel  
and greater amenities. 

The strength of 
    our properties
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Our centers are equipped with 
technologies that improve our 
ability to effectively treat and 
monitor the individual medical 
needs of residents. 

At Extendicare, we use leading-edge technologies at all levels of 
our business to improve the medical care our residents, optimize 
resources and enhance communications capabilities within our 
centers, and drive efficiencies in our back-office processes. 

Enhancing Resident Care
Our centers are equipped with technologies that improve our 
ability to effectively treat and monitor the individual medical needs 
of residents, dramatically enhancing the experiences of residents 
and their care providers.

Our rehabilitation patients have benefited significantly from 
new, state-of-the-art equipment that provides for a more efficient 
healing process, while developments in medical equipment have 
increased the safety and comfort of residents. 

In our U.S. centers, an improved tracking system enables staff 
to more effectively monitor the daily needs of each patient. This 
bedside tool allows us to tailor each resident’s care plan to meet 
their changing needs. 

As well as significantly benefiting residents, this system is also 
a highly effective mechanism for tracking services provided, 
better enabling us to assign residents to an appropriate acuity 
category. This improved ability has resulted in higher per diem 
reimbursement rates and higher revenues. 

To further improve the experiences of our long-term care 
residents, we have begun the process of equipping our centers 
with wireless internet technology so that residents are able to 
communicate regularly with family and friends. 

By incorporating the latest in medical, service tracking and 
communications technologies into our centers, we strive to 
optimize resources and achieve the best in living and working 
standards for our patients and employees alike. 

Leveraging Efficiencies
We continue to aggressively pursue improvements in back-office 
technologies to streamline administrative processes and manage 
costs across our operations, including the implementation of 
a sophisticated billing system that improves our ability to track 
accounts receivable. Initiatives such as these enable us to work 
towards our goal of providing a consistent delivery of high quality 
care within our centers.

The strength of 
    our technology
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z  Basis of Presentation 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is that of Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust and its subsidiaries. References 
to “Extendicare REIT”, the “REIT”, “we”, “us” and “our” in this report mean Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust alone or together with 
its subsidiaries, as the context requires. The direct ownership and operation of the senior care centers and ancillary businesses is 
conducted by the subsidiaries of the REIT. The REIT itself is not a provider of services or products.

Extendicare REIT is the successor in interest to Extendicare Inc. (Extendicare) resulting from the conversion of Extendicare to an 
unincorporated, open-ended limited purpose trust on November 10, 2006, pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the “Arrangement”). 
Extendicare REIT was established under the laws of the Province of Ontario pursuant to a deed of trust, dated September 11, 2006, as 
amended and restated on October 28, 2006 (the “Deed of Trust”). The conversion has been accounted for as a continuity of interest, 
and accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the REIT reflect the consolidated financial position, results of operations and 
cash flows as if the REIT had always carried on the business formerly carried on by Extendicare.

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with Extendicare REIT’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended 2009 
and 2008 and the notes thereto. This discussion should not be considered all-inclusive, as it excludes changes that may occur in general 
economic, political and environmental conditions. Additionally, other elements may or may not occur which could affect the REIT in the 
future. Extendicare REIT’s accounting policies are in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) of 
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA). All dollar amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. Except 
as otherwise specified, references to years indicate the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, or December 31 of the year referenced, 
and all comparisons are to prior years.

Certain figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in 2009, mainly for discontinued operations identified in 2009.  
A discussion of the non-GAAP measures is provided under the heading “Accounting Policies and Estimates – Non-GAAP Measures”.

z  overview

Business Overview
Extendicare REIT, through its wholly owned subsidiary operating entities, is a major provider of long-term and short-term senior care 
services through its network of owned and operated health care centers in North America, operating 258 senior care centers with 
capacity for 28,818 residents at December 31, 2009.

The REIT’s wholly owned U.S. subsidiary, Extendicare Health Services, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “EHSI”), operates 176 senior 
care centers with capacity for 17,295 residents, and has a significant presence (more than 10% of its resident capacity) in each of 
Pennsylvania, Michigan, Wisconsin, Ohio and Kentucky. EHSI offers a continuum of health care services, including nursing care, assisted 
living and related medical specialty services, such as post-acute care and rehabilitative therapy on an inpatient and outpatient basis. 

The REIT’s wholly owned subsidiary, Extendicare (Canada) Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “ECI”), operates 82 senior care  
centers in Canada, with capacity for 11,523 residents. ECI has a significant presence in Ontario, where approximately 77% of its 
residents are served. Also, through its ParaMed Home Health Care (ParaMed) division, ECI is a major provider of home health care  
in Ontario and Alberta.

Management’s 

 discussion and analysis
March 17, 2010
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Extendicare REIT owns rather than leases a majority of its properties, unlike a number of other long-term care providers.  
At December 31, 2009, excluding centers under management contracts, we owned or operated under lease arrangements with options  
to purchase, 218 centers, or 98%, of our 222 owned or leased centers. We believe that ownership increases our operating flexibility  
by allowing us to: refurbish centers to meet changing consumer demands; expand or add assisted living and retirement centers 
adjacent to our nursing centers; adjust licensed capacity to avoid occupancy-based rate penalties; and divest centers and exit markets 
at our discretion.

The following table depicts ownership and management of senior care centers operated by EHSI and ECI at December 31, 2009, 
excluding those designated as discontinued operations.

	 	 Assisted	Living	and		 Rehab	Hospital	/	
	 Nursing	Centers	 Retirement	Centers	 Chronic	Care	Units	 Total

By	Type		 No.	of	 Resident	 No.	of	 Resident	 No.	of	 Resident	 No.	of	 Resident	
of	Ownership	 Centers	 Capacity	 Centers	 Capacity	 Centers	 Capacity	 Centers	 Capacity

UNiTed	STATeS
Owned 156 15,839 4 307 1 24 161 16,170
leased  4 400 – – – – 4 400
Managed 5 519 6 206 – – 11 725
Total  165 16,758 10 513 1 24 176 17,295
CANAdA
Owned 48 6,363 – – – – 48 6,363
leased(1) 9 1,155 – 76 – – 9 1,231
Managed 23 3,392 1 417 1 120 25 3,929
Total  80 10,910 1 493 1 120 82 11,523
TOTAL 245	 27,668	 11	 1,006	 2	 144	 258	 28,818

(1) the nine leased centers in canada are oPerated By eci under 25-year caPital lease arrangements.

The following table reflects the change in senior care centers operated during 2009 and 2008. 

    2009 2008

	 	 	 	 No.	of		 Operational	 No.	of	 Operational	
extendicare	ReiT	Senior	Care	Centers	 Centers	 Beds/Units	 Centers	 Beds/Units

AS	AT	BegiNNiNg	Of	THe	yeAR 266	 30,028 269 30,333
Acquisitions(1) –	 – 3 304
Development(2) 3	 260 2 177
Managed contracts added 3	 324 3 317
Managed contracts matured(1) (4)	 (509) (3) (304)
Divested or discontinued(3) (10)	 (1,089) (8) (747)
Operational capacity adjustments(4) –	 (196) – (52)
AS	AT	THe	eNd	Of	THe	yeAR 258	 28,818 266 30,028

(1)   the reduction in managed contracts was due to maturity of contracts in 2009, and to our acquisition of three manitoBa nursing centers (304 Beds) 
in 2008.

(2)  oPened a 100-Bed skilled nursing center in okemos, michigan in august 2009, and a 100-Bed skilled nursing center and 60-unit assisted living center 
in summit, wisconsin in octoBer 2009.

(3)  refer to the discussion under the heading “significant develoPments – discontinued oPerations”.
(4)  reduction in oPerational caPacity in certain states due to Beds that have Been Pulled out of service in order to increase our medicaid rate  

and to accommodate rehaBilitation suites.
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Development Projects
During 2009, we completed construction of a state-of-the-art 100-bed skilled nursing center in Okemos, Michigan (opened in August), 
and a 100-bed skilled nursing center and 60-unit assisted living center in Summit, Wisconsin (opened in October). Our pipeline includes 
a further three owned construction projects under way in Alberta, Canada, totalling 600 beds for completion in 2010 and 2011, and two 
projects under lease obligations in the United States for completion in 2010, totalling 220 beds.

    	 Operational
	 As at December 31, 2009	 No.	of	Centers	 Beds/Units

OwNed	CeNTeRS	UNdeR	deveLOpmeNT	 	
Canada  – open 2010       2	 420 

– open 2011       1	 180
CeNTeRS	UNdeR	CONTRACTUAL	LeASe	OBLigATiONS	 	
U.S. – open 2010       2	 220
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 5	 820

In addition to these projects, as part of the Ontario government’s initiative to redevelop 35,000 older beds over the next 10 years, ECI 
received approval to redevelop 287 of its older beds in the cities of Timmins and Sault Ste. Marie, and in connection with this award, 
received approval to add a further 149 long-term care beds. As a result, ECI expects to complete construction of a new 180-bed nursing 
center in Timmins and a new 256-bed nursing center in Sault Ste. Marie by the end of 2012. ECI currently operates three nursing homes 
with 387 beds in these areas. Following completion of the new projects, ECI would operate 436 beds in two new centers and 100 beds 
in an older center to be considered for redevelopment at a later date. 

For further details of the development projects, please refer to “Significant Developments – Development Projects”.

Business Strategy
At Extendicare REIT, our strategy is to create value for our unitholders through the effective operation and growth of our core senior care 
operations, and complementary long-term care services. By emphasizing the quality of care provided to our residents and by clustering 
several long-term care centers together within the geographic areas served, our goal is to build upon our reputation as a leading 
provider of a full range of long-term care services in the community. In pursuing this strategy, an overriding objective is to continually 
enhance the quality of clinically based services provided to our residents and other clients. Other key components of our value creation 
strategy include:

• ensuring the continued delivery of quality care and customer service throughout our organization;

• focusing on accommodating short-term, high acuity rehabilitative residents, which results in increasing the percentage of revenue 
from Medicare and Managed Care (Skilled Mix) funding sources as well as private-pay sources (Quality Mix), and increasing average 
daily revenue rates; 

• actively maintaining and improving our asset portfolio through a disciplined capital reinvestment program or, where appropriate, 
through disposal of underperforming centers;

• focusing on achieving operational efficiencies in our core business and internal growth, and when available, growth through new 
developments and value-creating acquisitions;

• expanding non-government based revenue sources and diversifying within the long-term care industry through our rehabilitative 
services, information technology, management and consulting businesses;

• increasing market share in the Canadian home health care operations; and

• increasing funds from operations and adjusted funds from operations, by achieving the above goals.

Investment Overview
An investment in the units of Extendicare REIT entitles the holder to a monthly cash flow stream, through distributions at the discretion  
of the board of trustees of the REIT (the “Board of Trustees”), as well as the opportunity, or exposure, to changes in the price of the trust 
units of the REIT (the “REIT Units”), which are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSx) under the symbol “ExE.UN”. Since the REIT’s 
inception in November 2006 until December 2008, we paid monthly distributions of $0.0925 per unit to our unitholders, for annual 
distributions of $1.11 per unit. The Board of Trustees regularly reviews its distribution policy. Effective January 2009, the REIT reduced its 
monthly distributions to $0.07 per unit, or $0.84 per unit annually. The Board of Trustees made this decision after considering the general 
economic outlook and operating environment, along with past and projected operating performance of the REIT. Based on the closing 
price of the REIT Units on February 26, 2010, of $9.77, this represents a yield of 8.6%. More information about distributions, including tax 
considerations, is provided in the section “Key Performance Indicators – Distributions”.
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Our long-term growth and financial performance is influenced by a number of factors. First and foremost among these factors is  
the demand for senior care centers and other related long-term care services in the United States and Canada. In both countries,  
the outlook for these services is favourable due to an aging population as the “baby-boomer” generation enters its senior years.  
For example, the U.S. Census Bureau estimates that the number of Americans aged 65 to 84 will increase by 36.2% between 2010 and 
2020 compared to a total population growth of 10.0%. Other important factors affecting results are developments related to government 
funding in such programs as Medicare and Medicaid in the United States and the envelope funding systems in Ontario. Given that  
70.3% of our revenue in 2009 was generated from our U.S. operations, Medicare and Medicaid funding is particularly significant for our 
financial performance. For a discussion of recent Medicare and Medicaid funding increases, and factors affecting the outlook for future 
funding, please see the section “Update of legislative Actions Affecting Revenue – United States”. 

Our financial performance is also affected by changes in the U.S./Canadian dollar exchange rate as the results of our U.S. operations  
are reported in Canadian dollars and the REIT’s distributions are made in Canadian dollars. Consequently, our financial performance 
benefits when the Canadian dollar weakens relative to the U.S. currency, and conversely our results are negatively impacted when the 
U.S. dollar weakens relative to the Canadian dollar. We have implemented a foreign currency hedging strategy to reduce the risks 
associated with changes in the U.S. dollar and the impact such changes could have on our Canadian dollar distributions. Information 
about the impact of currency translation on our financial results, and a review of our foreign currency hedging strategy, is provided in the 
section “Impact of U.S. Dollar and Foreign Currency Translation” and “Risks and Uncertainties – Foreign Currency Rate Fluctuations”. 

gloBal economic environment 
The most significant factor impacting the REIT’s industry this past year, and for the near term, is the global economy. Beginning in the 
latter part of 2008, the economy and stock markets have suffered a significant downturn as a result of the worldwide credit and liquidity 
crisis that impacted market values of securities, values of commodities, such as oil and gas, interest rates and the foreign exchange 
markets; and there has been unprecedented job loss in both the U.S. and Canada. With a dramatic reduction in corporate profits and 
reduced consumer confidence, the fiscal health of provincial, state and federal governments have been dampened; consequently, the 
future funding of services for which they provide support may be at risk. The global economic downturn has impacted nursing home 
funding, short-term admissions in our U.S. nursing centers and the financing environment.

In response to the above potential risks and uncertainties, the REIT has undertaken several courses of action to minimize future risks 
and maintain liquidity, including: 

• reducing distributions and growth projects along with divestiture of underperforming assets; 

• focusing on core business and cost reduction initiatives;

• monitoring our cash usage; and

• maintaining solid banking relationships.

imPact of current economy on the reit 
There are a number of risks that the global events could pose on the REIT. Below is a summary of the potential uncertainties and 
significant risks that could have an impact on the REIT and its subsidiaries:

• state, provincial and federal funding and regulatory pressure;

• decline in short-term admissions as a result of a slowdown in the number of individuals seeking elective surgery and resulting need 
for post-acute care; and

• ability to finance and refinance loans, and the resulting higher cost of borrowing.

State,	provincial	and	federal	funding	and	Regulatory	pressure
Reductions in Medicaid, Medicare and provincial funding for long-term care due to the economic downturn could have a material 
impact on our earnings. The majority of our costs are wages that cannot be changed given the requirements of our residents and 
regulations. In addition, any escalation of regulatory pressure by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) or state level 
government agencies could have a negative impact on our costs and thereby reduce our earnings.

In response to the economic downturn, governments have initiated a number of cost-reduction and job-creation programs. In February 
2009, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 provided US$787 billion in government stimulus of which US$86.7 billion 
was appropriated to increase funding for state Medicaid programs. However, despite this additional funding and the stated intention  
to maintain core education, health and unemployment funding, a number of states in which we operate have faced severe budgetary 
shortfalls in 2009, are expected to continue to do the same in 2010, and have implemented or proposed reductions in Medicaid funding 
or provided for below inflationary increases. The impact to Medicare and Medicaid rates are outlined in detail under the heading 
“Update of legislative Actions Affecting Revenue – United States”.
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In response to the reductions in government funding, we have undertaken a number of initiatives in the latter half of 2008 and  
during 2009, and plan to continue to do so in 2010, to reduce our operating and administrative costs without impacting the quality  
and level of services to the residents that we serve. Those initiatives have been focused on reducing the costs of pharmaceuticals, 
telecommunications and major supplies through enhanced procurement initiatives; implementing real-time labour tracking tools within 
our U.S. centers; reducing health care and workers compensation costs through a number of program initiatives; reducing the level of 
bad debts through new admission and collection software tools; tightening travel policies and reducing corporate overhead through 
technology driven solutions. 

decline	in	Short-term	Admissions	in	the	U.S.
In the U.S., Medicare and Managed Care funded residents are the source of approximately 80% of our admissions, a component  
of which come from hospitals after elective surgeries. 

In respect of Medicare admissions, the global economic downturn has reduced disposable income of individuals, reduced employment 
and resulted in a general restraint by the public on health care spending. As a result of this downturn, the number of individuals seeking 
elective surgery and hence the need for post-acute care has declined. We believe that the majority of long-term care providers in the 
United States have experienced a decline in short-term admissions. We also believe the decline we experienced since the 2008 fourth 
quarter and during 2009 in Medicare admissions was in part due to individuals deferring elective surgery due to the economy and the 
resulting reduction in required post-acute care. Our future earnings could be eroded further should the level of admissions decrease  
as a result of lower incomes and lower financial resources of our prospective residents. 

In response, we have refocused and refined our strategic marketing plans and have invested to improve the number of rehabilitation 
suites within our portfolio to increase our market share in communities where we anticipate a return on the investment. 

Ability	to	Raise	financing	and	Refinance	Loans
In respect of the financing environment, the recent global economic downtown has restricted the ability of companies to raise capital,  
to finance and refinance loans, and increased the cost of borrowing. 

Our leverage has been established as a result of the 2006 reorganization, and in general, leverage ratios are higher in property-based 
long-term care operators such as the REIT. A higher leverage ratio in certain states improves our level of state reimbursement. Should 
leverage ratios of the REIT increase as a result of declining earnings, the REIT may have limited ability to reduce the level of debt to meet 
lenders expectations.

EHSI has in aggregate original principal of US$590.0 million in commercial mortgage backed securitization (CMBS) financings,  
with a balance at December 31, 2009, of US$588.4 million, and US$51.0 million in mortgage financing from Sovereign Bank and  
other lenders (the “Sovereign loans”), with a balance at December 31, 2009, of US$49.5 million, that mature between June 2011 and 
March 2012. The U.S. line of credit matures in June 2011 and we have an option to extend for a third year to June 2012 upon satisfaction 
of certain conditions, subject to lender approval. The Sovereign loans can be refinanced without any prepayment penalty. Whereas, the 
CMBS financings have a defeasement penalty that continues through to three months prior to their maturity dates, and is determined 
based upon the difference between the interest rate on the loans and U.S. Treasury rates. Over time, the defeasement penalty is 
reduced. Currently, EHSI would not seek to defease any significant portion of the CMBS financings without successfully seeking  
an amendment to reduce the defeasement penalty, and hence is currently limiting its ability to deleverage. 

The availability of low-cost and long-term financing is more limited than prior to the global economic downturn, as are the sources  
and options for financing. As a result, the terms and conditions of financing are less favourable to the REIT. Management continuously 
monitors its refinancing risks and communicates regularly with lenders to maintain an understanding of the availability and cost of 
capital. If the CMBS financings were maturing today, the favoured option would be to replace them with U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD) insured mortgages. Mortgages insured through HUD are available to all qualifying long-term care operators 
and represent a low-cost and long-term financing option for the REIT. However, additional administrative costs are required to establish 
and maintain HUD mortgages. 

The REIT has, however, been successful in renewing its U.S. line of credit and amending its Canadian line of credit during 2009, raising 
equity in February 2010, and arranging new construction loans for all Canadian development projects. As well, on March 11, 2010, we 
secured HUD financing on our skilled nursing (60 beds) and assisted living (62 units) complex in Wausau, Wisconsin for US$11.7 million 
at a fixed rate of 4.6% over a 35-year term. 
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z  key Performance indicators

In order to compare the REIT’s financial performance between periods, management assesses the key performance indicators for all  
of its continuing operations. In addition, we assess the operations on a same-facility basis between the reported periods. Set forth below 
is an analysis of the key performance indicators and a discussion of significant trends when comparing the REIT’s financial results.

The following is a glossary of terms for some of our key performance indicators:

“adc” means average daily census, and is the number of residents occupying a bed over a period of time, divided by the number  
of days in that period;

“census” is defined as the number of residents occupying beds (or units in the case of an assisted living facility);

“ci” means commercial insurance, which is a form of health care coverage in the United States;

“cmi” means case mix index, which is a measure of the relative cost or resources needed to treat the mix of patients or residents;

“hmo” means health maintenance organization, which is a type of managed care organization that provides a form of health care 
coverage in the United States;

“managed care” refers collectively to HMO and CI payor sources; 

“occupancy” is measured as the percentage of census relative to the total available resident capacity. Total operational resident 
capacity is the number of beds (or units in the case of an assisted living center) available for occupancy multiplied by the number  
of days in the period;

“quality mix” is the measure of the level of non-Medicaid payor sources. In most states, Medicaid is the least attractive payor source  
as rates are the lowest among all payor types; 

“same facility”, in the context of comparing our 2009 and 2008 operations in this document, refers to those centers that were operated 
by us on January 1, 2008, and throughout 2008 and 2009; and

“skilled mix” refers collectively to Medicare and Managed Care payor sources. These sources generally include residents with 
short-term rehabilitative needs that we focus on accommodating.

U.S. Operations
We focus on short-term stay programs and offering care to residents with higher acuity and those requiring rehabilitative care and 
services in our skilled nursing center operations. These residents are primarily admitted into our centers with Medicare and Managed 
Care as their primary funding source. During 2009, approximately 53% of our U.S. resident admissions were Medicare funded, and 
approximately 27% were Managed Care funded. In total, this has increased from 2008 admissions of 53% from Medicare and 23% from 
Managed Care. Therefore, we consider Skilled Mix, and Quality Mix (which includes private-pay residents) to be important performance 
measurement indicators. Medicaid rates are generally lower than rates earned from other sources. 

Our goal in the U.S. skilled nursing center operations is to increase the percentage of revenue derived from Medicare, Managed  
Care organizations providing Medicare and Medicaid replacement products, CI, private and other Quality Mix residents. Therefore,  
we focus on these payor types to increase average daily revenue rates and improve Quality Mix census as a percentage of the total  
ADC. Our data collection and reporting system, implemented in 2007, allows us to electronically track the condition of the residents  
and services provided for them. This electronic system enables us to operate more efficiently within the Resource Utilization  
Groupings (RUGs) classifications system, to ensure appropriate payment for services is being delivered and, thereby, increase our 
average Medicare rates.
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skilled nursing center revenue By Payor source
The following table provides the percentage of EHSI’s revenue by payor source and the average revenue rates for its skilled nursing 
centers from continuing operations, excluding prior period settlement adjustments, for the past eight quarters and years ended 2009 
and 2008. 

	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 Total

(restated for discontinued operations) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

ReveNUe	By		
	 pAyOR	SOURCe (%)
Medicare 34.7 36.3 34.3 35.6 33.0 33.3 32.0 33.3 33.5 34.6
Managed Care 10.2 8.3 10.4 9.7 10.3 9.8 10.8 9.6 10.5 9.4
Skilled Mix 44.9 44.6 44.7 45.3 43.3 43.1 42.8 42.9 44.0 44.0
Private/other 9.1 9.6 9.3 9.3 9.6 10.2 9.4 10.0 9.3 9.8
Quality Mix  54.0 54.2 54.0 54.6 52.9 53.3 52.2 52.9 53.3	 53.8
Medicaid 46.0 45.8 46.0 45.4 47.1 46.7 47.8 47.1 46.7 46.2
    100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

AveRAge	ReveNUe	RATe		
	 By		pAyOR	SOURCe (US$)
Medicare Part A  447.79 411.96 454.38 419.14 457.09 421.07 454.76 439.24 453.40 422.43
Managed Care 380.53 335.05 381.39 358.22	 378.35 361.86	 387.34 372.51 382.77 357.33
Private/other 211.92 209.33 215.21 201.02 212.83 206.97 215.89	 207.70 213.96 206.29
Medicaid 172.75 164.89 171.96 166.12	 174.85 169.03 177.32 172.43 174.06 168.15
Medicare Part A and B 490.48 447.70 501.69 454.31 507.19 462.61 504.70 480.97 500.80 460.82

EHSI’s average daily Medicare Part A rate grew by 7.3% to US$453.40 in 2009 from US$422.43 in 2008. The October 1, 2008, market 
basket inflationary increase accounted for approximately 3.4% of the rate increase, and was partially offset by a net 1.1% rate reduction 
effective October 1, 2009. The remaining increase in our average Medicare Part A rates primarily related to higher average acuity  
levels among Medicare patients served. In the 2009 fourth quarter, our average daily Medicare Part A rate decreased by only 0.5%  
to US$454.76 from US$457.09 in the 2009 third quarter, despite the net 1.1% reduction in rates, due to our continued improvement  
in the mix of Medicare residents served.

Our percentage of Medicare residents in the nine highest RUGs classifications increased to 41.7% in 2009 from 37.7% in 2008.  
In addition, we experienced an increase in the percentage of Medicare residents receiving therapy services to 89.6% in 2009 from  
87.8% in 2008. 

EHSI’s average revenue rate for Managed Care clients increased by 7.1% to US$382.77 this year from US$357.33 in 2008. The Managed 
Care payor source group represents the second highest rate component of our Quality Mix of residents and is therefore an important 
element in our revenue growth strategy. While these rates will vary depending on the type of resident admitted and their diagnosis, we 
anticipate continued improvements in this average rate over time, as we continue to focus on building relationships with key Managed 
Care organizations and establishing rates that are reflective of the services we are providing. 

EHSI’s average daily Medicaid rate, increased by 3.5% in 2009 to US$174.06 from US$168.15 in 2008. For a number of states, the 
increase in average Medicaid revenue per resident day was primarily attributable to increases in acuity of care levels, or CMI, and 
funding for increased state provider taxes. EHSI’s average Medicaid revenue per resident day, net of state provider taxes and excluding 
CMI, increased by approximately 1.9% in 2009 over 2008. The average Medicaid rate in the 2009 fourth quarter of US$177.32 increased 
by 1.4% from US$174.85 in the 2009 third quarter due primarily to October 1, 2009, rate increases, which were partially offset by 
increased state provider taxes, for a net improvement of US$1.1 million between quarters. 
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The following table provides the percentage of EHSI’s revenue by payor source for its skilled nursing facilities on a same-facility basis, 
excluding prior period settlement adjustments, for the past eight quarters and years ended 2009 and 2008.

	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 Total

(restated for discontinued operations) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

ReveNUe	By		
	 pAyOR	SOURCe (%)
Medicare 34.7 36.3 34.3 35.6 32.9 33.3 31.9 33.3 33.5 34.6
Managed Care 10.1 8.3 10.3 9.7 10.2 9.7 10.7 9.5 10.3 9.3
Skilled Mix 44.8 44.6 44.6 45.3 43.1 43.0 42.6 42.8 43.8 43.9
Private/other 9.0 9.6 9.3 9.3 9.6 10.1 9.3 10.0 9.3 9.7
Quality Mix  53.8 54.2 53.9 54.6 52.7 53.1 51.9 52.8 53.1 53.6
Medicaid 46.2 45.8 46.1 45.4 47.3 46.9 48.1 47.2 46.9 46.4
    100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

On a same-facility basis, our proportion of Skilled Mix revenue declined slightly to 43.8% in 2009 from 43.9% in 2008, reflecting a decline 
in Skilled Mix average daily census, specifically Medicare census, as discussed below, partially offset by an increase in average 
Medicare and Managed Care rates.

For more information on Medicare and Medicaid funding in the U.S., including recent developments and their impact or expected 
impact on Extendicare REIT, please see “Update of legislative Actions Affecting Revenue – United States”. 

skilled nursing center average daily census
The following table provides the ADC, percentage of total ADC, and average occupancy of EHSI’s skilled nursing centers from 
continuing operations, for the past eight quarters and years ended 2009 and 2008. 

	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 Total

(restated for discontinued operations) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

AveRAge	dAiLy	CeNSUS	
Medicare 2,499 2,733 2,385 2,646 2,274 2,447 2,218 2,391 2,343 2,553
Managed Care 949 835 952 918 955 916 978 885 958 889
Skilled Mix 3,448 3,568 3,337 3,564 3,229 3,363 3,196 3,276 3,301	 3,442
Private/other 1,513 1,553 1,518 1,562 1,583 1,669 1,520 1,664 1,534 1,612
Quality Mix 4,961 5,121 4,855 5,126 4,812 5,032 4,716 4,940 4,835 5,054
Medicaid 9,394 9,370 9,335 9,218 9,424 9,386 9,438 9,414 9,398 9,348
Total  14,355 14,491 14,190 14,344 14,236 14,418 14,154 14,354 14,233 14,402

CeNSUS	By	pAyOR	Type (%) 
Medicare 17.4 18.8 16.8 18.4 16.0 17.0 15.7 16.6 16.5 17.7
Managed Care 6.6 5.8 6.7 6.4 6.7 6.3 6.9 6.2 6.7 6.2
Skilled Mix 24.0 24.6 23.5 24.8 22.7 23.3 22.6 22.8 23.2 23.9
Private/other 10.6 10.7 10.7 10.9 11.1 11.6 10.7 11.6 10.8 11.2
Quality Mix 34.6 35.3 34.2 35.7 33.8 34.9 33.3 34.4 34.0 35.1
Medicaid 65.4 64.7 65.8 64.3 66.2 65.1 66.7 65.6 66.0 64.9
    100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

AveRAge	OCCUpANCy	(%)  89.3 89.1 88.3 87.9 88.8 88.4 87.5 88.0 88.5 88.4
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EHSI’s total skilled nursing center ADC declined by 169 to 14,233 in 2009 from 14,402 in 2008, due to lower Medicare ADC of 210 and 
private ADC of 78, partially offset by higher Medicaid and Managed Care ADC. We believe the decline in Medicare census was due to 
residents deferring elective surgeries due to the economy. Our Managed Care ADC improved by 69 to 958 in 2009 from 889 in 2008. 
This continued improvement in our Managed Care residents was achieved as a result of our focus on the premium payor market 
segment and the number of Medicare beneficiaries opting out of traditional Medicare Part A benefits and selecting coverage through  
a Medicare replacement product.

The comparison of average occupancy levels in 2009 to 2008 was impacted by bed reductions in our operational capacity from  
the end of 2008, due to beds that have been pulled out of service in order to increase our Medicaid rate and to accommodate 
rehabilitation suites. 

The following table provides the ADC, percentage of total ADC, and average occupancy of EHSI’s skilled nursing centers on a same-
facility basis, for the past eight quarters and years ended 2009 and 2008.

	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 Total

(restated for discontinued operations) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

AveRAge	dAiLy	CeNSUS	
Medicare 2,478 2,733 2,367 2,637 2,257 2,425 2,184 2,369 2,321 2,540
Managed Care 934 835 938 913 939 903 954 870 941 881
Skilled Mix 3,412 3,568 3,305 3,550 3,196 3,328 3,138 3,239 3,262 3,421
Private/other 1,500 1,546 1,508 1,551 1,571 1,653 1,503 1,657 1,521 1,602
Quality Mix 4,912 5,114 4,813 5,101 4,767 4,981 4,641 4,896 4,783 5,023
Medicaid 9,370 9,370 9,305 9,212 9,394 9,375 9,407 9,388 9,369 9,336
Total  14,282 14,484 14,118 14,313 14,161 14,356 14,048 14,284 14,152 14,359

CeNSUS	By	pAyOR	Type (%) 
Medicare 17.4 18.9 16.8 18.4 16.0 16.9 15.5 16.6 16.4 17.7
Managed Care 6.5 5.7 6.6 6.4 6.6 6.3 6.8 6.1 6.7 6.1
Skilled Mix 23.9 24.6 23.4 24.8 22.6 23.2 22.3 22.7 23.1 23.8
Private/other 10.5 10.7 10.7 10.8 11.1 11.5 10.7 11.6 10.7 11.2
Quality Mix 34.4 35.3 34.1 35.6	 33.7 34.7 33.0 34.3 33.8 35.0
Medicaid 65.6 64.7 65.9 64.4 66.3 65.3 67.0 65.7 66.2 65.0
    100.0 100.0	 100.0	 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

AveRAge	OCCUpANCy	(%)  89.3 89.1 88.3 88.2 88.8 88.4 87.8 88.0 88.5 88.4

During 2008 we experienced a decline in our same-facility ADC from EHSI’s skilled nursing centers from 14,484 in the 2008 first quarter 
to 14,284 in the 2008 fourth quarter. We believe this decline resulted from the impact of the economy, a shift from Medicare to Managed 
Care residents who typically have a shorter length of stay, an increase in competition in certain markets, initial negative publicity arising 
from class action lawsuits and previously clinically-challenged centers. 

Our same-facility ADC levels during 2009 were below the comparable 2008 levels and for the year averaged 14,152, 207 ADC below  
the 2008 comparable level of 14,359. This was due to a decline in Medicare ADC of 219 and private/other ADC of 81, partially offset  
by increases in Managed Care and Medicaid ADC. We believe the decline in Medicare census was due to residents deferring elective 
surgeries. The increase in our Managed Care residents was achieved as a result of our focus on the premium payor market segment  
and the number of Medicare beneficiaries opting out of traditional Medicare Part A benefits and selecting coverage through a Medicare 
replacement product. As well, the shift from Medicare to Managed Care residents can result in a decline in overall ADC, as Managed 
Care residents typically have a shorter length of stay.
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Canadian Operations
The funding received by ECI for its nursing homes and home health care services is regulated by provincial authorities (rather than 
federal authorities), who often set the rates following consultation with the providers and their industry associations. This type of system 
reduces the potential for a single change or event to significantly affect the reimbursement or regulatory environment for ECI. 

The following are ECI’s average daily revenue rates and occupancy levels for the past eight quarters and years ended 2009 and 2008. 

	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 Total

    2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

AveRAge	ReveNUe	RATe ($) 168.14 159.59 172.59 163.91 174.01 164.21 178.19 173.91 173.27 165.51
AveRAge	OCCUpANCy	(%) 97.7 97.6 97.9 97.9 98.3 98.2 98.4 98.2 98.1 98.0

Revenue from provincial programs represented approximately 65% of ECI’s nursing home revenue in 2009. ECI’s average daily  
revenue rate was $173.27 in 2009 compared to $165.51 in 2008, representing an increase of 4.7%. The majority of ECI’s nursing  
home operations are in Ontario, which operates under an envelope system, under which a substantial portion of the revenue is tied  
to flow-through funding, and is therefore matched in the periods in which the related costs for resident care are incurred. As a result,  
ECI’s average revenue rates fluctuate by quarter, and are generally at their lowest level in the first quarter and their highest in the  
fourth quarter. In addition, in the 2009 third quarter, ECI received $1.0 million in retroactive funding adjustments in Ontario and  
Alberta pertaining to the 2009 second quarter, and in the 2008 fourth quarter ECI received an Alberta retroactive funding adjustment  
of $1.4 million pertaining to the 2008 second and third quarters. 

In Canada, where the supply of long-term care beds historically has been very restricted, nursing home operators typically enjoy higher 
occupancy levels than in the United States. Our average occupancy in Canada was 98.1% in 2009 compared to 98.0% in 2008. In terms 
of quarterly trends, slightly lower occupancy levels are to be expected during the winter months as a result of flu outbreaks leading to 
temporary freezes on admissions.

Revenue from provincial programs represents approximately 96% of ECI’s home health care revenue in 2009. During 2009, ParaMed 
provided 4,554,000 (2008 – 4,495,000) hours of service of home health care, of which 95.7% (2008 – 96.1%) was from business in 
Ontario and the rest in Alberta. Our home health care average daily hours of service increased by 1.6% to 12,476 in 2009 from 12,280  
in 2008. Since 2004, we have been unable to compete for new government contracts in Ontario due to the government’s freeze on  
the competitive bidding process. The competitive bidding process is expected to resume in 2010 and we would anticipate seeing  
the benefit from any new contracts in 2011. 

For more information on government funding in Canada, including recent developments and their impact or expected impact on 
Extendicare REIT, please see “Update of legislative Actions Affecting Revenue – Canada”. 
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Distributions
The current policy of each of the REIT and Extendicare lP is to pay distributions of $0.07 per REIT Unit and Exchangeable lP Unit, 
respectively, to the holders thereof on a monthly basis. The declaration and payment of future distributions is subject to the discretion  
of the Board of Trustees and will be dependent upon a number of factors including results of operations, requirements for capital 
expenditures and working capital, future financial prospects of the REIT, debt covenants and obligations, and any other factors deemed 
relevant by the Board of Trustees. If the Board of Trustees determines that it would be in the REIT’s best interests, it may reduce, for any 
period, the percentage of Distributable Income to be distributed to holders of REIT Units, which will result in corresponding reductions  
in distributions to holders of Exchangeable lP Units.

Distributions declared in 2009 totalled $61.3 million, or $0.84 per REIT Unit and per Exchangeable lP Unit (2008 – $80.6 million  
or $1.11 per unit). Based on total Adjusted Funds from Operations (AFFO) of $146.1 million, the payout ratio in 2009 was 42.0%  
(2008 – 102.3% on total AFFO of $78.8 million), and was 43.4% based on 2009 AFFO from continuing operations of $141.3 million. 

Approximately 70% of the distributions made by Extendicare REIT and Extendicare lP in each of 2007, 2008 and 2009 were tax-deferred 
returns of capital for Canadian residents. Management estimates that, of the monthly distributions to be made in 2010, approximately 
70% will also be tax-deferred returns of capital for Canadian residents. Such estimate is based on the current organizational structure  
of the REIT, certain financial information, the current provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”), published statements of 
the current administrative and assessing practices of the Canadian Revenue Agency, and the specific proposals to amend the Tax Act 
announced by the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof. The adjusted cost base of the REIT Units or Exchangeable lP 
Units will generally be reduced by such non-taxable portion of distributions made to the unitholder (other than the non-taxable portion  
of capital gains). A unitholder will generally realize a capital gain to the extent that the adjusted cost base of the units would otherwise  
be a negative amount. 

To the extent the remaining 30% of distributions of the REIT and Extendicare lP are taxed as dividends, those paid to Canadian residents 
are eligible dividends as per the Tax Act. Extendicare REIT is not required to, and does not, calculate its “earnings and profits” pursuant  
to the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, (the “Code”) and therefore no portion of its distributions represent 
qualified dividend income for U.S. tax purposes. 

The composition for tax purposes of distributions may change over time, thus affecting the after-tax return to such unitholders.

In 2008 there was a change impacting all of our unitholders related to the taxation of certain distributions made by us for U.S. tax 
purposes that commenced with our May 2008 distribution that was paid on June 16, 2008. This is relevant for (i) how certain income will 
be taxed for U.S. tax purposes to U.S. persons who hold REIT Units and/or Exchangeable lP Units (“U.S. Holders”) and (ii) U.S. withholding 
tax issues for non-U.S. persons who hold REIT Units and/or Exchangeable lP Units (“Non-U.S. Holders”). The change to the composition 
of distributions for tax purposes does not affect Canadian taxation of distributions paid by us, including our Canadian tax withholding 
obligations in respect of distributions to non-Canadian holders of our units.

This change to the composition of certain distributions paid by us for U.S. tax purposes arises from the financing structure we 
implemented in 2007. Interest payments to be made semi-annually in May and November by a U.S. subsidiary of Extendicare REIT will  
be treated as U.S. source interest income of the REIT and Extendicare lP. Therefore, a portion of distributions paid by us to unitholders 
for May and November of each year will be U.S. source income for U.S. tax purposes. The actual amount of U.S. source interest income 
pertaining to any distributions declared in May and November will be disclosed in the distribution press releases for such months and  
on our website at www.extendicare.com. This U.S. source interest income is subject to U.S. withholding tax for Non-U.S. Holders, and  
U.S. backup withholding tax for U.S. Holders, unless an exemption applies. Non-U.S. Holders may be eligible for the portfolio interest 
exemption under Sections 871 and 881 of the Code by submitting a valid Form W-8Ben to their broker or administrator. U.S. Holders  
may be eligible to claim an exemption from backup withholding tax by submitting a value Form W-9 to their broker or administrator. 

The portion of our May and November 2009 distributions of $0.07 per unit that represented U.S. source interest income in Canadian 
dollars was $0.02093 per unit and $0.01828 per unit, respectively. 
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z  imPact of u.s. dollar and foreign currency translation

Impact on Financial Statements
The majority of our operations are conducted in the United States, which accounted for 70.3% of revenue from continuing operations  
in 2009 (2008 – 69.5%). As a result, changes in the exchange rates used to translate the results of the U.S. operations to Canadian 
dollars can affect the comparison of the consolidated results. The table below illustrates the impact of changes in the average exchange 
rates used in translating the U.S. results for the 2009 fourth quarter and the 2009 year.

	 Q4	 year

	 	 	 	 2009	 2008	 2009	 2008

Average US/Canadian dollar exchange rate 1.0586 1.2078 1.1420 1.0660
impACT	ON	2009 (millions of dollars)
Revenue (49.4)	 	 101.4 
EBITDA (5.9)	 	 13.4 
Earnings from continuing operations (1.7)	 	 4.2 
Net earnings (1.3)	 	 4.3 
SAme-fACiLiTy	OpeRATiONS
Revenue (49.1)	 	 100.7 
EBITDA (5.9)	 	 13.4 

The following table illustrates the contribution from our U.S. operations to selected line items of our financial results for 2009, and  
the resulting impact of a one-cent change in the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar. However, a change in the exchange rate will 
have limited impact on the cash flow from our U.S. operations to fund distributions, because we have foreign currency forward contracts 
(FCFCs) in place until June 2011 (refer to discussion below under the heading “Impact of Foreign Currency Forward Contract Strategy 
on Distributions”). 

	 	 	 	 	 impact	of	One-Cent	Change
	 U.S.	Continuing	Operations		 2009	 in	exchange	Rate(1)

(millions of dollars)	 US$	 C$

Revenue 1,334.7 13.3
EBITDA 175.7 1.8
AFFO 108.3 1.1
(1) a weaker canadian dollar against the u.s. dollar increases rePorted Profits; while a stronger canadian dollar reduces rePorted Profits.

The valuation of our FCFCs are marked to market and reported on our balance sheet based upon the current value of the future stream 
of converted funds. A fluctuation in the Canadian to U.S. dollar exchange rates and valuation of the FCFCs can result in unrealized gains 
or losses that are reported within our statement of earnings as part of “loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments and foreign 
exchange”. Gains or losses on the FCFCs are not subject to cash taxes until realized. 

Impact of Foreign Currency Forward Contract Strategy on Distributions
The majority of our distributions are funded by our U.S. operations. To limit the exposure to converting our U.S. cash flow into Canadian 
dollars, we implemented a foreign currency hedging strategy to maintain FCFCs, provided the conditions are favourable at the time. 
EHSI has entered into FCFCs to acquire Canadian dollars for US$4.0 million on a monthly basis to June 2011. The first contract locked 
EHSI’s exchange rate to acquire Canadian dollars at 1.1141 for a 36-month period that commenced in December 2006 and ended in 
November 2009. A second FCFC covers the seven-month period from December 2009 to June 2010, and provides for the prevailing 
exchange rate at that time (locked in at a range between 1.00 and 1.1050). Further contracts cover the period from July 2010 to June 
2011, and provide for the prevailing exchange rate at that time (locked in at a range between 1.00 and 1.09). 

As of December 31, 2009, the fair value of the outstanding FCFCs was a liability of $0.3 million (US$0.3 million) compared to  
$13.9 million (US$11.4 million) at December 31, 2008. Management continues to monitor the U.S. to Canadian dollar exchange rate,  
with the aim of maintaining its foreign exchange hedging strategy. There can be no assurance that the FCFCs we have in place will  
be sufficient to protect us against currency exchange rate losses. 
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z  adjusted funds from oPerations 

2009 AFFO
Improvements in EBITDA in 2009 contributed to the improvements in AFFO from continuing operations, in addition to lower current 
income taxes, partially offset by higher financing costs, and fluctuations in facility maintenance capital expenditures between periods.

As discussed in more detail under the heading “Acceleration of Tax Depreciation and Other Current Tax Adjustments” located under  
the “2009 Financial Review – Income Taxes” section of this MD&A, the REITs results for the 2009 fourth quarter and 2009 year were 
impacted by changes that affected the split between current income taxes and future income taxes. While these items had little impact 
on the total tax provision and net earnings, the current income tax changes significantly impacted the REIT’s AFFO as follows:

• an acceleration of tax depreciation in 2009 resulted in a current income tax recovery of $24.9 million (US$21.8 million) representing 
a favourable impact on our 2009 fourth quarter and annual Funds from Operations (FFO), Distributable Income (DI) and AFFO 
calculations of $0.341 per basic unit, or $0.286 per diluted unit; and

• other unique current tax adjustments favourably impacted our 2009 fourth quarter and annual FFO, DI and AFFO calculations by 
$13.5 million (US$11.8 million), representing an increase of $0.184 per basic unit, or $0.155 per diluted unit.

We estimate that our normal annual effective current tax rate on our FFO before current income taxes would be in the range of  
29% to 33% depending on our estimates of timing differences and the mix of earnings between our U.S., Canadian and non-taxable 
captive entities. 

AFFO from continuing operations almost doubled to $141.3 million ($1.936 per basic unit) in 2009 from $72.4 million ($0.999 per basic 
unit) in 2008. The components of this improvement related to EBITDA of $63.9 million, lower current income taxes of $17.2 million 
despite the improvement in earnings, partially offset by higher financing costs of $4.5 million, and facility maintenance capital 
expenditures of $7.7 million. The weaker Canadian dollar had an $8.2 million ($0.113 per basic unit) positive impact on AFFO from 
continuing operations in 2009. 

Excluding the impact of the acceleration of tax depreciation of $24.9 million ($0.341 per basic unit), and other U.S. current  
tax adjustments of $13.5 million ($0.184 per basic unit), AFFO from continuing operations improved by $30.5 million, or  
$0.412 per basic unit, between periods. 

2009 Fourth Quarter AFFO 
AFFO from continuing operations improved by $38.5 million ($0.530 per basic unit) to $59.9 million ($0.820 per basic unit) in the 2009 
fourth quarter from $21.4 million ($0.290 per basic unit) in the 2008 fourth quarter, due to lower current income taxes of $41.1 million, 
primarily resulting from the acceleration of tax depreciation and other U.S. current tax adjustments, as discussed above, and lower 
financing costs of $2.5 million, partially offset by an increase in facility maintenance capital expenditures of $2.8 million and a decline  
in EBITDA of $2.2 million.

In comparison to the 2009 third quarter, AFFO from continuing operations improved by $29.9 million this quarter from $30.0 million 
($0.410 per basic unit), due to lower current income taxes of $45.2 million, primarily resulting from the acceleration of tax depreciation 
and other U.S. current tax adjustments, as discussed above, and lower financing costs of $0.1 million, partially offset by the decline  
in EBITDA of $11.3 million, and an increase in facility maintenance capital expenditures of $4.1 million. 

Facility Maintenance Capital Expenditures
Facility maintenance capital expenditures of $12.4 million in the 2009 fourth quarter were 2.4% of revenue, compared to $9.6 million,  
or 1.7% of revenue, in the 2008 fourth quarter. For 2009, facility maintenance capital expenditures were $36.0 million, or 1.7% of revenue, 
compared to $28.4 million, or 1.4% of revenue, in 2008. These costs fluctuate on a quarterly basis with the timing of projects and 
seasonality. Certain 2008 planned projects that commenced last year were carried over to 2009. It is our intention to expend between 
1.5% and 2.0% of revenue annually, which is consistent with our objective to maintain and upgrade our centers. We are expecting  
to spend approximately $35.0 million in facility maintenance capital expenditures and approximately $55.0 million in growth capital 
expenditures in 2010.
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Summary of AFFO
The following table provides a reconciliation of our EBITDA to FFO, DI and AFFO for the past eight quarters and years ended 2009 and 
2008.(1) Certain comparative figures have been reclassified for discontinued operations identified in 2009. 

 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 year

(millions of dollars unless 
otherwise noted) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

eBiTdA	fROm		
	 CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 63.6 44.9 72.0 44.6 70.7 50.7 59.4 61.6 265.7 201.8
Depreciation for FFEC (6.1) (4.2) (6.0) (4.6) (5.7) (4.8) (5.6) (5.8) (23.4) (19.4)
Interest expense, net (24.7) (19.9) (23.8) (19.8) (22.2) (21.7) (22.1) (24.9) (92.8) (86.3)
    32.8 20.8 42.2 20.2 42.8 24.2	 31.7 30.9 149.5 96.1
Current income tax expense(2)  (11.5) (5.2) (15.4) (4.6) (12.9) (6.1) 32.3 (8.8) (7.5) (24.7)
ffO	(continuing	operations) 21.3 15.6 26.8 15.6 29.9 18.1 64.0 22.1 142.0 71.4
Amortization of financing costs 2.5 1.6 2.9 1.6 2.1 2.1 2.1 2.5 9.6 7.8
Principal portion  
 of government 
 capital funding payments 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.5 2.3 2.1
di	(continuing	operations) 24.4 17.7 30.2 17.8 32.6 20.7 66.7 25.1 153.9 81.3
Additional facility maintenance 
 capital expenditures(3) (1.2) (0.4) (2.0) (3.1) (2.6) (1.7) (6.8) (3.7) (12.6) (8.9)
AffO	(continuing	operations) 23.2 17.3 28.2 14.7 30.0 19.0 59.9 21.4 141.3 72.4
AFFO (discontinued operations)(4) 1.2 1.1 1.2 2.0 0.7 1.0 1.7 2.3 4.8 6.4
AffO(5) 24.4 18.4 29.4 16.7 30.7 20.0 61.6 23.7 146.1 78.8

peR	BASiC	UNiT ($)
FFO (continuing operations) 0.293 0.221 0.367 0.219 0.409 0.245 0.876 0.300 1.945 0.985
AFFO (continuing operations) 0.318 0.246 0.388 0.206 0.410 0.257 0.820 0.290 1.936 0.999
AFFO 0.334 0.262 0.404 0.235 0.420 0.270 0.844 0.320 2.002 1.087
peR	diLUTed	UNiT ($)
FFO (continuing operations) 0.278 0.221 0.340 0.219 0.376 0.243 0.768 0.282 1.762 0.965
AFFO (continuing operations) 0.290 0.240 0.349 0.203 0.368 0.241 0.713 0.264 1.720 0.948
AFFO 0.304 0.255 0.362 0.229 0.377 0.251 0.732 0.291 1.775 1.026
diSTRiBUTiONS	
Declared (thousands) 15,285 19,558 15,317 19,902 15,342 20,582 15,360 20,533 61,304 80,575
Declared per unit ($) 0.2100 0.2775 0.2100 0.2775 0.2100 0.2775 0.2100 0.2775 0.8400 1.1100
weigHTed	AveRAge		
	 NUmBeR	Of	UNiTS  
 (thousands)
Basic 72,911 70,471 72,914 71,109 73,039 74,156 73,132 74,068 73,000 72,460
Diluted(6) 86,736 76,250 86,727 77,869 86,852 88,041 86,945 87,953	 86,817 82,558
(1)  “eBitda”, “ffo”, “di” and “affo” are not recognized measures under gaaP and do not have a standardized meaning PrescriBed By gaaP. refer to the 

discussion of non-gaaP measures.
(2)  excludes current tax with resPect to the gains or losses from derivative financial instruments, foreign exchange, asset imPairment, disPosals  

and other items that are excluded from the comPutation of affo.
(3)  rePresents total facility maintenance caPital exPenditures less dePreciation for furniture, fixtures, equiPment and comPuters, or ffec, already 

deducted in determining di.
(4)  the imPact of discontinued oPerations affects ffo, di and affo By the same amount.
(5)  a reconciliation of affo to cash flow from oPerating activities is Provided under the heading “liquidity and caPital resources”.
(6)  diluted weighted average numBer of units for 2008 assumes conversion of deBentures from the date of issuance in june 2008.
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z  summary of quarterly results 

The following is a summary of selected consolidated financial information derived from unaudited interim period consolidated financial 
statements for each of the eight most recently completed quarters. Certain comparative figures have been reclassified for discontinued 
operations identified in 2009. 

	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4

(thousands of dollars unless 
otherwise noted) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

ReveNUe 566,935 463,752 547,982 474,762 529,808 488,068 522,471 559,718
eBiTdA(1) 63,558 44,868 71,996 44,639 70,734 50,718 59,382 61,602
eBiTdA	mARgiN 11.2% 9.7% 13.1% 9.4% 13.4% 10.4% 11.4% 11.0%
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS		
	 BefORe	UNdeRNOTed(1) 8,892 6,449 18,230 7,244 17,929 8,147 14,114 7,505
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments  
 and foreign exchange, net of taxes (5,245) (3,529) 11,688 1,927 10,836 (3,197) 3,463 (17,568)
Gain (loss) from asset impairment, disposals  
 and other items, net of taxes 171 – (380) – 8 (1,491) 453 937
eARNiNgS	(LOSS)	fROm		
	 CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 3,818 2,920 29,538 9,171 28,773 3,459 18,030 (9,126)
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes (161) 658 706 1,506 (694) 144 (2,302) 4,656
NeT	eARNiNgS	(LOSS) 3,657 3,578 30,244 10,677 28,079 3,603 15,728 (4,470)

COmpONeNTS	Of	diLUTed	eARNiNgS		
	 (LOSS)	peR	UNiT ($)      
Continuing operations before undernoted 0.12 0.09 0.25 0.10 0.24 0.12 0.20 0.10
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments  
 and foreign exchange (0.07) (0.05) 0.15 0.03 0.12 (0.05) 0.04 (0.24)
Gain (loss) from asset impairment,  
 disposals and other items – – – – – (0.02) – 0.01
eARNiNgS	(LOSS)	fROm		
	 CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 0.05 0.04 0.40 0.13 0.36 0.05 0.24 (0.13)
Discontinued operations −– 0.01 0.01 0.02 (0.01) −– (0.03) 0.06
NeT	eARNiNgS	(LOSS) 0.05 0.05 0.41 0.15 0.35 0.05 0.21 (0.07)

Average US/Canadian dollar exchange rate(2) 1.2456 1.0042 1.1672 1.0102 1.0991 1.0406 1.0586 1.2078
(1) refer to discussion of non-gaaP measures.
(2)  these are the actual Bank of canada average rates of exchange for the Period. the year-to-date revenue and exPenses of self-sustaining foreign 

oPerations are translated at the average year-to-date rates of exchange, and the results of the quarters are calculated By deducting the 
Previously rePorted year-to-date results from the current year-to-date results. in addition, sPecific transactions such as gains or losses 
related to asset imPairment, disPosals and other items, are translated at rates of exchange in effect at the time of the transactions. therefore, 
the effective exchange rates calculated from the translated amounts rePorted aBove, may differ from the actual average rates of exchange 
indicated for the Period.
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The following is a reconciliation of earnings (loss) from continuing health care operations before income taxes to EBITDA for each  
of the eight most recently completed quarters. Certain comparative figures have been reclassified for discontinued operations 
identified in 2009.

	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4

(thousands of dollars) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS		
	 BefORe	iNCOme	TAxeS 16,374 7,127 43,290 12,720 42,359 8,952 23,739 800
Add	(dedUCT):        
Depreciation and amortization 17,359 13,271 16,350 13,814 16,179 14,369 16,144 16,836
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 437 352 416 354 331 362 385 402
Interest expense, net 24,695 19,906 23,770 19,796 22,246 21,674 22,104 24,893
loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments  
 and foreign exchange 4,950 4,212 (12,424) (2,045) (10,373) 3,046 (2,442) 20,131
loss (gain) from asset impairment, disposals  
 and other items (257) – 594 – (8) 2,315 (548) (1,460)
eBiTdA 63,558 44,868 71,996 44,639 70,734 50,718 59,382 61,602

SegmeNTed	eBiTdA        
U.S. operations (US$) 40,885 35,273 48,213 31,642 46,519 33,628 40,087 37,693
U.S. operations (C$) 50,926 35,419 56,545 31,978 51,215 34,996 41,966 44,969
Canadian operations  12,632 9,449 15,451 12,661 19,519 15,722 17,416 16,633
eBiTdA 63,558 44,868 71,996 44,639 70,734 50,718 59,382 61,602

There are a number of factors affecting the trend of our quarterly results. For seasonal trends, while year-over-year quarterly comparisons 
will remain appropriate, sequential quarters will vary materially. We already report as separate line items the “loss (gain) on derivative 
financial instruments and foreign exchange” and “loss (gain) from asset impairment, disposals and other items”, which are transitional  
in nature and would otherwise distort historical trends. With respect to our core operations, the significant factors that impact the results 
from period to period are as follows: 

• collectively, Medicare and Managed Care admissions are usually the highest in the first and second quarters; begin to decline during 
the latter portion of the second quarter; and are generally at their lowest in the summer months as there tends to be fewer elective 
surgeries performed;

• Medicaid rate changes, including adjustments for the case mix index and provider taxes, occur with each state’s fiscal year, which  
is July 1st for the majority of the states in which EHSI operates;

• Medicare rate changes generally occur October 1st (federal fiscal year), and typically include a market basket inflationary increase;

• Ontario long-term care providers receive annual acuity-based flow-through funding adjustments effective April 1st and accommodation 
funding increases July 1st, and Alberta long-term care providers receive annual inflationary rate increases on April 1st;

• utility costs are generally at their highest in the first quarter and their lowest in the third quarter, with variances between the two  
of as much as $3.5 million; and 

• foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations in the U.S. dollar and impact on translation of our U.S. operations. 

Further details on the above can be found under the sections “Key Performance Indicators”, “Impact of U.S. Dollar and Foreign Currency 
Translation”, “Significant Developments” and “Update of legislative Actions Affecting Revenue”.

A discussion of the 2009 fourth quarter compared to the 2008 fourth quarter is provided under the section “Summary of Quarterly 
Results – 2009 Fourth Quarter Financial Review”. For a complete discussion and analysis of the first, second and third quarter periods 
indicated above, refer to the REIT’s interim MD&As issued in 2009. 
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2009 Fourth Quarter Financial Review 

    Q4 Q4

(thousands of dollars unless otherwise noted)	 2009	 2008	 Change

eARNiNgS	(LOSS)	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS
U.S. operations (US$) 11,866 (9,407) 21,273
U.S. operations (C$) 12,491 (10,798) 23,289
Canadian operations 5,539 1,672 3,867
eARNiNgS	(LOSS)	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 18,030 (9,126) 27,156
Discontinued operations (2,302) 4,656 (6,958)
NeT	eARNiNgS	(LOSS) 15,728 (4,470) 20,198

diLUTed	eARNiNgS	peR	UNiT ($)   
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 0.24 (0.13) 0.37
Net earnings (loss) 0.21 (0.07) 0.28
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS		
	 BefORe	UNdeRNOTed	SepARATeLy	RepORTed	iTemS   
U.S. operations (US$) 10,125 3,663 6,462
U.S. operations (C$) 10,647 4,663 5,984
Canadian operations 3,467 2,842 625
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS		
	 BefORe	UNdeRNOTed	SepARATeLy	RepORTed	iTemS 14,114 7,505 6,609
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments and foreign exchange, net of taxes 3,463 (17,568) 21,031
Gain (loss) from asset impairment, disposals and other items, net of taxes 453 937 (484)
eARNiNgS	(LOSS)	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 18,030 (9,126) 27,156

Average US/Canadian dollar exchange rate 1.0586 1.2078 

The average exchange rates used to translate the results of the U.S. operations to Canadian dollars were 1.0586 for the 2009 fourth 
quarter and 1.2078 for the 2008 fourth quarter. However, separately reported items such as gains or losses related to derivative financial 
instruments, foreign exchange, asset impairment, disposals and other items, are translated at the rates of exchange in effect at the time 
of the transactions. 

consolidated continuing oPerations comPared to the 2008 fourth quarter 

    Q4 Q4	 Change	 Change

(millions of dollars unless otherwise noted)	 2009	 2008	 ($)	 (%)

ReveNUe 522.5 559.7 (37.2) (6.6)%
Operating expenses 443.2 475.6 (32.4) (6.8)%
Administrative costs 17.0 19.3 (2.3) (11.9)%
lease costs 2.9 3.2 (0.3) (9.4)%
eBiTdA 59.4 61.6 (2.2) (3.6)%

EBITDA as a % of revenue 11.4% 11.0%  

Revenue from continuing operations declined by $37.2 million to $522.5 million in the 2009 fourth quarter from $559.7 million in the 
2008 fourth quarter. The contribution to revenue from new centers acquired or built since January 2008 was $8.5 million this quarter 
and $6.4 million in the 2008 fourth quarter, for an increase of $2.1 million between quarters. These new centers related to: three skilled 
nursing centers that opened in January 2008, July 2009 and October 2009; an assisted living center that opened in October 2009; and 
the acquisition of three Manitoba nursing centers in October 2008 that we had previously operated under management contracts. 
Excluding the negative impact of $49.1 million from the stronger Canadian dollar, revenue from same-facility operations improved 
between periods by $9.8 million, or 1.8%, as a result of funding improvements, partially offset by lower U.S. census levels.

EBITDA from continuing operations declined by $2.2 million to $59.4 million in the 2009 fourth quarter from $61.6 million in the same 
2008 period. However, as a percent of revenue our EBITDA margin improved to 11.4% from 11.0%. New centers contributed EBITDA  
of $0.7 million this quarter compared to $1.0 million in the 2008 fourth quarter. Excluding the negative impact of $5.9 million from the 
stronger Canadian dollar, EBITDA from same-facility operations improved by $4.0 million, reflecting the $9.8 million improvement  
in revenue and a $5.8 million increase in operating, administrative and lease costs. The Canadian operations contributed $0.6 million 
and the U.S. operations contributed $3.4 million to the $4.0 million growth in same-facility EBITDA, which are discussed further below. 
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labour-related costs from continuing operations represented 74.1% of operating and administrative costs in the 2009 fourth quarter 
compared to 72.3% in the same 2008 period, and as a percent of revenue, were 65.2% and 64.0%, respectively.

u.s. oPerations comPared to the 2008 fourth quarter 

 Q4	 Q4	 Change
	 2009	 2008	 ($)	 (%)

(millions of dollars unless otherwise noted) 	 US$	 C$	 US$	 C$	 US$	 US$

ReveNUe 335.6 355.2 329.5 397.2 6.1 1.9%
Operating expenses 282.1 299.1 279.3 337.1 2.8 1.0%
Administrative costs 11.6 12.2 10.7  13.0 0.9 8.4%
lease costs 1.8 1.9 1.8 2.1 – –
eBiTdA 40.1 42.0 37.7 45.0 2.4 6.4%

EBITDA as a % of revenue 11.9%  11.4%   

Revenue from U.S. operations grew by US$6.1 million, or 1.9%, in its functional currency to US$335.6 million in the 2009 fourth  
quarter from US$329.5 million in the 2008 fourth quarter, of which US$1.6 million was from new centers. Revenue from same-facility 
operations increased by US$4.5 million, or 1.4%, between periods. Improvements resulted primarily from increases in average nursing 
center rates contributing additional revenue of US$11.0 million in the 2009 fourth quarter and higher nursing center ancillary revenue  
of US$1.0 million. Higher rates reflected both inflationary increases, as well as higher average acuity levels of residents served.  
The favourable impact of higher average rates was only partially offset by lower census levels, which reduced revenue by US$8.8 million 
between periods. Other revenue increases of US$1.3 million resulted primarily from our health technology services and investment 
income. More information on revenue rates and census is provided under the heading “Key Performance Indicators – U.S. Operations”.

The following table provides further details on the change in revenue this quarter in comparison to the 2008 fourth quarter from 
same-facility U.S. operations.

(US$ millions)

 11.0 –  increase in average skilled nursing center rates (Medicare $3.1 million, Medicaid $4.2 million, and private/other $3.7 million)
 (8.8) –  decrease in skilled nursing center resident census (Medicare $7.5 million and private/other $1.6 million, partially offset by  

Medicaid $0.3 million
 1.0 – increase in nursing center ancillary revenue 
 1.3 – other
 4.5  

The operating, administrative and lease costs of our U.S. operations increased by US$3.7 million to US$295.5 million this quarter from 
US$291.8 million in the 2008 fourth quarter. labour-related costs represented 70.1% of operating and administrative costs this quarter, 
compared to 69.1% in the 2008 fourth quarter, and as a percent of revenue were 61.4% and 60.9%, respectively. The Holland, Michigan 
skilled nursing center that opened in 2008, the Okemos, Michigan skilled nursing center that opened in August 2009, and the start-up  
of two centers in Summit, Wisconsin that were completed in October, increased operating, administrative and lease costs by 
US$2.0 million.
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U.S. operations same-facility operating, administrative and lease costs increased by US$1.7 million this quarter in comparison to the 
2008 fourth quarter. Operating costs were negatively impacted by higher state provider taxes, labour costs and food and supplies, 
partially offset by lower workers’ compensation and health benefit costs, and a decline in bad debt provisions due to improved 
collections. The significant variances are summarized in the table below.

(US$ millions)

 2.3 – increase in state provider taxes
 1.5 –  increase in labour-related costs (excluding workers’ compensation and health benefits) of 0.8%, which included an average wage 

rate increase of 2.2% in skilled nursing center operations 
 1.4 – increase in food and supplies
 (2.1) – decrease in provision for bad debts
 (1.6) – decrease in health benefits and workers’ compensation
 0.2 – other costs
 1.7  

EBITDA from U.S. operations improved by US$2.4 million, or 6.4%, to US$40.1 million in the 2009 fourth quarter from US$37.7 million  
in the 2008 fourth quarter, and as a percent of revenue grew to 11.9% from 11.4%. EBITDA from same-facility operations improved by 
US$2.8 million to US$40.2 million this quarter compared to US$37.3 million in the 2008 fourth quarter. This improvement was due 
primarily to improved RUGs mix, Managed Care and Medicaid revenue rates, improved collection of accounts receivable that reduced 
bad debt provisions, and cost controls, partially offset by lower total and Skilled Mix census. 

canadian oPerations comPared to the 2008 fourth quarter 

    Q4 Q4	 Change	 Change

(millions of dollars unless otherwise noted)	 2009	 2008	 ($)	 (%)

ReveNUe 167.3 162.5 4.8 3.0%
Operating expenses 144.2 138.4 5.8 4.2%
Administrative costs 4.7 6.4 (1.7) (26.6)%
lease costs 1.0 1.1 (0.1) (9.1)%
eBiTdA 17.4 16.6 0.8 4.8%

EBITDA as a % of revenue 10.4% 10.2%  

Revenue from Canadian operations grew by $4.8 million, or 3.0%, to $167.3 million in the 2009 fourth quarter from $162.5 million 
in the 2008 fourth quarter. Of this improvement, $3.1 million was derived from nursing home operations, which included a $0.5 million 
contribution from the three Manitoba nursing centers acquired in October 2008, net of retroactive revenue of $1.4 million recognized  
in the 2008 fourth quarter. The remaining improvement in nursing home revenue of $4.0 million was due to funding increases to 
enhance resident care and services, and timing of revenue recognition to match spending under the Ontario nursing home flow-through 
envelopes. Revenue from home health care operations improved by $1.8 million this quarter due to increased rates and a 2.8% increase 
in average daily hours of service. Other revenue declined by $0.1 million. 

Operating, administrative and lease costs increased by $4.0 million, or 2.7%, to $149.9 million this quarter from $145.9 million in the 
2008 fourth quarter. labour-related costs increased by $6.6 million between periods, and included an increase of $1.0 million due to 
home health care elect-to-work pay. labour-related costs represented 82.5% of operating and administrative costs in the 2009 fourth 
quarter compared to 80.2% in the 2008 fourth quarter, and as a percent of revenue were 73.4% and 71.5%, respectively. Administrative 
costs were lower by $1.7 million this quarter primarily due to costs controls in 2009.

EBITDA from Canadian operations improved by $0.8 million to $17.4 million this quarter from $16.6 million in the 2008 fourth  
quarter, and as a percent of revenue was 10.4% and 10.2%, respectively. Excluding the $0.2 million impact of acquisitions and Alberta 
retroactive funding received in the 2008 fourth quarter of $1.4 million, EBITDA from same-facility operations improved by $2.0 million. 
This improvement was primarily due to lower general and administrative costs of $1.7 million, largely related to cost controls, and funding 
enhancements net of increased field staff labour costs.
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z  summary of annual results 

The following is a summary of selected financial information. A discussion of the 2009 results in comparison with the 2008 results  
is provided under the headings “2009 Financial Review” and “liquidity and Capital Resources”.

    2009 2008 2007

(thousands of dollars unless otherwise noted) Years ended December 31

ReveNUe 2,167,196 1,986,300 1,725,616
Operating expenses 1,816,607 1,701,708 1,450,299
Administrative costs 72,818 71,441 61,882
lease costs 12,101 11,324 10,361
eBiTdA 265,670 201,827 203,074
Depreciation and amortization 66,032 58,290 47,514
Accretion expense 1,569 1,470 1,269
Interest expense, net 92,815 86,269 68,670
loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments and foreign exchange (20,289) 25,344 (18,018)
loss (gain) from asset impairment, disposals and other items (219) 855 (2,192)
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	HeALTH	CARe	OpeRATiONS	BefORe	iNCOme	TAxeS 125,762 29,599 105,831
Income tax expense 45,603 23,175 33,792
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	HeALTH	CARe	OpeRATiONS 80,159 6,424 72,039
Share of equity accounted earnings – – 1,541
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 80,159 6,424 73,580
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes (2,451) 6,964 (3,199)
NeT	eARNiNgS	 77,708 13,388 70,381

eARNiNgS	peR	UNiT ($)   
Basic   
 Earnings from continuing operations 1.09 0.09 1.04
 Net earnings  1.06 0.18 1.00
Diluted   
 Earnings from continuing operations 1.05 0.09 1.04
 Net earnings  1.02 0.18 1.00
CASH	diSTRiBUTiONS	peR	UNiT ($) 0.8400 1.1100 1.1100
TOTAL	ASSeTS (at year end) 1,668,065 1,806,922 1,440,163
LONg-TeRm	deBT (at year end) 1,205,494 1,290,596 996,470
US/CANAdiAN	dOLLAR	exCHANge	RATe  
 Average rate for the year 1.1420 1.0660 1.0748
 Closing rate at year end 1.0510 1.2180 0.9913
note: certain comParative figures have Been reclassified to conform to the Presentation in 2009, mainly for discontinued oPerations.
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z  2009 financial review 

The following is a summary by reporting segment of EBITDA, earnings (loss) from continuing operations, and the after-tax amounts  
for earnings from continuing operations excluding and including the separately reported gains and losses on derivative financial 
instruments, foreign exchange, asset impairment, disposals and other items. 

 2009 2008

(millions of dollars unless otherwise noted)	 U.S.	 U.S.	 Canada	 Total	 U.S.	 U.S.	 Canada	 Total	

    (US$)    (US$)
ReveNUe 1,334.7 1,524.3	 642.9	 2,167.2 1,295.1 1,380.6 605.7 1,986.3 
Operating expenses 1,105.8 1,262.8	 553.8	 1,816.6	 1,106.6 1,179.7 522.1 1,701.8 
Administrative costs 46.2 52.8	 20.0	 72.8 43.4 46.2 25.2 71.4 
lease costs 7.0 8.0	 4.1	 12.1 6.9 7.3 4.0 11.3 
    1,159.0 1,323.6	 577.9	 1,901.5 1,156.9 1,233.2 551.3 1,784.5 
eBiTdA 175.7 200.7	 65.0	 265.7 138.2 147.4 54.4 201.8 
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 47.2 53.9	 13.7	 67.6 45.3 48.3 11.4 59.7 
Interest expense, net 50.1 57.2	 35.6	 92.8 53.2 56.8 29.5 86.3 
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS		
	 BefORe	iNCOme	TAxeS	ANd	UNdeRNOTed		
	 SepARATeLy	RepORTed	iTemS 78.4 89.6	 15.7	 105.3 39.7 42.3 13.5 55.8 
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments  
 and foreign exchange 12.1 14.0	 6.2	 20.2 (22.5) (25.4) 0.1 (25.3) 
Gain (loss) from asset impairment, disposals  
 and other items (0.5) (0.6)	 0.8	 0.2 (2.3) (2.5) 1.6 (0.9) 
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS		
	 BefORe	iNCOme	TAxeS 90.0 103.0	 22.7	 125.7 14.9 14.4 15.2 29.6 
Income tax expense 35.2 40.4	 5.2	 45.6 16.6 17.5 5.7 23.2 
eARNiNgS	(LOSS)	fROm		
	 CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 54.8 62.6	 17.5	 80.1 (1.7) (3.1) 9.5 6.4 
Discontinued operations (2.4) (2.4)	 –−	 (2.4) 6.1 7.0 −– 7.0 
NeT	eARNiNgS 52.4 60.2	 17.5	 77.7 4.4 3.9 9.5 13.4 

eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS		
	 BefORe	UNdeRNOTed	SepARATeLy		
	 RepORTed	iTemS 42.5 48.5	 10.6	 59.1 19.6 20.9 8.4 29.3 
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments  
 and foreign exchange, net of taxes 12.7 14.5	 6.2	 20.7 (19.9) (22.5) 0.1 (22.4) 
Gain (loss) from asset impairment, disposals  
 and other items, net of taxes (0.4) (0.4)	 0.7	 0.3 (1.4) (1.5) 1.0 (0.5) 
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 54.8 62.6	 17.5	 80.1 (1.7) (3.1) 9.5 6.4 

COmpONeNTS	Of	diLUTed	eARNiNgS		
	 (LOSS)	peR	UNiT ($)   
Continuing operations before undernoted    0.81    0.41
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments  
 and foreign exchange    0.24    (0.31)
Gain (loss) from asset impairment,  
 disposals and other items   	 –    (0.01)
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS	 	 	  1.05    0.09
Discontinued operations    (0.03)    0.09 
NeT	eARNiNgS    1.02    0.18 

Average US/Canadian dollar exchange rate    1.1420    1.0660 

The average exchange rates used to translate the results of the U.S. operations to Canadian dollars were 1.1420 for 2009 and 1.0660  
for 2008. However, separately reported items such as gains or losses related to derivative financial instruments, foreign exchange, asset 
impairment, disposals, and other items, are translated at the rates of exchange in effect at the time of the transactions. 
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Highlights 

• Revenue of $2,167.2 million in 2009, an increase of 9.1% (4.0% exclusive of the impact of foreign exchange) compared  
to $1,986.3 million in 2008, due primarily to funding improvements. 

• EBITDA of $265.7 million in 2009, an increase of 31.7% (25.0% exclusive of the impact of foreign exchange) compared  
to $201.8 million in 2008, mainly due to growth from same-facility operations in both the U.S. and Canada.

• EBITDA margins improved to 12.3% in 2009 from 10.2% in 2008.

• Cash on hand totalled $134.0 million at year-end 2009 with no significant debt maturities until 2011 and beyond.

The solid financial and operating results achieved by Extendicare REIT in 2009 exceeded our expectations for the year and reflect the 
successful execution of our operating plan. Through a combination of disciplined cost controls, increased per diem rates and enhanced 
operating efficiencies across the organization, we have strengthened our financial position despite the economy’s impact on our Skilled 
Mix and total occupancy in the U.S. With the completion of our recent bought deal equity offering, we have added flexibility to our 
balance sheet as we undertake the refinancing of our debt and fund the redevelopment of our existing properties. We intend to exercise 
continued prudence in the management of our cash balances as we pursue our objective of deleveraging the REIT’s balance sheet.

Consolidated Continuing Operations 
Revenue from continuing operations improved by $180.9 million, or 9.1%, to $2,167.2 million in 2009 from $1,986.3 million in 2008. 
However, exclusive of the positive impact of the weaker Canadian dollar, revenue grew by $79.5 million, or 4.0%. The contribution to 
revenue from new centers acquired or built since January 2008 was $29.4 million in 2009 and $9.5 million in 2008, for an increase of 
$19.9 million between periods. These new centers related to: two skilled nursing centers that opened in January 2008 and July 2009; a 
skilled nursing center and an assisted living center that opened in October 2009, and the acquisition of three Manitoba nursing centers 
in October 2008 that we had previously operated under management contracts. Exclusive of this positive impact of $100.7 million from 
the weaker Canadian dollar, revenue from same-facility operations improved between periods by $60.3 million, or 3.1%, due to funding 
improvements, partially offset by lower U.S. census levels. 

EBITDA from continuing operations improved by $63.9 million, or 31.7%, to $265.7 million in 2009 from $201.8 million in 2008, and as  
a percent of revenue improved to 12.3% from 10.2%. New centers contributed EBITDA of $3.4 million in 2009 compared to $1.2 million  
in 2008, for a net improvement of $2.2 million. EBITDA from same-facility operations improved by $61.7 million to $262.3 million in 2009 
from $200.6 million in 2008. Exclusive of the positive impact of the weaker Canadian dollar of $13.4 million, EBITDA from same-facility 
operations improved by $48.3 million, or 24.1%, reflecting the $60.3 million improvement in revenue, partially offset by a $12.0 million 
increase in operating, administrative and lease costs. The Canadian operations contributed $8.7 million and the U.S. operations 
contributed $39.6 million to the $48.3 million growth in same-facility EBITDA, which are discussed further below. 

labour-related costs from continuing operations represented 74.2% of operating and administrative costs in 2009 compared to 73.7%  
in 2008, and as a percent of revenue, were 64.7% and 65.8%, respectively. 

U.S. Operations 
Revenue from U.S. operations grew by 3.1% in its functional currency to US$1,334.7 million in 2009 compared to US$1,295.1 million  
in 2008, representing an increase of US$39.6 million, of which US$5.1 million was from new centers. Revenue from same-facility 
operations increased by US$34.5 million, or 2.7%, between periods. Improvements resulted primarily from increases in average nursing 
center rates contributing additional revenue of US$62.8 million and higher nursing center ancillary revenue of US$4.4 million. Higher 
rates reflected both inflationary increases, as well as higher average acuity levels. The favourable impact of higher average rates was 
only partially offset by lower census levels, which reduced revenue by US$33.8 million between periods. In addition, our nursing center 
operations benefitted from prior period revenue settlement adjustments in 2009 as compared to 2008 of US$1.5 million. More 
information on revenue rates and census is provided under the heading “Key Performance Indicators – U.S. Operations”.
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The following table provides further details on the change in revenue for 2009 in comparison to 2008 from same-facility U.S. operations.

(US$ millions)

 62.8 – increase in average skilled nursing center rates (Medicare $26.2 million, Medicaid $20.7 million, and private/other $15.9 million)
 (33.8) –  decrease in skilled nursing center resident census (Medicare $33.9 million and private/other $1.9 million, partially offset by Medicaid 

$2.0 million)
 4.4 – increase in nursing center ancillary revenue
 3.1 – increase in health technology services primarily due to new contracts
 1.5 – increase in prior period revenue settlement adjustments, with $1.6 million in 2009 versus $0.1 million in 2008
 (3.1) – decrease due to one less day between periods
 (0.4) – other
 34.5  

Operating, administrative and lease costs increased by US$2.1 million to US$1,159.0 million in 2009 from US$1,156.9 million in 2008. 
labour-related costs represented 70.2% of operating and administrative costs in 2009, compared to 70.0% in 2008, and as a percent  
of revenue were 60.6% and 62.2%, respectively. New centers increased operating, administrative and lease costs by US$4.8 million.

U.S. operations same-facility operating, administrative and lease costs decreased by US$2.7 million in 2009 in comparison to 2008. 
Despite an increase in labour costs due to wage rates, operating costs were favourably impacted in 2009 by a decline in bad debt 
provisions, lower workers’ compensation costs, a reduction in the use of temporary staffing, and one less day between periods.  
The significant variances are summarized in the table below.

(US$ millions)

 (8.1) – decrease in provision for bad debts
 (3.5) – decrease in workers’ compensation costs and health benefits
 (3.0) – decrease in utilities, telephone and travel costs
 (1.6) – decrease in advertising
 (1.1) – decrease in drug costs
 3.7 –  rise in labour-related costs (excluding workers’ compensation and health benefits) of 0.5%, which included an average wage rate 

increase of 1.4% in skilled nursing center operations, partially offset by one less day in the period 
 3.0 – Q3/08 insurance premium expense reduction on exercise of reinsurance policy commutation option
 2.4 – increase in state provider taxes
 1.6 – increase in reserve for self-insured general and professional liabilities
 0.7 – increase in medical equipment costs
 3.2 – other costs, primarily health technology services due to new contracts
 (2.7)  

EBITDA from U.S. operations increased by US$37.5 million, or 27.1%, to US$175.7 million in 2009 from US$138.2 million in 2008, and  
as a percent of revenue was 13.2% compared to 10.7%. New centers contributed US$0.3 million to the improvement. EBITDA from 
same-facility operations was US$175.4 million in 2009 compared to US$138.2 million in 2008. The improvement in same-facility EBITDA 
of US$37.2 million, or 26.9%, was due primarily to funding increases, improved performance of previously challenged skilled nursing 
centers, reduced bad debt provisions and workers’ compensation costs, and other cost controls, partially offset by lower census. 

Canadian Operations 
Revenue from Canadian operations grew by $37.2 million, or 6.1%, to $642.9 million in 2009 from $605.7 million in 2008. Of this 
improvement, $33.0 million was derived from nursing home operations, and included a $13.7 million contribution from acquisitions,  
with the remainder representing funding to enhance resident care and services. Revenue from home health care operations improved 
by $6.2 million due primarily to improved volumes and rates. Other revenue declined by $2.0 million primarily due to a reclassification  
of purchasing rebates to nursing home operating costs, and lower investment income.
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Operating, administrative and lease costs increased by $26.6 million, or 4.8%, to $577.9 million in 2009 from $551.3 million in  
2008. labour-related costs increased by $28.7 million between periods and represented 83.2% of operating and administrative  
costs in 2009 compared to 82.0% in 2008, and as a percent of revenue were 74.3% and 74.1%, respectively. Administrative costs  
were lower by $5.2 million this year primarily due to cost controls in 2009 and a non-recurring executive compensation charge  
of $2.4 million in 2008.

EBITDA from Canadian operations improved by $10.6 million to $65.0 million in 2009 from $54.4 million in 2008, of which $2.4 million 
related to a non-recurring executive compensation charge recorded in 2008, and $1.9 million was from acquisitions. The remaining  
$6.3 million was primarily due to funding enhancements net of increased field staff labour costs (including elect-to-work pay of  
$2.5 million), lower utility costs, as well as lower general and administrative costs of $2.8 million, largely related to cost controls. 

Depreciation, Amortization and Accretion 
Depreciation, amortization and accretion costs were higher by $7.9 million in 2009 compared to 2008. Excluding a $3.6 million 
unfavourable impact from the weaker Canadian dollar, these costs rose by $4.3 million, primarily due to completed construction projects 
and capital maintenance expenditures. 

Interest 
Interest expense, net of interest income, increased by $6.5 million to $92.8 million in 2009 from $86.3 million in 2008. Excluding  
an unfavourable impact of $3.9 million from the weaker Canadian dollar, net interest costs increased by $2.6 million between periods 
primarily due to the issuance of $92.0 million of convertible debentures in June 2008, and the assumption of debt related to acquisitions.

Loss (Gain) on Derivative Financial Instruments and Foreign Exchange 
The REIT reported a pre-tax gain of $20.3 million in 2009, which was comprised of a gain of $12.8 million related to the valuation  
of derivative financial instruments and a foreign exchange gain of $7.5 million on translation and transactions involving notes between  
the Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries of the REIT. The results for 2008 included a pre-tax loss of $25.6 million related to the valuation  
of derivative financial instruments, partially offset by a foreign exchange gain of $0.3 million on translation and transactions involving 
notes between the Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries. 

EHSI has FCFCs in place to fix the exchange rate on acquiring Canadian dollars in exchange for US$4.0 million per month until  
June 2011. For further information on these forward contracts, refer to “Impact of U.S. Dollar and Foreign Currency Translation –  
Impact of Foreign Currency Forward Contract Strategy on Distributions”. 

    2009 2008

(thousands of dollars unless otherwise noted)

LOSS	(gAiN)	ON	deRivATive	fiNANCiAL	iNSTRUmeNTS	ANd	fOReigN	exCHANge  
U.S. operations (US$) (12,141) 22,498
U.S. operations (C$) (14,043) 25,467
Canadian operations (6,246) (123)
    (20,289) 25,344

LOSS	(gAiN)	ON	deRivATive	fiNANCiAL	iNSTRUmeNTS	ANd	fOReigN	exCHANge,	NeT	Of	iNCOme	TAx  
U.S. operations (US$) (12,673) 19,913
U.S. operations (C$) (14,496) 22,490
Canadian operations (6,246) (123)
    (20,742) 22,367

With respect to the foreign exchange contracts, the REIT reports a future tax provision (or recovery) for unrealized gains (or losses) on 
the foreign exchange contracts until the contract payments are made, resulting in realized gains (or losses) and a current tax provision. 

Regarding our internal corporate loans, the foreign exchange gains of our Canadian operations are sheltered with capital losses  
that have future tax valuation allowances against them. Therefore there is no tax impact on these gains of the Canadian operations.  
In addition, we have established a Canadian dollar long-term internal corporate loan between two of our U.S. subsidiaries that has  
a 25-year amortization period and matures in 2014. The change in the Canadian to U.S. dollar exchange rate does not result in any 
consolidated gain or loss on this loan; however, a consequential unrealized tax expense or recovery can exist due to the imbalance  
in the tax treatments of the related entities. Although the foreign currency exposure cannot be hedged, the REIT believes that due  
to the long-term nature of the note, it can mitigate any negative tax consequences from the loan structure. The unrealized tax expense  
or recovery is reported as a future tax provision until realized. 
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Loss (Gain) from Asset Impairment, Disposals and Other Items 
In 2009, the REIT reported a pre-tax gain from asset impairment, disposals and other items of $0.2 million ($0.3 million after tax), related 
to the release of a $0.5 million accrual on settlement of a contingent claim against Crown life Insurance Company (Crown life), refer  
to the discussion under the heading “liquidity and Capital Resources – Specified Contingent Claims Against Crown life”, a $0.3 million 
gain on redemption of convertible debentures acquired under the normal course issuer bid, partially offset by a $0.6 million charge for 
the write-off of pre-development costs on a discontinued project. 

In 2008 the REIT reported a pre-tax loss from asset impairment, disposals and other items of $0.9 million ($0.5 million after tax), of which 
$2.5 million related to costs written off for suspended projects, $1.3 million related to the write down of the assets of a skilled nursing 
center in Washington to its estimated fair value due to operational issues, and $0.9 million related to a write down in investments, as the 
impairment was considered to be other than temporary, partially offset by gains of $3.8 million realized on the sale of non-core assets 
and other miscellaneous items.

Income Taxes 
The tax provision from continuing operations was $45.6 million in 2009 compared to $23.2 million in 2008, representing effective tax 
rates of 36.3% and 78.4%, respectively. The effective tax rates for each period were distorted by the gains and losses from derivative 
financial instruments, foreign exchange, asset impairment, disposals and other items. Excluding these items, the effective tax rate for 
2009 was 43.8% compared to 47.4% in 2008. The 2008 effective tax rate was higher than normal primarily due to a tax loss valuation 
allowance adjustment of $2.1 million pertaining to prior years. 

The REIT began recording an income tax provision for SIFT tax in June 2007 as a result of new legislation, retroactive to January 1, 2007. 
The provision represents management’s best estimate based on its understanding of the SIFT tax rules and the REIT’s current structure. 
For further information on the SIFT tax, refer to the discussion under the heading “Canadian SIFT and U.S. REIT Income Tax Updates – 
Canada – Canadian Federal Income Tax on Income Trusts” under the “Significant Developments” section of this MD&A. 

acceleration of tax dePreciation and other current tax adjustments 
In respect of our 2009 income tax filings for our U.S. operations, we plan to file a one-time retroactive change in our U.S. tax accounting 
method that will accelerate the tax depreciation and expensing of certain previously capitalized assets that have occurred over the past 
seven years. This tax accounting change will expense rather than capitalize certain expenditures that are frequently required to maintain 
our properties, and is subject to review by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS). 

The tax accounting change will result in a recovery of federal and state cash taxes of US$21.8 million, to be received through a reduction 
of our 2010 U.S. tax instalments. As a result, our 2009 current income tax expense included a recovery of $24.9 million (US$21.8 million) 
recorded in the fourth quarter, with an equal offset charged to the future income tax provision that will be reversed over an estimated  
28 years. There was no impact to our 2009 net earnings, or earnings per unit figures. 

In addition to the positive impact of accelerated tax depreciation, current income taxes were lower in the 2009 fourth quarter,  
primarily as a result of book-to-file and audit adjustments that typically occur at year end and other unique current period items in our  
U.S. operations. The majority of these items related to a shift between current and future income taxes, and had a minimal impact on our 
total tax provision. However, with respect to current income taxes, there was a net positive impact in the 2009 fourth quarter as a result  
of a book-to-file adjustment of approximately $7.7 million due to higher tax depreciation filed on the 2008 U.S. tax returns. In addition,  
our U.S. operations reduced its 2009 current tax expense as a result of an increase in deductible prepaid expenses of $1.2 million, as 
well as a favourable impact from a decline in current period bad debt provisions relative to tax deductible bad debt write-offs and 
workers’ compensation provisions relative to tax deductible claim payments totalling $4.6 million. 

Discontinued Operations 
Discontinued operations reported an after-tax loss of $2.4 million in 2009, which included a pre-tax impairment charge of $4.0 million 
(after-tax loss of $4.0 million) on the pending disposal of eight skilled nursing centers, a pre-tax impairment charge of $1.8 million 
(after-tax loss of $1.1 million) related to three leased centers in Ohio, a pre-tax recovery of $1.4 million (an after-tax loss of $0.8 million)  
on the disposal of two Ohio skilled nursing centers for proceeds of $11.1 million (US$8.7 million) and a release of excess reserves for 
self-insured general and professional liability cliams of $1.1 million. 

Discontinued operations reported after-tax earnings of $7.0 million in 2008, which included a release of excess reserves for self-insured 
general and professional liability claims of $0.9 million, a pre-tax impairment charge of $0.9 million ($0.5 million after tax) and a pre-tax 
recovery of $8.5 million ($4.2 million after tax) on the disposal of assets for proceeds of $20.9 million. For further information see 
“Significant Developments – Discontinued Operations” and note 12 of the 2009 consolidated financial statements.
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z  significant develoPments 

The following developments had a significant effect on the financial results of Extendicare REIT for the year ended December 31, 2009  
in comparison to the year ended 2008.

Global Economic Environment Impact on Nursing Home Funding, Census and Financing 
The most significant factor impacting the REIT’s industry this past year, and for the near term, is the global economy. Beginning in the 
latter part of 2008, the economy and stock markets have suffered a significant downturn as a result of the worldwide credit and liquidity 
crisis that impacted market values of securities, values of commodities such as oil and gas, interest rates and the foreign exchange 
markets; and there has been unprecedented job losses in both the U.S. and Canada. With a dramatic reduction in corporate profits and 
reduced consumer confidence, the fiscal health of provincial, state and federal governments have been dampened; consequently, the 
future funding of services for which they provide support may be at risk. The global economic downturn has impacted nursing home 
funding, short-term admissions in our U.S. nursing centers and the financing environment. Refer to “Global Economic Environment”  
and “Impact of Current Economy on the REIT” under the “Overview – Investment Overview” heading and also in note 20 of the 2009 
consolidated financial statements.

Development Projects 

united states 
In July 2009, we completed the 100-bed skilled nursing center in Okemos, Michigan, and in October 2009, we completed a 100-bed 
skilled nursing center and a 60-unit assisted living center in Summit, Wisconsin. The total cost of these three projects was approximately 
US$34.3 million. Two other projects that were in the pre-development stages were deferred at the end of 2008 as a result of the 
economic climate. The cost of one of these projects in Washington, totalling $0.6 million (US$0.5 million) was written off during  
the 2009 second quarter. 

In September 2009, EHSI entered into an agreement with a company controlled by the former shareholders of Tendercare (Michigan) 
Inc. (Tendercare) that includes a partial interest of Tim lukenda, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and his immediate family 
(see “Related Party Transactions”). The company owns a 120-bed nursing facility in lansing, Michigan that under the terms of the 
agreement, upon renovation and certification of the facility, EHSI will enter into a 10-year lease for US$0.4 million per annum.  
The renovation is anticipated to be completed in the 2010 third quarter.

In June 2009, EHSI entered into a 10-year operating lease agreement that commences upon the completion by a third party, of the 
construction of a new skilled nursing center (100 beds) in South Bend, Indiana, which is expected to be completed by the end of 2010. 
Upon completion, annual lease payments will be US$1.0 million in the first year and US$1.1 million thereafter. 

During 2008, EHSI completed two skilled nursing center projects at a total cost of US$17.0 million located in Holland, Michigan  
(77 beds) and Sequim, Washington (100 beds), which replaced a 74-bed skilled nursing center in Port Angeles, Washington. 

canada 
ECI has three senior care centers under development in Alberta representing 600 beds at a cost of approximately $74.3 million,  
net of government grants, for completion through 2011. 

Construction is in progress on three centers in Alberta consisting of a 280-bed continuing care center in Red Deer, a 140-unit designated 
assisted living center in lethbridge, and a 180-unit long-term care center in Edmonton. The Red Deer center is anticipated to be completed 
in the summer of 2010, at an estimated cost, net of government grants, of $33.3 million, of which $23.3 million has been incurred through 
December 31, 2009. The new lethbridge center is anticipated to be completed by the fall of 2010, at an estimated cost, net of government 
grants, of $21.5 million, of which $6.0 million has been spent to December 31, 2009. The new Edmonton center is anticipated to be 
completed in the summer of 2011, at an estimated cost of $19.5 million, net of government grants, of which $5.5 million has been spent  
to December 31, 2009. 

ECI currently operates older nursing centers in lethbridge (120 beds) and Edmonton (113 beds). The Alberta Health Services Board is 
presently evaluating the long-term needs for nursing center beds. We have agreed that we will cease operating our lethbridge nursing 
center when the new center is built in 2010. In the meantime, we are continuing to explore alternate uses thereafter for the building. 
There have been no discussions to date regarding the timing of closure of the Edmonton nursing center. The combined annual EBITDA 
of the two existing centers for 2009 was approximately $2.7 million. The projected combined annual EBITDA of the two new centers, 
once fully operational, is expected to exceed $5.0 million. 
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In addition to these projects, as part of the Ontario government’s initiative to redevelop 35,000 long-term care beds over the next  
10 years (refer to discussion under the heading “Update of legislative Actions Affecting Revenue – Canada – Ontario long-term Care 
legislation”), ECI received approval to redevelop 287 of its Class C beds in the cities of Timmins and Sault Ste. Marie, and in connection 
with this award, received approval to add a further 149 long-term care beds. As a result, ECI expects to complete construction of a new 
180-bed nursing center in Timmins and a new 256-bed nursing center in Sault Ste. Marie by the end of 2012. ECI currently operates 
three nursing centers with 387 Class C beds in these areas. Following completion of the new projects, ECI would operate 436 beds in 
two new centers and 100 Class C beds in an existing center to be considered for redevelopment at a later date. The total cost of these 
two projects will be approximately $72.1 million, of which we anticipate over 75% to be financed through the Canadian Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation (CMHC). In addition, we will receive capital funding from the government of approximately $2.0 million annually 
over a period of 25 years. The combined annual EBITDA of the three existing centers (387 beds) for 2009 was approximately  
$2.7 million. It is anticipated that incremental EBITDA for the three centers (536 beds) will be approximately $2.0 million upon 
completion of the projects, of which two centers (436 beds) will qualify for capital funding from the Ontario government. 

Acquisitions 

2008 
On January 1, 2008, ECI acquired lTC Professional Insurance Company, ltd. (lTC Professional), Tendercare’s affiliated insurance 
company domiciled in Barbados, for a nominal amount. Consideration for the acquisition was based upon the valuation of the excess  
of assets in lTC Professional on the acquisition date and the actuarially determined liability for claims incurred prior to the acquisition  
of Tendercare on October 31, 2007. Any additional amounts payable or receivable will be calculated annually based on the actuarial 
liabilities determined at December 31st of each year through 2012, with an option to increase the review period to December 31, 2015.  
In the 2009 first quarter, a payment of $2.7 million (US$2.2 million, which included US$0.2 million in interest) was made to the former 
shareholders of lTC Professional on completion of the actuarial valuation of lTC Professional’s liabilities as at December 31, 2008.

On October 6, 2008, ECI acquired three Manitoba nursing homes (304 beds) for total consideration of approximately $26.4 million, 
including assumption of existing debt of $9.4 million, for a net cash cost of approximately $17.0 million, prior to refinancing the 
properties. ECI refinanced the $9.4 million of existing mortgages for $17.0 million of conventional mortgages at a fixed-rate of 5.75%,  
with a five-year term and monthly payments based on a 25-year amortization period. Prior to the acquisition, ECI had operated these 
centers under management contracts for five years. 

Further details of these acquisitions are provided in note 3 of the 2009 consolidated financial statements.

Financing Activity 

canada 

equity	Offering	
On February 4, 2010, Extendicare REIT completed a public equity offering of 9,228,750 REIT Units, including the exercise in full of an 
over-allotment option of 1,203,750 REIT Units, at a price of $9.35 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $86.3 million ($82.8 million 
net of underwriters’ fees). The net proceeds of the offering will increase the REIT’s liquidity and balance sheet flexibility, and will be used 
to repay indebtedness, fund redevelopment of the REIT’s existing properties, and for general trust purposes. 

Convertible	Unsecured	Subordinated	debentures	
On June 19, 2008, the REIT completed a public offering of $92.0 million of 7.25% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures, with 
an $11.35 conversion price due June 30, 2013 and $34.6 million of REIT Units (3,565,000 REIT Units at $9.70 per unit). The net proceeds 
from the offering were $120.6 million, of which $27.4 million (US$27.0 million) was used to reduce the balance outstanding under EHSI’s 
Credit Facility, which arose principally from acquisitions completed in the fall of 2007, and the remainder will be used to finance internal 
growth projects under development (see “Significant Developments – Development Projects”). 

2009	mortgage	Activity	
In January 2009, ECI refinanced a $6.0 million mortgage on an Ontario nursing center with $8.9 million of CMHC financing at a fixed 
rate of 3.52%, with a five-year term, and monthly payments based on a 15-year amortization. 

In June 2009, ECI obtained CMHC insured long-term financing on its lethbridge, Alberta project of $20.5 million (approximately  
95% of the construction costs, net of government grants), plus CMHC fees of $1.0 million. The first two years of the 27-year loan is for 
construction at a fixed interest rate of 4.25%, following which it will be amortized over 25 years at a fixed rate of 7.70%. However, once  
the center is opened, the interest costs will be reimbursed through government funding for the rest of the term. 
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In August 2009, ECI obtained CMHC insured construction financing on its Edmonton, Alberta project of $16.6 million (approximately 
85% of the construction costs, net of government grants) plus CMHC fees of $0.8 million. The loan has a term of two years, with 
interest-only payments based on a floating rate of 30-day banker’s acceptance plus 2.5%. We plan to secure long-term financing before 
the end of the two-year term.

2008	mortgage	Activity
In July 2008, Extendicare refinanced $10.3 million of mortgage loans on three Ontario nursing homes with $20.7 million of CMHC 
financing at a fixed rate of 5.012%, with a five-year term, and monthly payments based on a 15-year amortization period.

In September 2008, ECI obtained CMHC insured construction financing on its Red Deer, Alberta project, for a maximum of $30.4 million, 
of which we anticipate utilizing $28.9 million (approximately 87% of the construction costs, net of government grants), plus CMHC fees 
of $1.6 million. The terms of the construction financing are over 24 months, with interest-only payments based on 30-day asset backed 
commercial paper rates plus 1.5%. Management plans to secure long-term financing for this project prior to its completion in the 
summer of 2010. 

RBC	Credit	facility
Extendicare has a credit facility with the Royal Bank of Canada (the “RBC Credit Facility”) that is due on demand and used primarily  
to back letters of credit that renew annually. In June 2009, Extendicare amended the RBC Credit Facility to provide for the issuance  
of a U.S. dollar letter of credit facility of up to US$22.2 million in addition to the existing $70.0 million line of credit, which amount was 
subsequently amended in December 2009 to US$18.2 million. The amended credit facility is secured by $22.4 million in cash collateral 
held by RBC that is used to back the US$18.2 million letter of credit issued to a third-party insurer for workers’ compensation claims  
of EHSI. The cash collateral is currently invested in short-term deposits, however as the cash is restricted as to withdrawal, the cash  
is presented on the balance sheet as restricted cash within current assets. 

united states 

eHSi	Credit	facility	
In June 2009, EHSI amended and restated in its entirety its credit facility that provides for borrowings of up to US$70.0 million.  
The amended and restated credit facility (the “EHSI Credit Facility”) matures in June 2011 and has an option to extend for a third year  
to June 2012 upon satisfaction of certain conditions. The amount available to be borrowed under the EHSI Credit Facility is the lesser  
of: (1) 60% of the appraised values of the skilled nursing facilities collateralizing the EHSI Credit Facility; or (2) an amount based on the 
actual net cash flow of these facilities for the last 12 months. At EHSI’s option, the interest rate is either the eurodollar rate, with a floor  
set at 2%, plus a margin from 4% to 4.75%, or the U.S. prime rate plus a margin from 3% to 3.75%, with the specific margin based on 
EHSI’s consolidated leverage ratio as defined in the EHSI Credit Facility. 

Sovereign	Loans	
In June 2008, Tendercare refinanced US$49.9 million of mortgage loans owing to laSalle Bank with US$51.0 million of mortgage 
financing from Sovereign Bank and a syndicate of other lenders (the “Sovereign loans”). The Sovereign loans are secured by  
first mortgages on 21 skilled nursing centers in Michigan, and have a three-year term with monthly payments based on a 25-year 
amortization period. Under the mortgage agreement, Tendercare and its subsidiaries are required to maintain a minimum consolidated 
fixed charge coverage ratio and the 21 skilled nursing centers securing the loans are required to maintain a minimum combined  
debt service coverage ratio. At EHSI’s option, the interest rate is equal to either U.S. prime plus a margin of 0.50% or lIBOR plus  
a margin of 3.25%. 

Further details on long-term debt are provided in note 8 of the 2009 consolidated financial statements.

Discontinued Operations 
Extendicare REIT continually assesses the performance of its asset portfolio, and for those assets that fail to meet operating and 
financial standards, a decision may be made to dispose of the asset. Assets to be disposed of are recorded at the lower of the carrying 
value or estimated fair value net of disposal costs. Earnings and associated taxes derived from both divested operations and operations 
that have been classified for disposition are reported separately within the consolidated statements of earnings as discontinued 
operations. 

As at December 31, 2009, EHSI had assets held for sale with a net book value of $33.2 million (US$31.6 million) consisting of eight skilled 
nursing centers (six in Michigan, one in Ohio and one in Pennsylvania) that are under agreement to be sold to another long-term care 
operator no later than May 31, 2010, and a closed nursing center in Washington. Total cash consideration from the pending asset sale  
of the eight centers is approximately US$31.0 million. 
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In addition, EHSI classified three leased Ohio skilled nursing centers as discontinued operations during 2009 and, in the 2009 fourth 
quarter, transferred one of these operations to another operator. The lease on the remaining two leased skilled nursing centers mature 
in January 2011 and the landlord is actively seeking another operator as EHSI has no intention to continue operating the centers.  
An impairment charge of $1.8 million (US$1.6 million) was recorded on these centers in the 2009 third quarter.

In March 2009, EHSI completed the sale of two Ohio skilled nursing centers with a net book value of US$7.6 million, for net proceeds  
of US$8.7 million.

At December 31, 2008, assets held for sale had a net book value of $13.6 million (US$11.1 million). During 2008 the disposal activity 
included a pre-tax impairment charge of $0.9 million and a pre-tax recovery of $8.5 million on the disposal of assets for proceeds of 
$20.9 million. EHSI sold the $0.3 million balance of assets held for sale at the end of 2007, consisting of one closed nursing property and 
its related licenses in Ohio, and a closed assisted living property in Oregon. In addition, during 2008 EHSI designated three Indiana and 
three Ohio skilled nursing centers, and one Pennsylvania assisted living center as held for sale, due to their financial and operational 
performance, with the financial results reclassified to discontinued operations. The Pennsylvania center and three Indiana centers were 
sold during 2008. As well, EHSI closed a skilled nursing center in Washington following the transfer of the residents to a newly built EHSI 
skilled nursing center in the region. The financial results of the Washington skilled nursing center were not reclassified to discontinued 
operations because the operations were transferred to another EHSI skilled nursing center and therefore, remained as part of ongoing 
operations. 

More information on EHSI’s discontinued operations is available in note 12 of the 2009 consolidated financial statements.

Legal Proceedings 
The REIT and its consolidated subsidiaries are defendants in actions brought against them from time to time in connection with their 
operations. It is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of the various proceedings at this time or to estimate additional costs that 
may result.

In late 2008, three class action lawsuits were filed against wholly owned U.S. based subsidiaries of the REIT in federal courts in 
Washington and Minnesota, and in a state court in Wisconsin. All of the lawsuits had essentially the same allegations that our advertising 
did not match with our regulatory history. The claims also included allegations that the centers admitted residents without due regard  
to their needs. Motions to dismiss the three lawsuits were granted by the courts in March 2009 (Minnesota and Washington) and in 
September 2009 (Wisconsin). The courts held that the plaintiffs’ allegations were too general and unspecific to serve as the basis  
for a claim. 

More information on legal proceedings is available in note 17 of the 2009 consolidated financial statements.

Canadian SIFT and U.S. REIT Income Tax Updates 

canada

Canadian	federal	income	Tax	on	income	Trusts	
On October 31, 2006, the day before Extendicare was initially scheduled to have completed the Arrangement, the Minister of Finance 
(Canada) (the “Finance Minister”) announced proposals to amend the Tax Act to alter the taxation regime applicable to certain publicly 
traded entities that are specified investment flow-through trusts or partnerships, or SIFTs, and their investors (the “SIFT Rules”). The SIFT 
Rules were subsequently enacted by Bill C-52, the Budget Implementation Act, 2007, which received Royal Assent on June 22, 2007. 
Extendicare REIT is a SIFT, and is therefore subject to the SIFT Rules. Furthermore, Extendicare REIT is not eligible for transitional relief 
from the SIFT tax through 2010 and due to the nature of its income and investments, does not qualify for the exemption from the SIFT 
Rules applicable to “real estate investment trusts” (as defined in the SIFT Rules). As a result, Extendicare REIT has been subject to the 
SIFT tax since January 1, 2007. 

Bill C-10, which received Royal Assent on March 12, 2009, included certain amendments to the SIFT Rules (the “SIFT Amendments”), 
including revisions to the definitions of “SIFT trust” and “SIFT partnership” to specifically exclude certain trusts and partnerships that are 
wholly owned by a SIFT, with effect from October 31, 2006. The SIFT Amendments do not change the status of Extendicare REIT as a 
SIFT, although they confirm that Extendicare Trust, which is wholly owned by Extendicare REIT, is not a SIFT. Management has assessed 
the impact of the SIFT Amendments on Extendicare lP and has concluded that Extendicare lP should not be treated as a SIFT, but there 
can be no assurance that this will be the case. 
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New rules contained in the SIFT Amendments also facilitate the conversion of SIFT trusts into corporations, either through the 
distribution by a SIFT trust of shares of a taxable Canadian corporation to its unitholders or by the transfer of units of a SIFT trust  
to a taxable Canadian corporation, followed by a winding up of the SIFT trust. The automatic tax-deferred rollover treatment applies  
to transactions that occur on or after July 14, 2008 and before 2013. 

united states

U.S.	federal	income	Tax	on	ReiTs	
On July 30, 2008, the U.S. Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 was signed into law containing certain revisions to the  
REIT Investment Diversification and Employment Act (the “RIDEA”) that provide, among other things, greater structural and operating 
flexibility to U.S. health care REITs. The RIDEA permits U.S. health care REITs to use taxable REIT subsidiaries (TRSs) in the same manner 
as lodging REITs. A TRS will continue to be required to use an independent contractor to manage or operate health care centers,  
but payments collected by a REIT from its TRS in connection with renting health care centers will now be treated as qualified income 
under the REIT tests. 

With respect to the above Canadian SIFT and U.S. REIT income tax matters, which are very complex, senior management is continuing 
its review of them and their application to the organizational structure of the REIT and its unitholders.

In view of, among other things, the provisions of the SIFT Amendments that facilitate the conversion of SIFT trusts into corporations, 
which expire on December 31, 2012, the Board of Trustees and management are continuously reviewing possible strategies, 
opportunities and alternatives available to the REIT with a view to ensuring that the REIT’s capital and organizational structure  
are efficient and address the operational requirements of the business of the REIT.

Other Tax Updates

canada

Canadian	gST	on	Long-term	Residential	Care	Centers	
On June 18, 2008, Bill C-50, the Budget Implementation Act, 2008 received Royal Assent. The bill is effective February 27, 2008,  
and among other things, clarifies rules related to the application of goods and services tax, or GST, to the construction or purchase  
and operation of residential care centers. These amendments will affect the conditions for claiming a new residential rental property 
rebate for long-term residential care centers as well as the taxable status of head lease payments, and require self-assessment of  
GST for builder-operators of such centers. In April 2009, we completed discussions with the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) regarding 
the application of these new rules on ECI’s capital lease obligations of nine of its Ontario long-term care centers. Such discussions 
concluded with no financial consequence to us. Consequently in 2009, we reversed the balance sheet adjustment to our capital lease 
obligations and offsetting financing costs. 

2009	Ontario	Budget	–	Sales	Tax	Harmonization	
On March 26, 2009, the Province of Ontario released its 2009 budget, which among other things, proposes moving to a single, 
value-added sales tax at a combined rate of 13% on July 1, 2010. A number of our costs are not currently subject to both GST and 
provincial sales tax, and therefore, under the harmonized tax regime such costs will be subject to the higher single tax rate. The majority 
of services we provide as a for-profit provider of long-term care services are classified as exempt under a value-added tax system.  
We therefore cannot claim input tax credits to recover any value-added taxes that we may pay, nor are we eligible for rebates. Hence,  
any incremental taxes that may be subject to the services or purchases that we may make will not be recoverable and can only be offset 
by increased funding provided by the Ontario government. We estimate that the additional cost to us would approximate $1.7 million 
annually. Together with others in our industry, we are lobbying the government with suggestions to address the issue. 

united states

Tax	payable	on	Sale	of	ALC	by	eHSi	
The Arrangement included the distribution of Assisted living Concepts, Inc. (AlC) to Extendicare’s shareholders and a number of 
pre-Arrangement transactions (referred to as the “Reorganization”). As part of the spin-off of AlC in 2006 to Extendicare’s shareholders, 
EHSI and AlC entered into a tax allocation agreement dated as of November 10, 2006 (the “Tax Allocation Agreement”). 

In connection with the gain arising on the transfer of AlC by EHSI to Extendicare on November 10, 2006, management had estimated 
income taxes payable of $115.9 million (US$102.5 million) based on the volume-weighted average trading price of the AlC Class A 
Shares on its first day of trading, which was US$8.00. In June, 2009, the IRS completed its audit of the 2006 year and has not adjusted 
management’s methodology for determining the fair market value of AlC. 
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In 2009, AlC asserted that EHSI owes an estimated US$3.1 million to AlC under the Tax Allocation Agreement relating to additional 
depreciation deductions allowed by the IRS for years 2005 and 2006 relating to limitations computed under Section 382 of the Code. 
We disagree with this assertion and do not believe any liability has been incurred. Accordingly, we have not recorded any liability under 
the Tax Allocation Agreement as of December 31, 2009. Should AlC assert this position and be successful, through a decision made  
by an independent arbitrator, any liability would be charged directly to retained earnings since the spin-off of AlC was accounted for  
as a capital transaction in 2006. 

z  uPdate of legislative actions affecting revenue 

Regulatory Environment Affecting Operations
We operate in a competitive marketplace and depend substantially on revenue derived from government sources, with the remaining 
revenue derived from commercial insurers, managed care plans and private individuals. The ongoing pressures from government 
programs, along with other payors seeking to control costs and/or limit reimbursement rates for medical services, are a risk to us.  
We also operate in a heavily regulated industry, subject to the scrutiny of federal, state and/or provincial regulators. All long-term care 
providers are subject to surveys and inspections by government authorities to ensure compliance with applicable laws and licensure 
requirements of the federal, state and/or provincial funding programs. Our nursing centers must comply with regulations involving such 
things as staffing levels, resident care standards, occupational health and safety, resident confidentiality, billing and reimbursement, 
along with environmental, biological and other standards. Government agencies have steadily increased their enforcement activity  
over the past several years. As a result, in addition to increasing resources to improve the quality of services provided to our residents,  
we are continually allocating increased resources to ensure compliance with applicable regulations and to respond to inspections, 
investigations and/or enforcement actions. 

united states 
The majority of the REIT’s operations are in the United States where 70.3% of its revenue was earned in 2009. EHSI receives payment  
for its services and products from the federal (Medicare) and state (Medicaid) medical assistance programs, as well as from private 
payors. Private-pay revenue includes payments from individuals, commercial insurers, HMOs, preferred provider organizations and  
other charge-based payment sources, including Blue Cross associations and the Department of veterans Affairs. 

medicare	funding	
Changes in Medicare funding levels typically occur on October 1st each year to coincide with the federal government’s fiscal year, and 
generally represent an inflationary increase for the Medicare Part A rate, otherwise referred to as a “market basket” increase. The market 
basket increases on October 1, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were 3.4%, 3.3% and 3.1%, respectively. EHSI estimated that the 2008 rate increase 
resulted in a net improvement of approximately US$13.38 in its average daily Medicare Part A rate.

On July 31, 2009, CMS issued its final rule for payments to Medicare skilled nursing centers, resulting in a net reduction in Medicare  
Part A rates of 1.1% effective October 1, 2009. As previously announced, CMS implemented a forecasting error adjustment that reduced 
rates by 3.3%, which was partially offset by a market basket increase of 2.2%. This net rate reduction of 1.1% will reduce our Medicare 
revenue by approximately US$4.5 million per annum.

CMS’ final rule issued on July 31, 2009, also introduces other modifications to our payment system that would become effective on 
October 1, 2010, and which would impact resident assessments and, potentially, the rates paid for certain services. Specifically, the final 
rule establishes a revised case-mix classification methodology (RUG-Iv) and implementation schedule for fiscal year 2011, reflecting 
updated staff time measurement data derived from the recently completed Staff Time and Resource Intensity verification (STRIvE) 
project, as well as including information on the transition to the redesigned nursing home resident assessment instrument MDS 3.0,  
and on a possible new rate component to account for the use of non-therapy ancillaries. CMS has stated that these initiatives are 
intended to be neutral to its total Medicare funding. The potential impact of these changes is being analyzed based upon information 
made available at the present time. However further details are anticipated to be received in April 2010, and until that time, it is not 
possible to determine the impact, if any, of these changes to our Medicare rates. To a degree, an adverse change in our Medicare  
per diem rates may be partially mitigated by the type of resident admitted and the care delivery protocol followed. We, along with other 
post-acute providers, continue to discuss the merits and potential impact of these changes with CMS and elected government officials. 
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Effective January 1, 2006, CMS implemented a cap on Part B therapy services for physical and speech therapy, and a second cap  
for occupational therapy. The caps increased annually for inflation, and amounted to US$1,740 per annum in 2006, US$1,780 in 2007, 
US$1,810 in 2008, and US$1,840 in 2009. A one-year exception process to the therapy caps was established in 2005 for individuals  
who can prove medical necessity for the therapy. This exception process has been further extended through to December 31, 2009  
with the passage and veto override of the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act in July 2008. There is currently a bill  
in process that could potentially extend the therapy caps into 2010; however, there is no certainty on this bill being passed and the 
therapy caps implemented retroactively to January 1, 2010. Utilizing previous estimates, the extension of the exception process applies 
to approximately 35% of EHSI’s residents requiring Part B therapy services and therefore, there has been no significant reduction in 
EHSI’s Part B therapy revenue. 

The Medicare Part D benefit that arose from the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 was 
implemented by CMS effective January 1, 2006, and provides access to prescription drug coverage for Medicare beneficiaries. Medicare 
Part D is a voluntary drug benefit, except for dually eligible Medicare and Medicaid residents, who must enrol in the program. The 
program provides a prescription drug benefit through a fee-for-service prescription drug plan, or PDP. For a premium, eligible residents 
have their drug costs administered through a government contracted PDP provider, who negotiates contracts with the institutional 
pharmacies, including Omnicare, Inc. (Omnicare), which provides pharmacy services to the majority of EHSI’s skilled nursing centers. 
Omnicare has contracted with the majority of all PDPs to which EHSI’s residents subscribe. To date, as a result of the transition plans put 
into place by CMS, EHSI has not experienced an increase in its drug costs as a result of these changes. However, EHSI could be faced 
with incremental drug and administrative costs as PDPs exercise their strategies to manage drug costs on behalf of their subscribers.

2009	federal	Legislation
On February 17, 2009, U.S. President Obama signed the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (the “Recovery Act”)  
with a total estimated cost of US$787 billion. The Recovery Act specifies that 64% of the package will be allocated for social programs 
and spending. Of the amounts earmarked for social programs, US$86.7 billion has been appropriated for a temporary increase in the 
federal medical assistance percentage, or FMAP. The FMAP is the percentage the federal government reimburses states for Medicaid 
expenditures. In addition to the temporary increase, the Recovery Act includes a hold harmless provision from any scheduled decline  
in the matching percentage and prompt payment provisions. 

The Recovery Act provides for a 6.2% increase in FMAP for a 27-month period beginning October 1, 2008 through December 31, 2010.  
In addition, states with higher unemployment rates will receive additional increases that will be adjusted quarterly based upon 
unemployment statistics. 

An additional US$19 billion is being made available for health information technology. However, long-term care providers will be eligible 
for only a very limited portion of these funds.

A major concern with the Recovery Act is the lack of any provision linking the increase in FMAP to any required increases in provider 
rates. States are only required to maintain current levels of Medicaid eligibility. While questions are being raised as to the intent of the 
U.S. Congress with regard to how the enhanced FMAP can be spent, there is a high probability that governors of each state will use the 
funding to maintain Medicaid services and rates. 

proposed	Health	Care	Reform	Legislation	
In early 2010, the U.S. Congress was moving forward in merging the separate House and Senate proposed health care reform bills 
through a committee process that was intended to result in a single piece of legislation to be introduced to the House, Senate and  
the President of the United States for approval. There are a number of critical parts of both the Senate and the House bills that must  
be reconciled and agreed to by the key members of government before being completed. Both the Senate and House bills propose  
market basket productivity adjustments in Medicare funding to long-term care operators; however, the timetable and quantum of those 
adjustments vary significantly between the two bills. 

Given more recent changes in the composition of the U.S. Senate, the health care reform bills have become mired in controversy and 
the likelihood of passage and timetable for any new legislation to be completed is uncertain. There is no assurance that this legislation 
will be passed or what subsequent amendments will be made. The REIT is not able to predict at this time what provisions the legislation 
may include or estimate what impact the legislation may have on its future operating results. We intend to closely monitor proceedings 
and proactively respond to any legislative changes in a manner that will take advantage of new opportunities and minimize exposure  
to new risks.
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The health care reform proposals require most individuals to have a minimum level of coverage and require most employers to provide 
health coverage for employees. They include subsidies to assist lower-income individuals in purchasing health coverage. EHSI currently 
offers health care coverage to all of its employees under several different programs tailored to meet an individual’s budget and  
risk tolerance. Approximately 50% of EHSI employees have joined one of EHSI’s programs; however, it remains uncertain whether  
EHSI’s coverage will meet the proposed minimum requirements and whether incremental costs will be incurred to meet the  
proposed standards.

medicaid	Rates	
The decline in state tax revenue and increased demand for unemployment and Medicaid services, as a result of the recession,  
has put state Medicaid budgets under considerable strain. Many states have implemented or expanded their provider tax programs  
(a tax imposed on providers of long-term care) as a means to increase the levels of funding contributed by the federal government  
to their Medicaid programs. However, these additional federal funds have only partially mitigated funding cuts of some of the states.  
Our respective state health care associations are lobbying vigorously for continuation of consistent funding in the sector. 

Each year as of July 1st, EHSI receives new annual Medicaid rates in eight of the 12 states in which it operates skilled nursing centers.  
For all July 1, 2009, Medicaid rate changes, we have estimated a net US$1.2 million annual increase in Medicaid revenue, net of provider 
taxes (consisting of a US$11.7 million increase in annual Medicaid revenue offset by a US$10.5 million increase in state provider taxes). 
This represents a 0.3% increase and includes changes in CMI. This increase includes four states (Indiana, Ohio, Kentucky and Oregon) 
in which rates are considered final and four states (Idaho, Pennsylvania, Washington and Wisconsin) for which rates are still under 
discussion or administrative review in the respective state legislatures and CMS. For the latter four states, we have estimated the rate 
changes based on the best information currently available and these estimates are reflected in the earnings recorded for the period 
after the rate changes dates. 

Particular uncertainty exists in Pennsylvania and Washington. In Pennsylvania, the fiscal 2010 budget is not yet final. As a result, the  
July 1, 2009 rates have not been issued and funding levels remain uncertain. In February 2010, the Pennsylvania governor called for  
flat funding of nursing home rates but there are proposed changes in methodology that could result in EHSI having rate increases or 
decreases as of July 1, 2009. Nothing has been received yet regarding final July 1, 2009 rates. EHSI is booking revenue based on the 
April 1, 2009 rates that have been paid through to December 31, 2009. No liability has been recorded for any potential rate cuts. Effective 
July 1, 2009, the State of Washington imposed a cut in the Medicaid rate of approximately 7.8%, or US$12.47 per Medicaid day. However, 
a temporary restraining order (“TRO”) issued by the courts has eliminated the rate cuts pending the completion of the next legislative 
session scheduled for March 11, 2010. The state health care association is working with the state legislature on drafting a new provider 
tax bill to be addressed in this legislative session. The proceeds of the provider tax would be expected to permanently eliminate the rate 
cut effective July 1, 2009. As of December 31, 2009, a liability has been established for the revenue that will have to be repaid if the rate 
cut is upheld by the courts.

Each year as of October 1st, EHSI receives new annual Medicaid rates in three states (Michigan, Minnesota and West virginia). For all 
October 1, 2009 Medicaid changes, we have estimated a net US$1.4 million annual increase in Medicaid revenue, net of provider taxes 
(consisting of a US$4.5 million increase in annual Medicaid revenue offset by a US$3.1 million increase in state provider taxes). This 
represents a 1.0% increase and includes changes in CMI. The increase in Michigan was substantially higher than previously expected  
as of September 30, 2009. 

In summary for 2009, in the 12 states that EHSI operates within (including Delaware with a January 1, 2009 increase of US$0.2 million), 
the net impact of Medicaid rate changes as of the respective effective dates in 2009, net of provider taxes but including CMI changes, 
was approximately US$2.8 million, or 0.5%.

For 2008, for the 12 states that EHSI operated within, the weighted average increase in Medicaid rates on their respective effective dates 
was approximately 3.0%, exclusive of the impact of provider taxes and CMI changes. 

Over the past few years, several states in which EHSI operates received approval from CMS for state plan amendments and waivers, 
which increases the level of federal funding for each state’s Medicaid program, and provides skilled nursing centers with revenue rate 
increases to offset new or increased state provider taxes.
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In December 2006, the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 established that the state provider tax limit would be reduced from the  
6% established by CMS to 5.5% effective January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2011. The limit returns to 6% after 2011; however, this 
limit cannot be changed by CMS regulations in the future. The change does not have a material impact on future revenue; however,  
it does limit the risk for reduced Medicaid rates to the level of funding provided through provider tax funding.

canada 
The fees charged by ECI for its Canadian nursing homes and home health care services are regulated by provincial authorities. 
Accordingly, provincial programs fund a substantial portion of these fees, with the remainder paid by individuals. Ontario is ECI’s  
largest market for both its long-term care and home health care services. Funding for Ontario long-term care centers is based on 
reimbursement for the level of care expected to be required by residents. The provincial government allocates funds, or “envelopes”,  
for services such as nursing, programs, food and accommodation. Providers may retain excess funding over costs incurred only with 
respect to the accommodation envelope, while funding for the other envelopes is returned to the extent costs incurred are below the 
rates funded, otherwise referred to as “flow-through envelopes”. 

Ontario	Long-term	Care	Legislation	
New legislation governing Ontario long-term care centers, the Long-term Care Homes Act, 2007 (Bill 140) was given Royal Assent  
on June 4, 2007, although it will not be proclaimed into law until the regulations dealing with the specific aspects of the legislation  
are drafted and approved. In May 2009, the government invited comments on the first set of proposed initial draft regulations, which 
address some of the regulations needed to proclaim Bill 140. In September 2009, a second set of proposed initial draft regulations  
was issued for comment, which addressed additional regulations needed. ECI has provided input on the proposed regulations and 
anticipates continued involvement in the consultation process. Bill 140 amalgamates three existing pieces of legislation currently 
governing long-term care centers in the province: the Nursing Homes Act; the Homes for the Aged and Rest Homes Act; and the 
Charitable Institutions Act. Through consolidation, the government expects that Bill 140 will ensure uniform standards and accountability. 
Among other things, Bill 140 includes a new licensing process with defined terms for various classes of centers as follows: four years for 
a center with class “D” beds that have not been upgraded; 10 years for a center with upgraded class “D” beds; 15 years for a center with 
class “C” and “B” beds; 20 years for a center with class “A” beds; and 25 years for new centers (denoted as being built post 1998). ECI 
has 11 new post-1998 long-term care centers in Ontario and 23 centers with class “C” beds. The license term for the new centers will  
be the greater of 25 years from the date of the first resident and 20 years from the date the legislation comes into effect. Therefore, the 
initial license terms for ECI’s 11 new centers will be 20 years from the date the legislation comes into effect, because the homes were 
opened more than five years ago. 

Bill 140 does not include a commitment to a capital renewal program for older buildings. However, in July 2007, the Ontario government 
announced a project to redevelop 35,000 older long-term care beds in five phases over a 10-year period. The first round of submissions 
for approval began in July 2009. ECI currently owns and operates 3,572 older long-term care beds in 23 “C” rated nursing centers that 
would benefit from this redevelopment project. In November 2008, the government released further details of this program and 
indicated the range of the base construction funding subsidy. For nursing centers larger than 100 beds, the daily subsidy is $13.30 per 
bed for 25 years. A premium of $1.00 will be provided to nursing centers that achieve leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 
silver status. ECI and other operators have been working with the government to express concerns about the adequacy of the 
construction funding subsidy. ECI received approval to redevelop 287 of its Class C beds under the first phase of the government’s 
redevelopment program, and is reviewing its remaining buildings to determine the priorities for redevelopment over the next 10 years. 

In June 2008, the Ontario Ministry of Health and long-Term Care (MOHlTC) released a report on staffing and care standards for 
long-term care centers (the “Sharkey Report”). The report was commissioned by the government partly as a response to calls from  
the Canadian Auto Workers Union, the Ontario Nurses’ Association and others to enact a minimum staffing standard in legislation for 
long-term care centers. The report recognizes the need for more staff but does not support implementing a minimum staffing standard. 
A staffing plan template was piloted in long-term care centers in the spring of 2009 by the government’s implementation team. However, 
the timing of its roll out to all nursing centers is uncertain at this time.

Ontario	Long-term	Care	funding	
On April 1st each year, the Ontario government provides acuity-based flow-through funding increases on the government funded portion 
of the fees based on the provincial resident classification results of the previous year. An increase of 1.27% was announced in June 2009, 
retroactive to April 1st, compared to 1.87% in 2008. In addition, the Ontario government provided additional funding in 2009 and 2008, 
targeted to add more nurses and personal service workers in long-term care centers to help manage the rising cost of labour within  
the flow-through envelopes. As a result, the total annual increase received by ECI in 2009 and 2008 was 3.0% and 4.93%, respectively. 

ECI estimates that based on the number of long-term care beds it operates in Ontario, the above flow-through funding increases 
received in 2009 and 2008 represent additional annual revenue of approximately $4.6 million and $6.4 million, respectively. These 
funding enhancements were provided to the flow-through envelopes and therefore, are offset by additional costs for resident care.
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All Ontario long-term care centers have implemented a new resident assessment instrument, referred to as MDS 2.0. Beginning in  
April 2010, the Ontario government will use the MDS 2.0 data to drive a new case-mix classification methodology using 34 categories 
under a RUGs-based funding model for roughly one-third of all Ontario long-term care centers. Twenty-one of ECI’s centers will be 
affected by this change, with the remaining centers being transitioned over the next couple of years. This RUGs model will tie resident 
needs to costs of care in a more impartial and transparent way. This early experience in Ontario will allow ECI to prepare for the transition 
of its facilities in other provinces to a RUGs-based funding methodology in the future, as MDS 2.0 is phased in across Canada. Based on 
our preliminary review of the new RUGs data in Ontario, we do not anticipate any significant changes to our flow-through funding under  
the nursing envelope.

On July 1st each year, the Ontario government generally implements annual accommodation funding increases for long-term care 
providers (the portion of the fees paid for by the residents to the nursing center operators). The July 2009 increase was $0.16 per 
resident per day (or 2.2%) for food costs and $0.85 per resident per day (or 1.8%) for the non flow-through component. ECI estimates  
that based on the number of long-term care beds it operates in Ontario, this represents an annual revenue increase of approximately 
$1.8 million, of which approximately $0.3 million is directly allocated to cover food costs, with the remainder available to assist in 
offsetting inflationary cost increases of accommodation. In comparison, the July 2008 increase was $0.15 per resident per day (or 2.1%) 
for food costs and $0.80 per resident per day (or 1.7%) for the non flow-through component. ECI estimates that based on the number  
of long-term care beds it operates in Ontario, this represents an annual revenue increase of approximately $1.7 million, of which 
approximately $0.3 million is directly allocated to cover food costs, with the remainder available to assist in offsetting inflationary  
cost increases of accommodation.

In addition to the July 1st increase above, the Ontario government announced an accommodation funding enhancement of  
$1.55 per resident per day for the 2009/2010 fiscal year, retroactive to April 1, 2009. This added funding of 3.32% is anticipated to 
provide additional annual revenue to ECI of $2.8 million to assist in enhancing resident services. As a result, ECI’s revenue in the 2009 
third quarter benefitted from this added funding by approximately $1.4 million, of which approximately $0.7 million related to the 2009 
second quarter. At this time there is no indication that this additional funding will continue to be provided beyond April 1, 2010. 

Alberta	Long-term	Care	Legislation	and	funding	
The Alberta government has replaced its nine regional health authority boards, the Alberta Mental Health Board, the Alberta Cancer 
Board and the Alberta Alcohol and Drug Abuse Commission, with a single provincial governance board, the Alberta Health Services 
Board (AHS). AHS has been in transition since May 2008 and was established as a legal entity effective April 1, 2009. AHS, which  
is responsible for the delivery of health services for the entire province, reports directly to the Minister of Health and Wellness.  
We anticipate AHS will be taking a provincial approach to both policy development for long-term care and funding methodologies, 
although it may yet be several months before changes in these two areas emerge.

In Alberta, long-term care providers generally receive annual inflationary rate increases on April 1st and annual CMI funding adjustments 
on July 1st on the government funded portion of the fees. However, the annual CMI adjustment has not been received since 2005, 
because the Alberta government and AHS have been revising the funding methodology for long-term care, including the CMI 
adjustment. AHS has confirmed that a new activity-based funding system for continuing care facilities will commence on April 1, 2010.  
No details for the funding formula have been released as yet, and there has been no collaboration between AHS and continuing care 
providers in the development of the new funding formula. While the new approach will base funding on CMI-type data, there is no 
indication that the overall funding available for long-term care homes would reflect any increase in levels of care that have occurred 
since 2005. 

In August 2009, the Alberta government announced its fiscal 2009/2010 annual inflationary funding increase, retroactive to April 1, 2009, 
representing an average 6.4% rate increase to ECI, or annual revenue of approximately $3.5 million. However, at the same time, the 
government announced plans to implement a 3% cutback in their funding effective December 1, 2009, as part of a deficit elimination 
plan. As a result of the above announcements, the net impact to ECI represents additional annual revenue of approximately $1.9 million. 
We had already accrued for the majority of the anticipated April 1st increase in our 2009 second quarter results, therefore only 
approximately $0.3 million of the funding recognized in the 2009 third quarter related to the previous second quarter. 

The April 1, 2008 weighted average annual inflationary rate increase received by ECI was 12.5%, or approximately $6.3 million of annual 
revenue. A portion of this increase was announced and received in the 2008 fourth quarter, resulting in ECI receiving $1.4 million in the 
fourth quarter, related to the April 1 to September 30, 2008 period. 

In July 2008, the Alberta government announced a 7.23% increase to the long-term care accommodation fee (the portion of fees  
paid by the resident to the nursing center operator) effective November 1, 2008. ECI estimates that this will result in increased annual 
revenue of approximately $1.2 million. 
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Ontario	Home	Care	Legislation	and	funding
ECI is a major private-sector provider of home health care services through ParaMed, which operates in Alberta and Ontario. Ontario  
is ParaMed’s largest market, representing approximately 97% of its revenue. 

On May 1, 2006, the Ontario government announced funding of $117.8 million to improve home care, of which $30.0 million would  
be used to implement recommendations from a comprehensive review (the “Caplan Report”) of the Community Care Access Centre 
Procurement Process. The announcement stated it was the intention of the government to implement 68 of 70 recommendations from 
the Caplan Report, which is intended to improve the procurement model with open and transparent practices, enhance the quality and 
continuity of care, and promote home care workforce stability. A Personal Support Worker Stabilization Strategy resulted in funding that 
was released in November 2006 on a retroactive basis to April 2006. This funding continues to be paid to providers separately until new 
contracts under the request for proposal process are negotiated, at which time the funding will be embedded into the new contractual 
rates. Funds received by ECI were spent on labour-related costs and enhanced field staff travel reimbursements. 

The home health care competitive bidding process was frozen in 2004 as a result of the above study undertaken by the Ontario 
government. Consequently, contracts that were due to expire are being extended until the bidding process resumes, which is expected 
to occur in 2010 with a focus on strengthening accountability and ensuring fairness and transparency. ParaMed had recommended  
the use of public reporting, similar to the long-term care industry, and the government has announced their intention to implement 
public reporting of performance measures, which they are continuing to develop. 

In May 2008, the Ontario government announced a $38.5 million increase in home care personal support and homemaking services 
and enhanced integration between hospitals and Community Care Access Centres (CCACs). This will be used to fund an increase  
in the maximums on hours for personal support and homemaking services by 50% and will remove maximums on personal support and 
homemaking entirely for patients waiting for a long-term care bed or receiving palliative care services at home. ParaMed may benefit 
from this to the extent that it has clients that are eligible for the increased maximums. 

On December 9, 2008, the Government of Ontario announced that it had amended Regulation 285 of the Employment Standards Act 
2000, as a result of Ontario Regulation 423/08, by eliminating the provision that exempted elect-to-work employees from the entitlement 
to public holiday pay beginning January 2, 2009. As the majority of our home care employees are elect to work, this has resulted in an 
added cost for ParaMed of $2.5 million in 2009 and is estimated to amount to approximately $2.9 million in 2010. The Ontario Home 
Care Association, representing its members, has met with the MOHlTC to request reimbursement for these added costs, referencing  
a clause in the CCAC contracts regarding change in applicable law that directly impacts the cost to deliver services. As well, as one of 
the largest home care providers to the CCACs, we have met directly with the MOHlTC to request reimbursement. In January 2010, we 
received requests from the CCACs asking for our costs, and in February 2010, we received acknowledgement from one of the CCACs of 
their intention to reimburse us for our 2009 costs. Should we be successful in obtaining reimbursement from all of the CCACs, we would 
expect to receive $2.1 million of the $2.5 million incurred in 2009, representing the portion related to CCAC contracts. It is uncertain at 
this time what funding might be provided for these ongoing costs in 2010 and beyond. 

Also on December 9, 2008, the Government of Ontario introduced and gave first reading to the Employment Standards Amendment  
Act (Temporary Help Agencies), or Bill 139, which received Royal Assent on May 6, 2009, and becomes effective in November 2009.  
Bill 139, among other things, establishes that temporary employees are covered by the Employment Standards Act thereby providing 
them with entitlements to severance and notice of termination. Currently, Bill 139 does not apply to elect-to-work employees of agencies, 
such as ParaMed, providing services pursuant to contracts with the CCACs. However, we have been informed that it is the government’s 
intent to revoke this exemption on October 1, 2012. Through the Ontario Home Care Association, we will be making submissions that 
support keeping the exemptions. The current impact of Bill 139 on ParaMed’s contracts to parties other than the CCACs is minimal  
and it is too early to determine what impact it may have on our operations in 2012. 
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z  liquidity and caPital resources 

Sources and Uses of Cash 
At December 31, 2009, the REIT had cash and cash equivalents of $134.0 million compared with $123.1 million at December 31, 2008, 
representing an increase of $10.9 million. A cash pledge of $22.4 million in 2009 as collateral against a letter of credit is excluded from 
our available cash balance as at December 31, 2009.

    2009 2008

(thousands of dollars unless otherwise noted)

Cash provided by operating activities, before working capital changes 181,149 95,326
Net change in operating assets and liabilities 3,976 9,816
CASH	pROvided	By	OpeRATiNg	ACTiviTieS 185,125 105,142
Cash used in investing activities (81,647) (57,329)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities (85,770) 26,494
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on U.S. cash held (6,780) 4,543
iNCReASe	iN	CASH	ANd	CASH	eQUivALeNTS 10,928 78,850
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 123,084 44,234
CASH	ANd	CASH	eQUivALeNTS	AT	yeAR	eNd 134,012 123,084

Average US/Canadian dollar exchange rate 1.1420 1.0660

cash provided by operating activities was $185.1 million in 2009 compared to $105.1 million in 2008. This increase reflected the 
improvement in earnings, partially offset by an unfavourable change of $5.8 million in operating assets and liabilities between periods, 
primarily due to an increase in income taxes receivable between periods, partially offset by a favourable change in accounts receivable. 
Accounts receivable improved by $27.3 million in 2009 compared to a use of cash of $13.0 million in 2008, primarily due to improved 
collections and the receipt in January 2009 of the $8.7 million (US$7.0 million) return premium, which was associated with the 2008 
exercising of our option to commute our reinsurance coverage for the three-year period covering 2005 to 2007. Income taxes reflected 
use of cash of $36.5 million in 2009 compared to a source of cash of $6.4 million during 2008. This net change was primarily due  
to the tax changes made in tax depreciation and other year-end tax adjustments that resulted in a receivable balance at year end that  
will reduce our U.S. tax instalments during 2010.

cash used in investing activities was $81.6 million in 2009 compared to $57.3 million in 2008 and primarily reflected expenditures  
for property and equipment, net of proceeds on disposal of assets. 

Growth capital expenditures, excluding acquisitions, were $55.6 million in 2009 compared to $39.2 million in 2008, and related to  
the construction of new beds, building improvements or capital costs aimed at earnings growth. Maintenance capital expenditures, 
which are the capital costs to sustain and upgrade existing property and equipment assets, were $36.0 million in 2009 compared  
to $28.3 million in 2008, representing 1.7% and 1.4% of revenue, respectively. These costs fluctuate on a quarterly basis with the timing  
of projects and seasonality. Certain 2008 planned projects that commenced last year were carried over to 2009. It is our intention  
to expend between 1.5% and 2.0% of revenue annually on maintenance capital expenditures, which is consistent with our objective  
to maintain and upgrade our centers. We are expecting to spend approximately $35.0 million in facility maintenance capital 
expenditures and $55.0 million in growth capital expenditures in 2010. 

    2009 2008

(thousands of dollars unless otherwise noted)

CApiTAL	AddiTiONS  
Growth expenditures 55,574 39,184
Facility maintenance 36,020 28,350
CONSOLidATed	RepORTed 91,594 67,534

Average US/Canadian dollar exchange rate 1.1420 1.0660

There were no acquisitions during 2009. Acquisition costs, net of cash acquired and debt assumed, were $17.0 million in 2008, which related 
to the purchase of three nursing homes in Manitoba (304 beds). Refer to “Significant Developments – Acquisitions” for more information. 

Net proceeds from dispositions of $10.0 million in 2009 and $20.9 million in 2008 related to the disposal of U.S. centers held for sale 
(see “Significant Developments – Discontinued Operations”). 
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cash used in financing activities was $85.8 million in 2009 compared to cash provided by financing activities of $26.5 million in 2008. 
Financing activities in 2009 primarily reflected the payment of distributions of $60.1 million, the use of cash of $22.4 million to secure  
a letter of credit obligation, thereby restricting the cash, the purchase of securities for cancellation under our normal course issuer  
bid of $6.2 million, and scheduled debt repayments, partially offset by the issuance of debt. The financing activities in 2008 primarily 
reflected net proceeds of $120.6 million from the issuance of the 2013 Debentures and REIT Units in June 2008, partially offset  
by the payment of distributions of $77.7 million. For information on the change in long-term debt, refer to “liquidity and Capital 
Resources – long-term Debt”.

Reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to DI and AFFO 
The following table provides a reconciliation of the cash provided by operating activities to DI and AFFO for 2009 and 2008.(1)

	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 year

(millions of dollars) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

CASH	pROvided	By		
	 OpeRATiNg	ACTiviTieS 36.9 12.0 34.4 6.7 62.0 40.1 51.8 46.3 185.1 105.1
Add	(dedUCT):          
Net change in operating  
 assets and liabilities (5.0) 9.8 3.0 11.5	 (19.9) (12.2) 17.9 (18.9)	 (4.0) (9.8)
Current tax on gain/loss  
 from derivatives, foreign  
 exchange, asset impairment,  
 disposals and other items 1.7 0.1 (0.5) (1.3) 0.1 0.4 0.3 3.5 1.6 2.7
Net provisions and payments  
 for self-insured liabilities (2.2) 0.3 (0.5) 6.9 (3.4) (2.1) 3.4 2.6 (2.7) 7.7
Depreciation for FFEC (6.1) (4.2) (6.0) (4.6) (5.7) (4.8) (5.6) (5.8) (23.4) (19.4)
Principal portion of government  
 capital funding payments 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.5 2.3 2.1
Other (0.3) 0.3 0.5 –− (0.4) (0.2) −– (0.8) (0.2) (0.7)
di   25.6 18.8 31.4 19.8 33.3 21.7 68.4 27.4 158.7 87.7
Additional facility maintenance  
 capital expenditures(2) (1.2) (0.4) (2.0) (3.1) (2.6) (1.7) (6.8) (3.7) (12.6) (8.9)
AffO 24.4 18.4 29.4 16.7 30.7 20.0 61.6 23.7 146.1 78.8

(1)  “di” and “affo” are not recognized measures under gaaP and do not have a standardized meaning PrescriBed By gaaP. refer to the discussion  
of non-gaaP measures.

(2)  rePresents total facility maintenance caPital exPenditures less dePreciation for furniture, fixtures, equiPment and comPuters (ffec) already 
deducted in determining di.

Capital Structure 

    2009 2008

(millions of dollars unless otherwise noted)

UNiTHOLdeRS’	defiCieNCy  
REIT and Exchangeable lP units 345.5 346.9
Equity component of convertible debentures 9.9 10.0
Contributed surplus 0.1 0.6
    355.5 357.5
Accumulated deficit at beginning of year (410.4) (343.1)
Net earnings for the period 77.7 13.4
Purchase of securities for cancellation in excess of book value and other (1.4) (0.1)
Distributions declared (61.3) (80.6)
Accumulated deficit at end of year (395.4) (410.4)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (1.0) 23.4
UNiTHOLdeRS’	defiCieNCy (40.9) (29.5)

US/Canadian dollar exchange rate (at year end) 1.0510 1.2180
UNiT	iNfORmATiON (thousands) feb.	28,	2010	 dec.	31,	2009 Dec. 31, 2008 
REIT Units (TSx symbol: ExE.UN)(1) 79,200.7	 69,897.0 70,162.2 
Exchangeable lP Units 3,267.3	 3,283.0 3,410.2 
    82,468.0	 73,180.0 73,572.4 

(1) closing market value Per the tsx on feBruary 26, 2010, was $9.77.
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The closing rates used to translate assets and liabilities of the U.S. operations were 1.0510 at December 31, 2009 and 1.2180 at 
December 31, 2008. As a result of the stronger Canadian dollar at the end of 2009, the assets of the REIT’s U.S. operations decreased  
by approximately $187.6 million, partially offset by a reduction in the liabilities by approximately $161.8 million, with the net change in 
foreign currency translation of $25.8 million included in accumulated other comprehensive income. Every one cent increase (decrease) 
in the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would impact the net assets of our U.S. operations by approximately $1.7 million, and would 
be reflected as a change in foreign currency translation adjustments in accumulated other comprehensive income. 

distriButions 
In 2009, we generated DI of $158.7 million and AFFO of $146.1 million and declared monthly distributions of $0.07 per unit to holders of 
REIT Units and Exchangeable lP Units totalling $61.3 million that were paid out from February 16, 2009 to January 15, 2010. The portion 
paid in cash was $58.5 million and $2.8 million was paid by way of issued units under a distribution reinvestment plan to holders of REIT 
Units and Exchangeable lP Units. A total of 488,106 units were issued in 2009 through the distribution reinvestment plan.

During 2008 monthly distributions of $0.0925 were declared totalling $80.6 million, of which $78.0 million was paid in cash and  
$2.6 million by way of issued units under a distribution reinvestment plan. A total of 361,096 units were issued during 2008 through  
the distribution reinvestment plan. 

There are a number of factors that affect the quarterly funds generated for distribution that our Board of Trustees takes into 
consideration in determining the monthly distributions for the year. Factors affecting quarterly trends in earnings are discussed under 
the headings “Summary of Results” and “2009 Financial Review”. 

Our current policy is to pay distributions of $0.07 per REIT Unit and Exchangeable lP Unit, respectively, to the holders thereof  
on a monthly basis. As was the case in 2009, we estimate that approximately 70% of our 2010 distributions will be tax deferred returns  
of capital to Canadian residents.

The declaration and payment of future distributions is subject to the discretion of our Board of Trustees and will be dependent upon  
a number of factors including results of operations, requirements for capital expenditures and working capital, future financial prospects 
of the REIT, debt covenants and obligations, and any other factors deemed relevant by the Board of Trustees. If our Board of Trustees 
determines that it would be in the REIT’s best interests, they may reduce, for any period, the percentage of Distributable Income to be 
distributed to REIT unitholders, which will result in corresponding reductions in distributions on Exchangeable lP Units.

normal course issuer Bid 
In January 2010, the REIT received approval of the TSx to renew its normal course issuer bid (the “2010 Bid”), to purchase for 
cancellation up to 6.9 million REIT Units, $11.4 million aggregate principal amount of its convertible debentures due in 2014 (the  
“2014 Debentures”), and $9.2 million aggregate principal amount of its convertible debentures due in 2013 (the “2013 Debentures”), 
representing in each case approximately 10% of the public float of the outstanding securities at December 31, 2009. The 2010 Bid 
provides the REIT with flexibility to repurchase securities for cancellation until January 6, 2011.

During 2009, under a similar normal course issuer bid that expired on December 28, 2009, the REIT acquired for cancellation  
0.9 million REIT Units at a cost of $5.3 million, $1.1 million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Debentures at a cost of $0.7 million 
and $0.2 million aggregate principal amount of the 2013 Debentures at a cost of $158,500.

long-term deBt 
long-term debt, including current portion, was $1,234.0 million at December 31, 2009, and was net of $18.6 million of financing costs. 
Details on the components, terms and conditions of long-term debt are provided in note 8 of the 2009 consolidated financial statements.  
The REIT and its subsidiaries are in compliance with all of their respective financial covenants as of December 31, 2009. 
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The following summarizes the changes in the carrying amounts of long-term debt as at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

 Continuity	of	Long-term	Debt	 2009 2008

(millions of dollars)

LONg-TeRm	deBT	AT	BegiNNiNg	Of	yeAR,	pRiOR	TO	eQUiTy	ALLOCATiON	ANd	fiNANCiNg	COSTS 1,372.6 1,100.5
Issue of long-term debt  
  Mortgages 2.9 27.3
  Construction financing 17.3 –
  2013 Debentures at face value, 7.25% – 92.0
  Sovereign loans, variable rate – 51.4
  Other – 1.1
Issue on the EHSI Credit Facility 14.3 1.1
Increase (decrease) in capital lease obligations(1) (5.0) 9.4
Repayment of long-term debt (22.3) (81.3)
Purchase of convertible debentures for cancellation under NCIB (1.2) –
Debt assumed/issued on acquisitions – Manitoba mortgages, 5.75% – 9.4
Change due to year-end foreign exchange rate (118.6) 161.7
    1,260.0 1,372.6
Equity portion of convertible debentures at end of year (7.4) (8.9)
Financing costs at end of year(1) (18.6) (30.9)
LONg-TeRm	deBT	AT	eNd	Of	yeAR 1,234.0 1,332.8
less: current portion (28.5) (42.2)
    1,205.5 1,290.6

(1)  the 2009 activity includes the reversal in march of the Provision for gst Previously recorded in the 2008 second quarter affecting the Balance of 
caPital lease oBligations with an offset to the financing costs, uPon confirmation from the cra of aPPlication of new legislation (see “significant 
develoPments – canadian gst on long-term residential care centers”).

Credit	Rating	
Moody’s Investor Services Inc. (Moody’s) has assigned the REIT a Corporate Family Rating of “B1” with a “stable” outlook. The “stable” 
rating outlook means that the rating is not likely to change. A “B” rating is considered speculative and subject to high credit risk. Moody’s 
applies numerical modifiers 1, 2 and 3 in each rating classification, and the modifier “1” indicates that the security ranks in the higher 
end of its generic rating category. 

Moody’s Corporate Family Ratings are generally employed for speculative grade corporate issuers. A Corporate Family Rating is an 
opinion of a corporate family’s ability to honour all of its financial obligations and is assigned to a corporate family as if it had a single 
class of debt and a single consolidated legal entity structure. 

A Corporate Family Rating does not reference an obligation or class of debt and thus does not reflect priority of claim. It applies to  
all affiliates under the management control of the entity to which it is assigned. Moody’s employs the general long-term rating scale  
for Corporate Family Ratings. 

The ratings accorded to the REIT are not recommendations to purchase, hold or sell the REIT’s securities. There can be no assurance 
that any rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that any rating will not be withdrawn or revised by a rating agency  
at any time. 

interest	Rates	and	Aggregate	debt	maturities	
In order to meet the REIT’s monthly distributions, management has limited the amount of debt that may be subject to changes in  
interest rates. As a result, all but $94.1 million of our long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2009, excluding financing costs and 
equity allocation, was at fixed rates. The variable-rate debt related to the Sovereign loans of US$49.5 million, the US$23.5 million drawn  
on EHSI’s Credit Facility and $17.3 million drawn on the Red Deer construction financing. The weighted average interest rate of our 
long-term debt was approximately 6.6% at December 31, 2009 (6.7% at December 31, 2008). The weighted average interest rate of  
our long-term debt at December 31, 2009, for our Canadian and U.S. operations was 6.8% and 6.5%, respectively, compared to 7.2%  
and 6.4%, at December 31, 2008, respectively. The weighted average term to maturity of our long-term debt, including capital lease 
obligations, was 4.3 years as at December 31, 2009 (7.2 years for our Canadian operations and 2.3 years for our U.S. operations). 
Excluding our capital lease obligations, the weighted average term to maturity of our long-term debt was 2.9 years (4.0 years for  
our Canadian operations and 2.3 years for our U.S. operations).
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The following table presents principal, or notional, amounts and related weighted average interest rates by year of maturity for  
the REIT’s debt obligations as of December 31, 2009. It incorporates only exposures that existed at that date and does not consider 
exposures, or positions that could arise subsequently, or future interest rate movements. As a result, the information has limited 
predictive value. The ultimate results with respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on the exposures that occur, hedging 
strategies at the time and interest rate movements. 

        	 After	 	 fair
    2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 2014	 Total	 value

(millions of dollars unless otherwise noted)

CANAdiAN	OpeRATiONS
Convertible debentures (at face value)
  Fixed rate – – – 91.8 113.9 – 205.7 207.5
  Average interest rate – – – 7.25% 5.70% – 6.39%  
long-term debt
  Fixed rate 7.9 8.5 9.2 107.8 8.0 25.8 167.2 178.2
  Average interest rate 7.80% 7.86% 7.92% 8.40% 3.73% 4.66% 7.52% 
  variable rate – 17.3 – – – – 17.3 17.3
  Average interest rate – 1.86% – – – – 1.86% 
Capital lease obligations        
  Fixed rate 3.7 3.9 4.2 4.5 4.9 101.1 122.3 123.6
  Average interest rate 7.08% 7.08% 7.08% 7.08% 7.08% 7.08% 7.08% 
UNiTed	STATeS	OpeRATiONS(1)

long-term debt
  Fixed rate 22.5 524.1 96.3 5.9 1.8 16.4 667.0 671.6
  Average interest rate 6.73% 6.66% 6.81% 7.07% 6.00% 6.00% 6.67% 
  variable rate 1.1 75.7 – −– −– –− 76.8 75.1
  Average interest rate 3.75% 4.65% −– −– –− −– 4.64% 
Capital lease obligations        
  Fixed rate 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.3 3.7 3.7
  Average interest rate 5.89% 6.06% 5.95% 5.91% 5.86% 5.78% 5.92% 
(1) u.s. dollar denominated deBt is translated at 1.0510 to canadian dollars.

debt	to	Adjusted	gross	Book	value	(AgBv)	
Extendicare REIT’s financial position continues to be strong, with long-term debt (at face value and including current portion) 
representing 44.2% of AGBv at December 31, 2009, and excluding the convertible debentures, debt to AGBv was 37.0%. 

AGBv is defined in the REIT’s Deed of Trust, and in general is determined by taking total reported assets at a period in time, adding back 
accumulated depreciation and amortization and making a one-time adjustment for incremental value of the assets at the effective date 
of the Arrangement. The calculations as at December 31, 2009 and 2008, are indicated in the following table.

    2009 2008

(millions of dollars unless otherwise noted)

LONg-TeRm	deBT(1)

Debt  1,054.3 1,165.6
Convertible debentures (face value) 205.7 207.0
    1,260.0 1,372.6

AgBv  
Total assets 1,668.1 1,806.0
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 509.6 512.0
Incremental value 675.0 675.0
    2,852.7 2,993.0

LONg-TeRm	deBT	TO	AgBv  
Excluding convertible debentures 37.0% 38.9%
Including convertible debentures 44.2% 45.9%
(1) long-term deBt includes current Portion and excludes financing costs.
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other contractual oBligations 
The table below provides summary information about the contractual obligations at December 31, 2009, other than long-term debt 
which was discussed previously. The table also excludes self-insured liabilities and conditional asset retirement obligations, totalling 
$43.9 million and $24.8 million as of December 31, 2009, respectively, due to the uncertainty as to the timing of payments to be made 
under these obligations.

The contractual obligations table also excludes our defined benefit pension plan obligations, none of which had funding requirements  
as at December 31, 2009. The accrued benefit liability on our balance sheet as at December 31, 2009, was $24.4 million (December 31, 
2008 – $24.9 million). We currently have defined benefit registered and supplementary plans covering certain executives, both of which 
have been closed to new entrants since 2000. The registered defined benefit plan was fully funded with plan assets of $6.1 million and 
accrued benefit obligations of $6.3 million as at December 31, 2009 (December 31, 2008 – $6.2 million and $5.9 million, respectively). 
We do not set aside assets in connection with the supplementary plan and the benefit payments will be paid from cash from operations. 
The benefit obligations under the supplementary plan are secured by letters of credit totalling $44.5 million as at December 31, 2009. 
The expected annual benefit payments under the supplementary pension plan that will be funded from cash from operations over the 
next five years range between $2.1 million and $2.2 million. Since the majority of our accrued benefit obligations represent our obligation 
under our non-registered supplementary plan, which is not required to be funded, the recent capital market turmoil is not expected to 
have a material effect on our cash flow requirements with respect to our pension obligations, or our pension expense. 

           After
    Total	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 2014

(millions of dollars)

CANAdiAN	SUBSidiARy	OpeRATiONS
Operating lease obligations 9.4 1.8 1.6 1.0 0.8 0.7 3.5
Purchase obligations 30.8 27.9 2.9− –− –− –− –−
UNiTed	STATeS	SUBSidiARy	OpeRATiONS(1)

Operating lease obligations 55.5 8.2 6.4 5.9 5.0 4.7 25.3
Purchase obligations 13.1 13.1 – −– −– −– −–
(1) u.s. dollar denominated oBligations are translated to canadian dollars at a rate of 1.0510.

In addition to the operating lease amounts identified in the table above, EHSI remains party to AlC’s master leases with lTC Properties 
following the Arrangement. For further details on these commitments, refer to “Off-balance Sheet Arrangements”.

In June 2009, EHSI entered into an operating lease agreement that commences upon completion of a new skilled nursing center  
(100 beds) in South Bend, Indiana, which is expected to open by the end of 2010. Annual lease payments will be US$1.0 million in  
the first year and US$1.1 million for each of the next nine years. EHSI has three optional renewal periods for 10 years each with lease 
payments to be determined at fair market value. 

accrual for self-insured liaBilities 
At December 31, 2009, the accrual for self-insured general and professional liabilities was $43.9 million compared to $50.4 million at the 
beginning of the year. The current period provision, net of claims payments, increased the balance of the accrual by $2.7 million, and the 
stronger Canadian dollar decreased the balance by $6.9 million. The balance of the decline was due to a $2.3 million (US$2.2 million) 
payment to the former shareholders of lTC Professional, in accordance with the acquisition agreement. The accrual for self-insured 
liabilities includes estimates of the costs of both reported claims and claims incurred but not yet reported. Provisions recorded in 2009 
and 2008 for potential general and professional liability claims were $22.0 million and $20.5 million, respectively. Payments for  
self-insured liabilities during the same periods were $19.3 million and $28.2 million, respectively.

Following our usual practice of completing an interim independent actuarial review of our resident care liabilities during the 2009 third 
quarter, we decided to strengthen the level of our reserves by US$3.2 million this quarter. Similarly in the 2008 third quarter following the 
completion of the interim actuarial review, we increased our reserves by US$5.5 million. An independent actuarial review was completed 
as part of the year-end financial reporting process, which confirmed the adequacy of the balance of the reserves for resident care 
liability claims as at December 31, 2009.

Management estimates that $11.3 million of the accrual for self-insured general and professional liabilities will be paid within the next 
year. The timing of payments is not directly in management’s control and therefore, estimates could change in the future. Management 
believes sufficient reserves have been provided as of December 31, 2009, for estimated costs of self-insured liabilities.
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We invest funds to support the accrual for self-insured liabilities. These funds are reported in other assets and totalled $65.3 million  
at December 31, 2009, compared to $67.5 million at December 31, 2008. Most of the risks that Extendicare self-insures are long-term  
in nature and accordingly, claims payments for any particular policy year occur over a long period of time. Management believes there 
are sufficient cash resources to meet estimated current claims payment obligations.

sPecified contingent claims against crown life 
Under the Crown life share sale agreement with The Canada life Assurance Company (Canada life) dated June 8, 2007, Extendicare 
remains responsible for specified contingent claims against Crown life of up to $15.4 million, for which Extendicare has delivered letters 
of credit to Crown life in support of the claims. Depending on the type of contingent claim, the letters of credit have various terms 
ranging from 5 to 15 years. During 2009, settlement was reached on one of the claims below the amount accrued for this particular 
claim, resulting in the release of $0.5 million of the provision. As at December 31, 2009, management estimates that Extendicare’s 
remaining aggregate liability for such claims will not exceed $5.6 million, and has recorded a provision for this amount in other long-term 
liabilities on the balance sheet. Management assessment of the provision is based on past trends and information received from an 
independent actuary. 

Future Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Management is confident that cash from operating activities, together with available bank credit facilities, will be sufficient to meet the 
REIT’s current requirements to support ongoing operations, facility maintenance capital expenditures, and debt repayment obligations. 
The REIT structure necessitates raising funds through debt financings and the capital markets to fund strategic acquisitions and growth 
capital expenditures. 

We successfully completed financings and/or issued securities in June 2007, June 2008 and February 2010. The proceeds from  
the 2007 and 2008 offerings were raised to fund our acquisitions, and planned growth capital expenditures and development  
projects. The 2010 equity offering proceeds were raised to reduce our level of long-term debt and plan for our U.S. debt refinancings  
in 2011/2012. Given the current economic conditions, we continue to be prudent to ensure we meet our future operational and  
capital commitments and prepare for our 2011/2012 debt refinancings. At December 31, 2009, our U.S. operations had cash on hand  
of US$54.5 million and US$42.8 million available under the EHSI Credit Facility and our Canadian operations had cash on hand of  
$76.7 million and available bank lines of $9.9 million. Subsequent to the February 4, 2010 public equity offering of 9,228,750 units,  
we raised net proceeds of $82.8 million. 

We have no significant debt maturities until 2011, when in the United States our US$49.5 million Sovereign loans and US$499.4 million 
in CMBS financings mature in the second and fourth quarters, respectively, followed by our US$89.0 million in CMBS financings 
maturing in March 2012. The EHSI Credit Facility matures in June 2011 and has an option to extend for a third year to June 2012 upon 
satisfaction of certain conditions. We recognize the significant risks associated with the refinancing of the 2011/2012 debt and have 
already explored alternative options and commenced actions to refinance this debt. Refer to the discussions under the headings “Global 
Economic Environment” and “Impact of the Current Economy on the REIT”, under the “Overview – Investment Overview” section of this 
MD&A, and note 20 of the 2009 consolidated financial results. In Canada, the majority of our mortgages are CMHC backed, with no 
significant maturities until 2013. 

We are expecting to spend approximately $35.0 million in facility maintenance capital expenditures and approximately $55.0 million in 
growth capital expenditures in 2010. At December 31, 2009, EHSI had outstanding capital expenditure commitments of US$12.5 million, 
and ECI had outstanding capital expenditure commitments of $30.8 million related to its construction projects.

z  related Party transactions

In October 2007, EHSI completed the acquisition of Tendercare a privately owned operator of senior care centers in the State of  
Michigan, which was comprised of 29 skilled nursing centers and one inpatient rehabilitation hospital, for a total of 3,301 operational 
beds. The total consideration of the acquisition was $225.0 million (US$238.2 million), and was comprised of the assumption of debt  
of US$76.4 million, the issuance of US$26.4 million of 7.5% notes, a portion of which was payable based on certain factors being met,  
and US$135.4 million in cash. EHSI paid US$5.4 million of the notes in January 2008 and a further US$5.0 million in March 2009, upon 
satisfaction of certain factors being met. The remaining notes of US$16.0 million are payable commencing in 2010 at US$4.0 million  
per annum until maturity in 2013. Under the terms of the agreement, the balance of acquired working capital is subject to adjustment 
based upon finalization of the assets subsequently received and liabilities subsequently incurred. The adjustments will occur annually 
over a four-year period until January 2012. In April 2009, we made a payment of US$1.7 million pursuant to the annual closing statement 
adjustments. In addition, in connection with the acquisition of lTC Professional, Tendercare’s affiliated insurance company, ECI made  
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a payment of US$2.2 million pursuant to the annual closing statement adjustments that continue until 2012. For further information  
on the acquisition of lTC Professional, refer to the discussion under the heading “liquidity and Capital Resources – Accrual for 
Self-insured liabilities”.

On April 7, 2008, Tim lukenda, the former President of Tendercare was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of Extendicare 
REIT. Prior to its acquisition by EHSI, Mr. lukenda owned an approximate 4.6% direct and indirect interest in Tendercare and received, 
directly or indirectly, on completion of the acquisition of Tendercare an equivalent percentage of the consideration paid by EHSI.  
As part of Mr. lukenda’s terms of employment, the employment contract provides a mechanism and process that effectively removes 
Mr. lukenda from the decision-making process in situations where a conflict of interest may arise on any matter between Extendicare 
REIT and his previous employer, or with respect to any financial interest that Mr. lukenda or his family have with Extendicare REIT and its 
subsidiaries. As part of the acquisition of Tendercare, in addition to normal representative and warranty provisions, EHSI has to agree on 
any adjustments to the final purchase price, before making any payments to Mr. lukenda or his family. EHSI and ECI also provide certain 
services to three long-term care centers that are owned or partially owned by members of Mr. lukenda’s immediate family. 

In September 2009, EHSI entered into an agreement with the company controlled by the former shareholders of Tendercare that 
includes a partial interest of Mr. lukenda and his immediate family. The company owns a 120-bed nursing facility in lansing, Michigan 
that under the terms of the agreement, upon renovation and certification of the facility, EHSI will enter into a 10-year lease for  
US$0.4 million per annum. The renovation is anticipated to be completed by the 2010 third quarter.

z  off-Balance sheet arrangements

Both AlC and EHSI are the lessees under lease agreements with lTC (the “lTC Master leases”), which cover 37 assisted living 
properties operated by AlC. lTC declined to remove EHSI as a party to the leases following the distribution of AlC. Therefore,  
EHSI continues to be bound by the terms of the leases, while only AlC has a financial interest in the leased properties. Pursuant  
to a separation agreement entered into between Extendicare Inc. and AlC (the “Separation Agreement”), AlC has indemnified EHSI 
against any claims arising as a result of AlC’s non-performance relating to the lTC Master leases. EHSI, being a party to the lTC Master 
lease, has to approve any renewal options being exercised.

The lTC Master leases provide for an initial 10-year term and three successive 10-year lease terms at the option of the lessee.  
There are no significant economic penalties if the renewal options are not exercised. The aggregate minimum rental payment for the 
2009 calendar year was approximately US$10.9 million and will increase by 2% for each of the calendar years through 2014. Annual 
minimum rent during any renewal term will increase by a minimum of 2% over the minimum rent of the immediately preceding year. 

EHSI is a guarantor of a lease arrangement between AlC with Health Care Property Investors, Inc. (HCPI) for nine properties with  
an annual lease obligation of approximately US$2.6 million that expires on April 30, 2012. AlC is obligated to obtain EHSI’s consent  
to any modification or extension of the HCPI leases beyond their initial term and AlC has not requested any such consent.

z  risks and uncertainties 

General Business Risks 
Extendicare REIT is subject to general business risks inherent in the long-term care industry, including changing consumer preferences, 
fluctuations in occupancy levels, the inability to achieve profitable patient/residency fees (including anticipated increases in such fees), 
increases in labour costs and other operating costs, possible future changes in labour relations, competition from or the oversupply  
of other similar properties, changes in neighbourhood or location conditions and general economic conditions, health related risks, 
disease outbreaks and control risks, the imposition of increased taxes or new taxes, capital expenditure requirements, changes in 
interest rates, and changes in the availability and cost of long-term financing, which may render refinancing of mortgages difficult or 
unattractive. Moreover, there is no assurance that the occupancy levels achieved to date and expected in the future will continue or be 
achieved. Any one of, or a combination of, these factors may adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial condition 
of the REIT. 

Capital Intensive Industry 
The ability of the REIT and its subsidiaries to maintain and enhance their senior care facilities in a suitable condition to meet regulatory 
standards, operate efficiently and remain competitive in its markets will require the REIT to commit a substantial portion of cash to 
physical facilities and equipment. Certain of the competitors of the REIT may operate facilities that are not as old as those owned by  
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the REIT, or that may appear more modern, and therefore may be attractive to potential patients and residents. Significant future capital 
requirements could have a material adverse effect on the business, operating results and financial condition of the REIT. It is the REIT’s 
intention to expend between 1.5% and 2% of revenue annually, which is consistent with its objective to maintain and upgrade its facilities. 

Debt Financing 
A portion of the consolidated cash flow of the REIT and its subsidiaries will be devoted to servicing debt, and there can be no assurance 
that the REIT will continue to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to meet required interest and principal payments. If the REIT 
were unable to meet interest or principal payments, it could be required to seek renegotiation of such payments or obtain additional 
equity, debt or other financing. 

The REIT has no significant debt maturities until 2011 and 2012, when its US$49.5 million Sovereign loans and aggregate  
US$588.4 million of CMBS financing mature. In addition, its US$70.0 million EHSI Credit Facility matures in June 2011 which,  
subject to lender approval, can be extended for one additional year. 

Extendicare’s RBC Credit Facility ($70.0 million of working capital and US$18.2 million letter of credit facility) is due on demand  
and is primarily used to back letters of credit that renew annually. The availability under the working capital line was $9.9 million  
at December 31, 2009, with letters of credit of $60.1 million and US$18.2 million issued.

Recent global events and regulatory developments in the nursing home industry in the United States could pose risks to the REIT’s 
ability to finance and refinance such debt and/or result in a higher cost of borrowing. The REIT cannot predict whether future financing 
will be available, what the terms of such future financing will be or whether its existing debt agreements will allow for the timely 
arrangement and implementation of such future financing. If the REIT cannot obtain additional financing or refinancing when needed  
or on satisfactory terms, it could have a material adverse effect on the trading prices of the securities of the REIT or the operations, 
results of operations, financial performance or results of the REIT.

Refer to the discussions under the headings “Global Economic Environment” and “Impact of the Current Economy on the REIT”,  
under the “Overview – Investment Overview” section of this MD&A, and note 20 of the 2009 consolidated financial results.

Debt Covenants 
The REIT and its subsidiaries are in compliance with all of their respective financial covenants as of December 31, 2009. However,  
there can be no assurance that future covenant requirements will be met. EHSI’s bank lines may be affected by its ability to remain  
in compliance. If EHSI does not remain in compliance, its ability to amend the covenants or refinance its debt can be affected.

Credit and Interest Rates 
The REIT assesses interest rate and foreign currency cash flow risk by continually identifying and monitoring changes in interest  
rate and foreign currency exposures that may adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities.  
The REIT maintains risk management control systems to monitor interest rate and foreign currency cash flow risk attributable to its 
outstanding or forecasted debt obligations as well as its offsetting hedge positions. 

In order to meet its monthly distributions, the REIT has limited the amount of debt that may be subject to changes in interest rates.  
As a result, all but $94.1 million of the REIT’s total long-term debt outstanding of $1,260.0 million at December 31, 2009, excluding 
financing costs and equity allocation, was at fixed rates. The REIT does not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative 
purposes. The perceived creditworthiness of the REIT may affect the market price or value and the liquidity of the REIT Units.

Foreign Currency Rate Fluctuations 
The majority of the REIT’s operations are conducted in the United States and the financial position and results are denominated in U.S. 
dollars. Our U.S. operations accounted for 70.3% of our total revenue in 2009. Our U.S. operations are self-sustaining and their revenues 
and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange in effect during the period. Assets and liabilities are translated at the 
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. As a result, the REIT’s financial position is subject to foreign currency fluctuation  
risk, which could adversely impact its operating results and its cash flows. 

The translation effect of the strengthening of the Canadian dollar on the REIT’s earnings for 2009 is summarized under the heading “Impact 
of U.S. Dollar and Foreign Currency Translation”. U.S. continuing operations reported net earnings of US$54.8 million for 2009. Every 
 one cent increase (decrease) in the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would impact these earnings by $0.5 million, respectively.  
A similar change in the Canadian dollar would decrease (increase) the net assets of the U.S. operations by approximately $1.7 million, 
and would be reflected as a change in foreign currency translation adjustments in accumulated other comprehensive income.
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As well, since the distributions to holders of REIT Units and Exchangeable lP Units are denominated in Canadian dollars, the cash 
available for distribution could be adversely impacted. To partly minimize this risk, EHSI has entered into forward contracts to acquire 
Canadian dollars for US$4.0 million on a monthly basis to June 2011 (refer to the discussion under the heading “Impact of U.S. Dollar 
and Foreign Currency Translation – Impact of Foreign Currency Forward Contract Strategy on Distributions”). These FCFCs are not 
designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes and, therefore, future fair value adjustments on these derivatives will be 
reflected through the statement of earnings. As of December 31, 2009, the fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts was a 
liability of $0.3 million (US$0.3 million) compared to $13.9 million (US$11.4 million) at December 31, 2008. There can be no assurance 
that the foreign currency contracts that Extendicare has put in place will be sufficient to protect against currency exchange rate losses.

Capital Investment and Continued Growth 
Given the current economic conditions, and management’s plans to conserve capital, we are not actively seeking acquisition 
opportunities at this time. However, we expect that there will be opportunities to acquire properties or expand existing facilities that  
will be accretive and enable the REIT to increase cash flow to its unitholders, but there can be no assurance that this will be the case. 
Furthermore, as the intention of the REIT is to pay out a substantial proportion of Distributable Income, the ability of the REIT to fund 
growth will be dependent on external sources of funding. There can be no assurance that sufficient capital will be available on 
acceptable terms to the REIT for necessary or desirable capital expenditures or that the amount required will be the same as currently 
estimated. lack of availability of such funds could limit the future growth of the REIT.

Distributable Income may be dependent upon the ability of Extendicare to fund a portion of its capital expenditures and working capital 
with cash generated from operations. As well, the timing and amount of capital expenditures by the REIT will directly affect the amount  
of cash available for distribution to its unitholders. Distributions may be reduced, or even eliminated, at times when the Board of Trustees 
deems it necessary to make significant capital or other expenditures.

Canadian Federal Income Tax on Income Trusts 
Extendicare REIT is subject to SIFT tax effective January 1, 2007, under Bill C-52, which received Royal Assent on June 22, 2007. The SIFT 
Amendments, as described under the heading “Canadian SIFT and U.S. REIT Income Tax Updates – Canada – Canadian Federal Income 
Tax on Income Trusts” under the “Significant Developments” section of this MD&A, include revisions to the definitions of “SIFT trust” and 
“SIFT partnership” to specifically exclude certain trusts and partnerships that are wholly owned by a SIFT. The SIFT Amendments do not 
change the status of Extendicare REIT as a SIFT, although they confirm that Extendicare Trust, which is wholly owned by Extendicare 
REIT, is not a SIFT. Management has assessed the impact of the SIFT Amendments on Extendicare lP and has concluded that 
Extendicare lP should not be treated as a SIFT, but there can be no assurance that this will be the case.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Status of the REIT 
Extendicare REIT elected to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and indicated that it intended to manage  
its affairs so that it would be treated as a non-taxable entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The outcome of Canada’s Bill C-52 to tax 
income trusts, and the responses of the REIT to such outcome, could result in management’s reassessment of the benefits of the REIT’s 
status for U.S. tax purposes. As such, there can be no assurance that the REIT will maintain its partnership status for U.S. tax purposes.

Future Tax Assets and Liabilities 
The REIT and its subsidiaries use the liability method, which takes into account the differences between financial statement treatment 
and tax treatment of certain transactions, assets and liabilities. A financial statement benefit for tax losses and other deferred tax assets 
based on future anticipated taxable earnings has been recognized. As at December 31, 2009, a valuation allowance of $17.1 million 
(2008 – $18.1 million) was recorded primarily against land and capital losses.

Indemnification Obligations between ALC and Extendicare 
In connection with the distribution of AlC, Extendicare and AlC entered into the Separation Agreement, a Tax Allocation Agreement,  
a number of transitional services agreements, and a number of operating lease and purchase agreements relating to the transfer of 
EHSI’s assisted living centers to AlC. 

Pursuant to the Separation Agreement, AlC will indemnify, defend and hold harmless and will pay or reimburse Extendicare, each of its 
affiliates, including any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries, each of its directors, officers and employees, or any of its investment bankers, 
attorneys or other advisors or representatives, for all identifiable losses, as incurred, to the extent relating to or arising from: 

• AlC’s assisted living care business, any assets transferred to AlC by Extendicare, or any of the liabilities that AlC assumes as part  
of the separation, other than any pre-transfer liabilities related to the 29 assisted living centers transferred by EHSI to AlC;
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• any untrue or allegedly untrue statement of a material fact contained in any filing AlC makes with the United States Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) or a Canadian Securities Administrator, or any omission to state therein a material fact required to be 
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and relating to information, statements, facts or omissions 
relating to AlC, its subsidiaries or its business;

• the breach by AlC or its subsidiaries of any agreement or covenant contained in any transaction agreement which is to be performed 
or complied with by AlC or its subsidiaries after the separation, unless and to the extent such transaction agreement contains 
alternative indemnification provisions;

• EHSI being a party to AlC’s Master leases with lTC, which cover 37 of AlC’s properties with remaining future lease commitments 
of approximately US$10.9 million annually (to increase by 2% each year) through 2014, other than losses resulting from provisions 
applicable to EHSI; and 

• EHSI being a guarantor of the obligations of AlC or affiliates of AlC under leases with HCPI, which cover nine AlC properties with 
remaining future lease commitments of US$2.6 million annually through 2012.

Extendicare will indemnify, hold harmless and defend and will pay or reimburse AlC, each of its affiliates, including any direct or indirect 
subsidiaries, each of its directors, officers and employees, or any of its investment bankers, attorneys or other advisors or representatives, 
for all identifiable losses, as incurred, to the extent relating to or arising from:

• those assets and liabilities that are not transferred to AlC as part of the separation, whether such losses relate to or arise from events, 
occurrences, actions, omissions, facts or circumstances occurring, existing or asserted before, at or after AlC’s separation from 
Extendicare; 

• any pre-transfer liabilities related to the 29 assisted living centers transferred by EHSI to AlC;

• provisions applicable to EHSI under the Master leases;

• any untrue or allegedly untrue statement of a material fact contained in any filing Extendicare makes with the SEC or a Canadian 
Securities Administrator, or any omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 
statements therein not misleading and relating to information, statements, facts or omissions not relating to AlC, its subsidiaries or its 
business; and

• the breach by Extendicare, or any of its affiliates (other than AlC or its subsidiaries), of any agreement or covenant contained in any 
transaction agreement which is to be performed or complied with by it after the separation, unless and to the extent such transaction 
agreement contains alternative indemnification provisions.

The Separation Agreement specifies the procedures and limitations with respect to claims subject to indemnification and provides  
for contribution in the event that indemnification is not available or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party.

The indemnification obligations of AlC and Extendicare under the Separation Agreement could be significant. Extendicare cannot 
determine whether it will have to indemnify AlC for any substantial obligations after the distribution of AlC. Also, Extendicare cannot 
assure that if AlC has to indemnify Extendicare for any substantial obligations, AlC will be able to satisfy those obligations.

Specified Contingent Claims Against Crown Life 
Under the Crown life share sale agreement with Canada life dated June 8, 2007, Extendicare remains responsible for specified 
contingent claims against Crown life of up to $15.4 million, for which Extendicare has delivered letters of credit to Crown life in support 
of the claims. Depending on the type of contingent claim, the letters of credit have various terms ranging from 5 to 15 years. Based on 
past trends and information received from an independent actuary, management estimates that Extendicare’s remaining aggregate 
liability for such claims will not exceed $5.6 million, and has recorded a provision for this amount in other long-term liabilities on the 
balance sheet as of December 31, 2009. 

Government Funding and Legislative and Regulatory Changes 
Extendicare REIT’s earnings are highly reliant on government funding and reimbursement programs, both in the U.S. and Canada, and 
the effective management of staffing and other costs of operations, which are strictly monitored by government regulatory authorities. 
Management is unable to predict whether governments will adopt changes in their reimbursement programs, or if adopted and 
implemented, what effect such initiatives would have on the REIT. For instance, limitations on U.S. Medicare and Medicaid 
reimbursement for health care services are continually proposed. Changes in applicable laws and regulations could also have an 
adverse effect on reimbursement levels from governmental, private and other sources. In 2009, labour-related costs accounted for  
74.2% of our operating and administrative costs. Therefore, government funding constraints could have a significant adverse impact  
on our results from operations and cash flows.
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In addition, legislative and regulatory actions have also resulted in continuing changes to Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement 
programs. Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement programs are complicated and constantly changing as CMS continues to refine  
its programs. There are considerable administrative costs incurred by EHSI in monitoring the changes made within the programs, 
determining the appropriate actions to be taken to respond to those changes and implementing the required actions to meet the  
new requirements and minimize the repercussions of the changes to EHSI’s reimbursement rates and costs. There can be no assurance 
that Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement programs will remain at levels comparable to present levels or that they will, in the future,  
be sufficient to cover the costs allocable to patients eligible for reimbursement pursuant to such programs.

Further information on funding and legislative changes affecting our industry can be found under the heading “Update of legislative 
Actions Affection Revenue”.

Government Regulation 
All long-term care providers are subject to surveys and inspections by government authorities to ensure compliance with applicable laws 
and licensure requirements of the federal, state and/or provincial funding programs. Our nursing centers must comply with regulations 
involving such things as staffing levels, resident care standards, occupational health and safety, resident confidentiality, billing and 
reimbursement, along with environmental, biological and other standards. The survey process is intended to review the actual provision 
of care and services. Remedies for assessed deficiencies can be levied based upon the scope and severity of the cited deficiencies. 
Remedies range from the assessment of fines to the withdrawal of payments under the government funding programs. Should a 
deficiency not be addressed through a plan of correction, a center can be decertified from the funding program. As of December 31, 2009,  
EHSI has certain centers under a plan of correction. While it is not possible to estimate the final outcome of the required corrective action, 
EHSI has accrued for known costs.

Government agencies have steadily increased their enforcement activity over the past several years. As a result, in addition to increasing 
resources to improve the quality of services provided to our residents, we are continually allocating increased resources to ensure 
compliance with applicable regulations and to respond to inspections, investigations and/or enforcement actions. 

U.S. federal law requires each state to have a Medicaid Fraud Control Unit, which is responsible for investigating provider fraud and 
resident abuse in Medicaid-funded centers. EHSI has had previous investigations from these Medicaid Fraud Units, but is not aware  
of any liability relating thereto at this time. 

In 1998 CMS created the Special Focus Facility (SFF) program for the purpose of decreasing the number of persistently poorly 
performing nursing centers. Under the SFF program, immediate sanctions must be imposed on a SFF nursing center that fails to achieve 
and maintain significant progress in correcting deficiencies. Sanctions may include termination from the Medicare and/or Medicaid 
programs. SFF centers that significantly improve may be removed from the SFF list. EHSI has certain centers currently included in the 
SFF program, and like other operators, its centers can be subject to the SFF program at any time. These centers are being aggressively 
monitored by management. 

In December 2008, CMS released its Five-Star Quality Rating System which assigns a numerical rating between one and five to all 
long-term care centers. This Five-Star Quality Rating System is an attempt to provide the customer with an impression of how health care 
centers are performing using the following components:

• three years of state survey information;

• nursing staff hours provided to each resident/patient each day with adjustments for acuity of the residents; and

• quality measures or outcome measures that capture data submitted as part of the assessment of residents/patients.

While we applaud the creation of a system to measure and report on quality of care provided by long-term care centers so that 
consumers have ample information to make decisions about placement in a skilled care center, we believe the Five-Star Quality Rating 
System contains some serious flaws. First and foremost, the survey system in the U.S. is not consistent and varies significantly across the 
states. To provide a rating that is primarily driven by survey results is not a measure of quality, but rather a measure of how well skilled 
nursing centers perform in the regulatory survey process. Management believes that the results of surveys conducted under the system 
often do not accurately reflect how well nursing staff has performed or how customers feel about the services provided. Second, the 
nursing staff hours are captured in a manner that lends itself to incorrect reporting, and we believe may have understated nursing hours 
in many of EHSI’s centers. The system also fails to reflect the level of additional services in a skilled nursing center such as rehabilitative 
therapy. lastly, the quality measures are good tools but may also be subject to misinterpretation in that patients/residents come to 
long-term care centers with significant health issues and may not, in all cases, be expected to improve on all such measures. CMS has 
had discussions with representatives of the industry regarding these concerns and is considering changes to the system.
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To the extent that any EHSI skilled nursing center scores low under the Five-Star Quality Rating System, that center may experience 
negative publicity or challenges with maintaining or increasing census. We intend to develop strategies to address ratings in all of our 
skilled nursing centers whose scores reflect sub-par performance and to generate positive publicity in those communities where 
centers rate above average.

In the United States, non-compliance with certain laws governing long-term care could result in severe penalties, which may include 
criminal sanctions and fines, civil monetary penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. These penalties could 
have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or financial condition of the REIT.

Liability, Insurance and Litigation 
In recent years, participants in the long-term care industry have faced an increasing number of lawsuits alleging negligence, 
malpractice, or other related claims. Many of these suits have involved large claims and significant defence costs. The REIT and its 
subsidiaries could face such suits because of the nature of its business, particularly given the age and health demographics of the 
residents and patients, and the inherent risk in providing care to the elderly. The REIT may be faced with the threat of large verdicts in 
jurisdictions where juries typically do not decide in favour of long-term care providers. Historically, the long-term care industry has been 
subject, from time to time, to verdicts of punitive or special damages in unsuccessful defence of claims. 

The REIT maintains liability and property insurance policies and/or captive insurance structures in amounts and with the coverage and 
deductibles it believes are adequate based on the nature and risks of its business, historical experience and industry standards, as well 
as the type of insurance coverage commercially available in the marketplace. The captive insurance companies of the REIT are currently 
appropriately capitalized, but there is no assurance that they will remain appropriately capitalized in the future if claims against it 
increase significantly. 

The REIT maintains insurance coverage for general and professional liability, trustees’, directors’ and officers’ liability, employers’ liability, 
auto liability, health benefits, business income and in certain states, workers’ compensation. General and professional liability policies 
currently offered in the long-term care industry are generally only offered on a “claims made” basis, as opposed to “occurrence based” 
coverage. “Claims made” policies are subject to possible rate increases upon renewal due to a step-up factor used by the insurer. 

A successful claim against the REIT not covered by, or in excess of, such insurance, or in excess of the reserves of the REIT for self-
insured retention levels, could have a material adverse effect on the business, operating results, and financial condition of the REIT.  
In many states, state law prohibits or limits insurance coverage for the risk of punitive damages arising from professional liability and 
general liability claims and/or litigation. Furthermore, there are certain types of risks, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as war, 
non-certified acts of terrorism, or environmental contamination, which are either uninsurable or are not insurable on an economically 
viable basis. Under these circumstances, the REIT may be liable for such losses. 

z  accounting Policies and estimates 

Non-GAAP Measures 
Extendicare REIT assesses and measures operating results and financial position based on performance measures referred to as  
“net operating income”, “EBITDA”, “continuing health care operations before undernoted”, “continuing operations before undernoted”, 
“Distributable Income”, “Funds from Operations”, “Adjusted Funds from Operations” and “Adjusted Gross Book value”. These are not 
measures recognized under GAAP and do not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP. These non-GAAP measures are 
presented in this document because either: (i) management believes that they are a relevant measure of the ability of the REIT to make 
cash distributions; or (ii) certain ongoing rights and obligations of the REIT may be calculated using these measures. Such non-GAAP 
measures may differ from similar computations as reported by other issuers and, accordingly, may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures as reported by such issuers. They are not intended to replace earnings (loss) from operations, net earnings (loss) for the 
period, cash flow, or other measures of financial performance and liquidity reported in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

References to “net operating income” in this document are to revenue less direct operating expenses. References to “EBITDA” in this 
document are to earnings from continuing operations before interest, income taxes, depreciation, amortization, and accretion. In this 
calculation, the REIT has excluded the line items “loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments and foreign exchange” and “loss (gain) 
from asset impairment, disposals and other items”. These line items are reported separately because they relate to the change in the  
fair value of, or gains and losses on termination of, interest rate agreements and FCFCs, as well as gains or losses on the disposal or 
impairment of assets, and foreign exchange gains or losses on capital items. In addition, in previous years these line items have included 
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provisions for restructuring charges and the write-off of unamortized financing costs on early retirement of debt. These items are 
reported separately and excluded from EBITDA, because they are transitional in nature and would otherwise distort historical trends. 
Management believes that certain lenders, investors and analysts use EBITDA to measure a company’s ability to service debt and meet 
other payment obligations, and as a common valuation measurement in the long-term care industry. For example, certain of EHSI’s debt 
covenants use EBITDA in their calculations. EBITDA is presented by the REIT on a consistent basis from period to period, thereby 
allowing for consistent comparability of its operating performance.

The above line items are calculated on an after-tax basis as a means of deriving the remaining earnings from operations and related 
earnings per unit, the results of which are referred to as either “continuing health care operations before undernoted” or “continuing 
operations before undernoted”, as applicable. This is a measure commonly used by the REIT and its investors as a means of assessing 
the performance of the core operations in comparison to prior periods.

Distributable Income, or DI, is defined by Extendicare REIT’s Deed of Trust as net earnings (loss) of the REIT, on a consolidated basis,  
as determined in accordance with GAAP, subject to certain adjustments as set out in the REIT’s Deed of Trust. Funds from Operations,  
or FFO, is defined as net earnings (loss) of the REIT adjusted for non-cash items and other items not representative of the REIT’s 
operating performance. Adjusted Funds from Operations, or AFFO, is defined as DI further reduced by facility maintenance (non-growth) 
capital expenditures not already reflected in the calculation of DI.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
The REIT’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. For a full discussion of the REIT’s 
accounting policies as required by GAAP, see the accompanying notes to the REIT’s December 31, 2009, audited consolidated financial 
statements. Management considers an understanding of the REIT’s accounting policies in the following discussion to be essential  
to an understanding of the REIT’s financial statements because their application requires significant judgement and reliance on 
estimations of matters that are inherently uncertain. There is measurement uncertainty relating to the accounting policies applied to: 
revenue recognition and the valuation of accounts receivable; the measurement of acquired assets and assumed liabilities in business 
combinations; the valuation of assets and determination of asset impairment; the valuation of conditional asset retirement obligations; 
the determination of the accrual for self-insured liabilities; and accounting for tax uncertainties, including valuation allowances for future 
tax assets. Specific risks related to these critical accounting policies are also described.

revenue recognition and accounts receivaBle 
Approximately 78% of EHSI’s revenue was derived from services provided under various federal or state medical assistance programs 
during 2009. The remaining revenue was derived from private-pay residents directly or through their commercial insurers, HMOs or 
other third-party providers. EHSI records its skilled nursing center revenue in the period in which the services and products are provided 
at established rates less, for government supported programs, contractual adjustments. Contractual adjustments include differences 
between established billing rates and amounts estimated by management as reimbursable under various reimbursement formulas  
or contracts in effect. State plan amendments and waivers are submitted to CMS for approval, which can result in changes to revenue 
pertaining to prior periods. Estimation differences between final settlements and amounts recorded in previous periods are reported  
as adjustments to revenue in the period such settlements are determined. Due to the complexity of laws and regulations governing  
the federal and state reimbursement programs, there is a possibility that recorded estimates may change by a material amount.

In addition, EHSI derives outpatient therapy revenue in the U.S. by providing rehabilitation therapy services to outside third parties  
at its clinics. This revenue source is primarily from Managed Care, workers’ compensation, self-pay clients and partly from Medicare  
and Medicaid. Revenue is recognized in the period in which services are provided.

The fees charged by ECI for its Canadian nursing homes and home health care services are regulated by provincial authorities. 
Accordingly, provincial programs fund a substantial portion of these fees, with the remainder paid by individuals. Revenue from provincial 
programs represented approximately 65% of ECI’s nursing home operations, and approximately 96% of its home health care services. 

Ontario is ECI’s largest market for both its long-term care and home health care services, which for 2009 represented approximately 
70% of revenue from Canadian operations. ECI’s home health care operations receive most of their revenue from contracts tendered by 
locally administered provincial agencies. Funding for Ontario nursing homes is based on reimbursement for the level of care provided. 
The provincial government allocates funds, or “envelopes”, for services such as nursing, programs, food and accommodation. The cost  
of providing nursing, programs and food is funded by the government in accordance with scheduled rates. Any deviation in actual costs 
from scheduled rates is either absorbed by ECI (if actual costs exceed scheduled rates) or is returned to the government (if actual costs 
are below scheduled rates). With respect to the accommodation envelope, ECI may retain any excess over costs incurred. The province 
sets the rates for standard accommodation, as well as the maximum amounts that a provider can bill for semi-private and private 
accommodation. The accommodation rates are substantially paid for by the resident, however, the province guarantees funding for the 
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standard accommodation through resident subsidies. Overall funding from the government is occupancy-based and providers receive 
funding based on their actual average occupancy plus 3%. Therefore, an average occupancy level of 97% would yield 100% funding.  
For 2009 all of ECI’s Ontario nursing homes achieved occupancy levels in excess of 97%. 

Assisted living facility revenue in the U.S. and Canada is primarily derived from private-pay residents and is recognized in the period  
in which the services are provided and at rates established by the REIT based upon the services provided and market conditions in  
the area of operation. 

Accounts receivable are recorded at amounts expected from federal, state and provincial reimbursement programs, other third-party 
payors or from individual residents. Receivables from government agencies represent the only concentrated group of credit risks for  
the REIT. As at December 31, 2009, receivables from government agencies represented approximately 77% of the total receivables. 
Management does not believe there is any significant credit risk associated with these government agencies other than possible 
funding delays. Accounts receivable other than from government agencies consist of receivables from various payors that are subject  
to differing economic conditions and do not represent any concentrated credit risks to the REIT, as there is no significant exposure to 
any single party. Management estimates which receivables may be collected within one year and reflects those not expected to be 
collected within one year as non-current assets. Management continually monitors and adjusts the allowances associated with these 
receivables by conducting a specific account review of amounts in excess of predefined target amounts and aging thresholds, which 
vary by payor type. Provisions are considered based upon the evaluation of the circumstances for each of these specific accounts. In 
addition, management has established percentages for allowance for doubtful accounts that are based upon historical collection trends 
for each payor type and age of these receivables. Accounts receivable that are estimated to be uncollectible, based upon the above 
process, are fully reserved for in the allowance for doubtful accounts until they are written off or collected. If circumstances change,  
for instance due to an economic downturn, resulting in higher than expected defaults or denials, management’s estimates of the 
recoverability of receivables could be reduced by a material amount. 

Due to differences in the government funding structures for the services provided, the Canadian operations are not subject to the  
same risks associated with the collection of accounts receivable as are the U.S. operations. As a result, approximately 95% of the REIT’s 
allowance for current accounts receivable at December 31, 2009, was associated with the U.S. operations. The allowance for doubtful 
accounts for current accounts receivable totalled $24.0 million and $33.0 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
Days of revenue outstanding have decreased to 39 days at December 31, 2009 from 43 days as of December 31, 2008. 

At December 31, 2009, EHSI had $26.5 million (US$25.2 million) in Medicare and Medicaid settlement receivables compared to  
$27.4 million (US$22.5 million) at the end of 2008. There was no allowance on these receivable balances. It is expected that $9.1 million 
(US$8.6 million) will be substantially collected within one year and is included in accounts receivable as a current asset, compared  
to $10.2 million (US$8.4 million) at December 31, 2008. The remaining balance has been classified as a long-term receivable.  
Medicare settlement receivables primarily relate to reimbursable Part A co-insurance receivables for cost report years and outstanding 
settlements from the cost-based reimbursement program prior to the implementation of the Medicare prospective payment system  
on January 1, 1999. Medicare reimbursable Part A co-insurance receivables amounted to US$22.5 million and US$20.8 million as  
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, within the above total amount. Differences between the final settlement and amounts 
previously recorded are reported as adjustments to revenue in the period of determination. Medicaid settlement receivables pertain  
to cost-based reimbursement programs. 

measurement of acquired assets and liaBilities in Business comBinations 
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the purchase method. This involves allocating the purchase price paid for a business 
to the assets acquired, including identifiable intangible assets and the liabilities assumed, based on their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Any excess is then recorded as goodwill. The identification of intangible assets includes acquired customers, which the  
REIT refers to as resident relationships. 

In respect of the valuation of real estate acquired, management calculates the fair value of the land and buildings, or properties, using  
an “as if vacant” approach. The fair value of furniture and equipment is determined on a depreciated replacement cost basis. Resident 
relationships are valued based upon the valuation methodology outlined below. The purchase price of the acquisition is allocated based 
upon these assessments with, if applicable, the excess purchase price being recorded as goodwill. These estimates are based upon 
historical, financial and market information. Imprecision of these estimates can affect the allocation of the purchase price paid on the 
acquisition of facilities between intangible assets and liabilities and the properties and goodwill values determined, and the related 
depreciation and amortization. 

Resident relationships represent the assets acquired by virtue of acquiring a facility with existing residents and thus avoiding the cost of 
obtaining new residents, plus the value of lost net resident revenue over the estimated lease-up period of the property. In order to effect 
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such purchase price allocation, management is required to make estimates of the average facility lease-up period, the average lease-up 
costs and the deficiency in operating profits relative to the facility’s performance when fully occupied. Resident relationships are 
amortized to amortization expense on a straight-line basis over the estimated average resident stay at the facility. Resident relationships 
are generally amortized over a 16-month period for senior care facilities. During 2009, the $0.3 million remaining balance of resident 
relationships was fully amortized.

valuation of assets and asset imPairment 
Management periodically assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets when there are indications of potential impairment based  
on estimates of undiscounted future cash flows. In performing these analyses, management considers such factors as current results, 
trends and future prospects, in addition to other economic and regulatory factors. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite life are tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill is allocated to reporting 
units and any potential impairment is identified by comparing the carrying value of a reporting unit with its fair value. The amount of any 
impairment is calculated by comparing the carrying value of goodwill to its fair value, based on the fair value of the assets and liabilities 
of the reporting unit.

A substantial change in estimated future cash flows for these assets could materially change their estimated fair values, possibly 
resulting in additional impairment. Changes which may impact future cash flows include, but are not limited to: competition in the 
marketplace; decreases in government funding; increases in wages or other operating costs; increased litigation and insurance costs; 
and increased operational costs resulting from changes in legislation and regulatory scrutiny. As detailed in notes 10 and 12 of the 2009 
consolidated financial statements, the loss from impairment of assets in 2009 was $5.8 million in discontinued operations, compared  
to $2.2 million in continuing operations and $0.9 million in discontinued operations in 2008.

conditional asset retirement oBligations 
Management has determined that an asset retirement obligation exists in the REIT’s pre-1980 constructed facilities for possible 
asbestos remediation. Though asbestos is currently not a health hazard in any of these facilities, appropriate remediation procedures 
may be required to remove potential asbestos-containing materials, consisting primarily of floor and ceiling tiles, upon any major 
renovation or demolition.

As at December 31, 2009, the conditional asset retirement obligation, which related to asbestos remediation, was $24.8 million 
compared to $26.2 million at the beginning of the year, with the decline primarily due to the impact of the weaker Canadian dollar.  
The fair value of the conditional asset retirement obligation was estimated by computing the present value of the estimated future  
costs of remediation based on estimated expected dates of remediation. The computation is based on a number of assumptions,  
which may vary in the future depending upon the availability of new information, changes in technology and in costs of remediation,  
and other factors.

The following assumptions were used in calculating the conditional asset retirement obligations: (a) discount rates of 6.75% for facilities 
located in Canada and 7.10% for facilities located in the U.S.; (b) an estimated timing of the settlement of the conditional obligations 
ranging from 10 to 30 years; and (c) an estimated undiscounted cash flow amount to settle the asset retirement obligation of 
approximately $50.0 million. There were no changes to the initial timing and estimates of undiscounted cash flow amounts in 2009.

self-insured liaBilities 
Insurance coverage for resident care liability and other risks has become difficult to obtain. The REIT self-insures for certain risks related 
to comprehensive general and professional liability (including malpractice insurance), auto liability, health benefits, employers’ liability 
and workers’ compensation. Reinsurance coverage is obtained in amounts and with such coverage and deductibles as management 
deems appropriate, based on the nature and risks of the business, historical experiences, availability and industry standards. 

Management accrues for self-insured liabilities based on past trends and information received from an independent actuary. 
Management regularly evaluates the appropriateness of the carrying value of the self-insured liabilities through an independent 
actuarial review. General and professional liability claims are the most volatile and significant of the risks that Extendicare self-insures. 
Management’s estimate of the accrual for general and professional liability costs is significantly influenced by assumptions, which are 
limited by the uncertainty of predicting future events and assessments regarding expectations of several factors. These include, but are 
not limited to: the frequency and severity of claims, which can differ materially by jurisdiction; coverage limits of third-party reinsurance; 
the effectiveness of the claims management process; and the outcome of litigation.
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Changes in the level of retained risk and other significant assumptions that underlie management’s estimates could have a material 
effect on the future carrying value of the self-insured liabilities. The REIT reports the annual accrual for potential resident care liability 
claims on its consolidated statements of cash flows, and for the years ended 2009 and 2008, recorded a provision of $22.1 million and 
$20.5 million, respectively. At December 31, 2009, the accrual for self-insured general and professional liabilities totalled $43.9 million 
compared to $50.4 million at the beginning of the year (see “liquidity and Capital Resources – Accrual for Self-Insured liabilities”).

sPecified contingent claims against crown life 
Under the Crown life share sale agreement with Canada life dated June 8, 2007, Extendicare remains responsible for specified 
contingent claims against Crown life of up to $15.4 million, for which Extendicare has delivered letters of credit to Crown life  
in support of the claims. Depending on the type of contingent claim, the letters of credit have various terms ranging from 5 to 15 years. 
Management’s assessment of the provision to settle the claims is based on past trends and information received from an independent 
actuary. The estimated provision as at December 31, 2009 was $5.6 million (see “liquidity and Capital Resources – Specified Contingent 
Claims Against Crown life”).

tax uncertainties 
Tax uncertainties are assessed and measured using a probability adjusted or expected value model whereby amounts are recorded if 
there is uncertainty about a filing position, determined by multiplying the amount of the exposure by the probability that the entity’s filing 
position will not be sustained.

Extendicare REIT is subject to SIFT tax effective January 1, 2007, under Bill C-52, which received Royal Assent on June 22, 2007. The SIFT 
Amendments, as described under the heading “Canadian SIFT and U.S. REIT Income Tax Updates – Canada – Canadian Federal Income 
Tax on Income Trusts” under the “Significant Developments” section of this MD&A, include revisions to the definitions of “SIFT trust” and 
“SIFT partnership” to specifically exclude certain trust and partnerships that are wholly owned by a SIFT. These SIFT Amendments do not 
change the status of Extendicare REIT as a SIFT, although they confirm that Extendicare Trust, which is wholly owned by Extendicare 
REIT, is not a SIFT. Management has assessed the impact of the SIFT Amendments on Extendicare lP and has concluded that 
Extendicare lP should not be treated as a SIFT, but there can be no assurance that this will be the case. 

future tax assets and liaBilities 
The REIT and its subsidiaries use the liability method, which takes into account the differences between financial statement treatment 
and tax treatment of certain transactions, assets and liabilities. Future tax assets and liabilities are recognized to reflect the expected 
future tax consequences attributed to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities  
and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using  
tax rates (enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date) anticipated to apply in the periods that the temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is established based upon management’s estimate of whether it is more 
likely than not that some portion or all of the future tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of future tax assets depends  
on the generation of taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. In making this 
assessment, management considers the scheduled reversal of future tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning 
strategies. The valuation allowance for future tax assets totalled $17.1 million and $18.1 million at December 31, 2009 and  
2008, respectively. 

New Accounting Policies Adopted 
During 2009, we adopted the following new CICA accounting standards and abstracts as described below, which are more fully 
described in note 1 of the 2009 consolidated financial statements.

goodwill and intangiBle assets 
Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” replaces previous guidance on accounting for intangible assets. The revised standards 
reinforce the principle-based approach to the recognition of costs as an asset and clarify the application of the matching concept  
of revenue and expenses. The new standards clarify the distinction between assets and expenses and add guidance on the definition  
of an intangible asset and the recognition of internally generated intangible assets. The adoption of this standard did not have an impact 
on the financial position or the results of operation of the REIT, other than reclassifying certain computer software from property and 
equipment to intangible assets. The effect of adopting Section 3064 is detailed in note 1 to the 2009 consolidated financial statements. 

61A N N U A l R E P O R T 2 0 0 9



credit risk and the fair value of financial assets and financial liaBilities
In January 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee of the CICA issued EIC-173 “Credit Risk and the Fair value of Financial Assets  
and Financial liabilities”. This Abstract provides guidance on Handbook Section 3855 “Financial Instruments – Recognition and 
Measurement”, in particular, the determination of the fair value of certain financial assets and financial liabilities. It establishes that  
an entity’s own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account in determining the fair value of financial 
assets and financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. This guidance is effective for periods ending on or after January 1, 2009, 
to be applied retrospectively without restatement of prior years. The application of this Abstract did not have a material impact on the 
financial position or results of the REIT.

financial instruments – disclosures
In June 2009, the CICA amended the Handbook Section 3862 “Financial Instruments – Disclosures” to enhance disclosures about  
fair value measurement of financial instruments and requires additional quantitative and qualitative disclosures of liquidity risk.  
The amendments require that fair value measurement disclosures use a three-level fair value hierarchy as follows:

 level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets;

 level 2: Inputs derived from internal models using observable market information; and

 level 3: Inputs derived from internal models that are not based on observable market information. 

These accounting standards are effective for annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2009. 
The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on the financial position or the results of operations of the REIT; however, it results 
in additional disclosures, refer to note 19 of the 2009 consolidated financial statements.

Future Change in Accounting Policies 
The following new accounting policies have been issued, and will impact us at a future date. 

transition to international financial rePorting standards 
In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board of Canada (AcSB) confirmed its decision to require that all Publicly Accountable 
Enterprises report under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), with early adoption permitted. For the REIT, IFRS will be 
effective for interim and annual periods commencing January 1, 2011, and will include one year of comparative figures for 2010.  
It is our intention to adopt IFRS on January 1, 2011, and not prior to this date.

IFRS are based on a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP, although significant differences exist in certain matters of 
recognition, measurement and disclosure. The classification and components of our financial statements and extent of disclosures 
under IFRS are expected to be different than under Canadian GAAP.

The REIT’s conversion plan to identify and address implementation issues is as follows:

 1. Scoping

 2. Planning

 3. Design and Build

 4. Implement and Review

Over the course of 2008, we successfully completed the scoping and planning phases of our plan. During 2009, we worked closely with 
our external auditors and audit committee of the REIT (the “Audit Committee”) to move forward with our transition project. Key activities 
completed during the year include:

• detailed analysis of major accounting issues that will be impacted by our transition to IFRS;

•  evaluation of the impact of one-time transitional exemptions available under IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS as well as the 
post-adoption impact of key IFRS policies; and

• identification of process and system changes that are necessary to support the presentation and disclosure requirements under IFRS.
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The following table provides a synopsis of the major issues that are expected to have an impact on the REIT’s financial statements 
post-adoption of IFRS.

Area	Affected	by	ifRS exemptions	Available	/	Requirements	under	ifRS exemption	and	policy	Choices

iAS	16 
Plant, Property & Equipment 
(PP&E)

An IFRS 1 exemption, known as “fair value as  
deemed cost”, is available whereby land and 
buildings can be revalued to reflect the fair value 
upon transition. The exemption is applied on  
an asset-by-asset basis.
Subsequent measurement can be based on  
either the revaluation (i.e., fair value model) or  
the cost model.

We will be electing to apply the exemption  
to selected nursing centers on transition.

We will continue to use the cost model  
post transition.

iAS	40
Investment Property

Real property held for the purpose of capital 
appreciation or rental must be separately presented 
as investment property.
Subsequent measurement of investment property 
can be based on either the fair value or cost model.

We will not be classifying any of our centers  
as investment property.

iAS	19 
Employee Benefits

An IFRS 1 exemption is available to set the actuarial 
experience gain/loss balance to zero upon transition.

Actuarial experience gains or losses can be either 
recorded in other comprehensive income or 
recognized in net earnings post-transition using 
either the corridor method or an alternate method 
that would result in accelerated recognition.

We will be electing to apply the exemption  
to set actuarial experience gain/loss balance  
to zero on transition.

We will be recording the actuarial experience  
gains or losses in other comprehensive income  
post transition.

iAS	21 
The Effects of Changes in 
Foreign Exchange Rates

An IFRS 1 exemption is available to set the cumulative 
translation adjustment (CTA) balance to zero upon 
transition. Without the exemption, IFRS requires  
the retrospective restatement of CTA in accordance 
with IAS 21.

We will be electing to apply the exemption to set  
the CTA balance to zero on transition.

iAS	23
Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are required to be capitalized to the 
cost of qualifying assets based on specific guidance. 
There is no specific guidance under Canadian GAAP. 
An IFRS 1 exemption is available which permits a 
first-time adopter to apply the transitional 
requirements of IAS 23 (R). To the extent that the 
adoption of IAS 23 upon transition is a change in 
accounting policy, these transitional requirements 
provide a first-time adopter relief from applying the 
standard retrospectively. Instead, IAS 23 is applied to 
qualifying assets for which the commencement date 
for capitalization is on or after:

•   the later of January 1, 2009, and the date  
of transition, or 

•  an earlier date chosen by the first-time adopter.

We will be electing to apply the IFRS 1 exemption  
to adopt the requirements of IAS 23.

iAS	36
Impairment of Assets

IFRS requires the identification of “cash-generating 
unit” (CGU) for the purpose of performing an 
impairment test.

Goodwill will be allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs 
for impairment testing purposes.

The definitions of recoverable amount and 
impairment criteria differ from Canadian GAAP.

Previously recorded impairment losses (except  
losses related to goodwill) must be reversed in future 
periods under certain conditions.

We identified CGUs to be individual nursing centers. 

Goodwill and corporate assets will be allocated to 
specific CGUs for the purpose of impairment testing.

We have developed a standardized methodology  
on the impairment calculation to meet the IFRS 
requirements.

Impairment losses will be separately tracked by  
CGU post transition so that subsequent reversals 
can be recorded properly in future periods.
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Area	Affected	by	ifRS exemptions	Available	/	Requirements	under	ifRS exemption	and	policy	Choices

ifRS	3	(R)
Business Combinations

An IFRS 1 exemption is available whereby previously 
completed business combinations are not required  
to be retrospectively restated in accordance with 
IFRS 3, subject to some exceptions.

We will be electing to apply the IFRS 1 exemption, 
and will not be restating any of our past business 
combinations.

ifRS	5	
Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale & Discontinued 
Operations

The definition of discontinued operations under  
IFRS is narrower compared to that under the existing 
Canadian GAAP.

We expect to have fewer discontinued operations 
under IFRS.

ifRiC	1	
Changes in Existing 
Decommissioning,  
Restoration &  
Similar liabilities

IFRS provides specific guidance to account  
for changes related to asset retirement obligations. 
Criteria under the existing Canadian GAAP  
are different.
IFRS1 exemption is available which provides a 
simplified method for recalculating decommissioning 
liabilities in accordance with IFRS.

We will be electing to apply the IFRS 1 exemption  
to measure our asset retirement obligations as at  
the transition date in accordance with IAS 37.

certain accounting Policies exPected to Be adoPted under ifrs and the aPPlication of certain Policies and transitional exemPtions may Be modified.  
as such, the issues identified in the aBove taBle, and the exPected imPact on our financial results may differ from those Previously disclosed. 

The IFRS task force of the REIT includes members of the finance teams across the organization as well as those from the internal audit 
team. In 2010, we will be moving into the Implementation & Review Phase of our IFRS transition project. During this phase, any change  
in accounting policies and procedures will be communicated throughout the organization and additional controls and procedures will 
be identified, designed and implemented accordingly, in preparation of satisfying the requirement for certifying officers to evaluate the 
effectiveness of controls. Changes to accounting systems have been carefully planned, designed and tested. To the extent that external 
expertise is required, we have been in communication with the appropriate experts to ensure that information required for the IFRS 
transition is adequately obtained. In addition, draft IFRS financial statements, notes and reconciliations will be compiled, which will form 
the IFRS comparative statements to be disclosed in the 2011 first quarter. Additional details and/or quantitative information will be 
provided throughout 2010. 

With regard to training, we will continue to develop internal training and communication material and sessions to provide employees 
with adequate knowledge of the IFRS transition, and to provide quarterly updates to the Audit Committee to ensure that the implication 
of the IFRS transition is clearly understood. Upon completion of the implementation phase of the IFRS project, we plan to communicate 
with investors the anticipated effects of the IFRS transition to date. We do not expect that the IFRS transition will have a significant impact 
on debt covenants or any other business decisions or activities. 

The AcSB has recently indicated that a stable platform of IFRS requirements will be applicable for Canadian entities adopting IFRS in 
2011. However, there are ongoing projects conducted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and joint projects with 
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in the U.S. To date, several key standards have already been, or are expected to be 
overhauled shortly, but are not expected to take effect until 2013 or later. Nevertheless, we will continue to monitor the progress of these 
projects to understand the impact, if any, they may have on the REIT.

Business comBinations, consolidated financial statements and non-controlling interests
In January 2009, the CICA issued new Handbook Sections: Section 1582 “Business Combinations”, Section 1601 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements” and Section 1602 “Non-controlling Interests”. Section 1582 establishes standards for accounting for business 
combinations and is equivalent to the IFRS standard, IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. Section 1601, which establishes standards for 
consolidated financial statement preparation, replaces Section 1600 “Consolidated Financial Statements”, and along with Section 1602, 
replicates the IFRS standard, IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”, other than the disclosure requirements, and 
provides guidance on accounting for non-controlling interests subsequent to a business combination. All three new sections are  
to be implemented concurrently, and are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with earlier adoption permitted 
as of the beginning of a fiscal year. Management is evaluating the potential impact of these new standards, but does not expect that 
there will be a material impact on the financial position of the REIT.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures (DC&P) are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is gathered  
and reported to senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), on a timely basis  
so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure.

As of December 31, 2009, management evaluated, with the participation of the REIT’s CEO and CFO, the effectiveness of the design  
and operation of the DC&P, as defined by National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosures in Issuers’ Annual and Interim  
Filings. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective  
as of December 31, 2009.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP. As of December 31, 2009, management 
evaluated, with the participation of the REIT’s CEO and CFO, the effectiveness of our ICFR using the framework and criteria established 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded 
that our ICFR was effective and that there were no material weaknesses in our ICFR.

z  additional information 

Additional information about Extendicare REIT, including the Annual Information Form, may be found on the SEDAR website  
at www.sedar.com and on Extendicare’s website at www.extendicare.com. A copy of this document and other public documents  
of the REIT are available upon request to the Secretary of the REIT.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust (the “REIT”) and other financial 
information contained in this Annual Report are the responsibility of management. The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, using management’s best estimates and judgements, 
where appropriate. In the opinion of management, these consolidated financial statements reflect fairly the financial position, results  
of operations and cash flows of the REIT within reasonable limits of materiality. The financial information contained elsewhere in this 
Annual Report has been reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the consolidated financial statements.

A system of internal accounting and administrative controls is maintained by management to provide reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition and that financial records are properly maintained to provide 
accurate and reliable financial statements.

The REIT Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal 
controls. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its independent Audit Committee comprised of unrelated and 
outside trustees. The Audit Committee meets regularly during the year to review significant accounting and auditing matters with 
management and the independent auditors and to review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements of the REIT.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG llP, Chartered Accountants, which has full and unrestricted access 
to the Audit Committee. KPMG’s report on the consolidated financial statements follows.

(signed)      (signed)

Timothy l. lukenda Douglas J. Harris 
President and Chief Executive Officer Senior vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

March 17, 2010

Management’s responsibility 

      for financial statements
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z  to the unitholders of extendicare real estate investment trust

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust (the “REIT”) as at December 31, 2009  
and 2008 and the consolidated statements of earnings, unitholders’ deficiency, cash flows and comprehensive income for each of the 
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2009. These financial statements are the responsibility of the REIT’s management.  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
consolidated financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the REIT as  
at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended 
December 31, 2009 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

       (signed KPMG llP)

Toronto, Canada Chartered Accountants, 
March 17, 2010 licensed Public Accountants

Auditors’ 

      report
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(in thousands of dollars except per unit amounts)

 Years ended December 31 2009 2008

ReveNUe	(note 14)
Nursing and assisted living centers
 United States 	1,469,126	  1,332,390 
 Canada 	479,125	  446,131 
Home health care – Canada  155,096	  148,928 
Health technology services – United States 	18,853	  14,328 
Outpatient therapy – United States 	13,905	  12,956 
Other 	31,091	  31,567 
    	2,167,196   1,986,300 
OpeRATiNg	expeNSeS 	1,816,607	  1,701,708 
AdmiNiSTRATive	COSTS	 	72,818	  71,441 
LeASe	COSTS	 	12,101	  11,324 
    	1,901,526	  1,784,473 
eARNiNgS	BefORe	UNdeRNOTed 	265,670	  201,827 
Depreciation and amortization 	66,032   58,290 
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 	1,569	  1,470 
Interest expense 	97,059	  92,587 
Interest income 	(4,244)  (6,318)
loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments and foreign exchange (note 9)  (20,289)  25,344 
loss (gain) from asset impairment, disposals and other items (note 10) 	(219)  855 
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS	BefORe	iNCOme	TAxeS 	125,762	  29,599 
iNCOme	TAx	expeNSe	(ReCOveRy) (note 15)
Current  	6,818	  26,249 
Future 	38,785	  (3,074)
     45,603	  23,175 
eARNiNgS	fROm	CONTiNUiNg	OpeRATiONS 	80,159	  6,424 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (note 12) 	(2,451)  6,964 
NeT	eARNiNgS 	77,708	  13,388 

BASiC	eARNiNgS	peR	UNiT (note 16)
Earnings from continuing operations 	1.09	  0.09 
Net earnings  	1.06	  0.18 
diLUTed	eARNiNgS	peR	UNiT (note 16)
Earnings from continuing operations 	1.05	  0.09 
Net earnings  	1.02	  0.18 
see accomPanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
certain 2008 figures have Been revised for comParative PurPoses (notes 1(c) and 12).
   
   
Approved by the Trustees
   
   
   
(signed) (signed)

Mel Rhinelander Timothy l. lukenda 
Chairman and Trustee President and Chief Executive Officer 
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(in thousands of dollars)

 As at December 31 2009 2008

ASSeTS
Current assets
 Cash and short-term investments 	134,012	  123,084 
 Restricted cash (note 8) 	22,361	 – 
 Accounts receivable, less allowances of $23,975 and $32,968, respectively 	213,477	  274,044 
 Income taxes recoverable 	29,314	 – 
 Future income tax assets (note 15) 	24,900	  40,888 
 Other current assets 	22,187   21,024 
    	446,251	  459,040 
Property and equipment, including construction-in-progress  
 of $41,956 and $26,745, respectively (note 4) 863,430	  970,612 
Goodwill and other intangible assets (notes 1(c) and 5) 	191,514	  225,629 
Other assets (note 6)  166,870	  151,641 
    	1,668,065	  1,806,922 

LiABiLiTieS	ANd	UNiTHOLdeRS’	defiCieNCy
Current liabilities
 Accounts payable 	38,372	  51,434 
 Accrued liabilities 	245,260	  253,038 
 Accrual for self-insured liabilities (note 7) 	11,321	  12,533 
 Current portion of long-term debt (note 8) 	28,538	  42,217 
 Income taxes payable –  4,594 
    	323,491	  363,816 
Accrual for self-insured liabilities (note 7) 	32,562	  37,838 
long-term debt (note 8) 	1,205,494	  1,290,596 
Other long-term liabilities (note 11) 	67,555	  79,198 
Future income tax liabilities (note 15) 	79,866	  65,006 
    	1,708,968	  1,836,454 
Unitholders’ deficiency 	(40,903)  (29,532)
    	1,668,065	  1,806,922 

see accomPanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
certain 2008 figures have Been revised to conform with the Presentation in 2009 (note 1(c)).
commitments and contingencies (note 17).
suBsequent event (notes 8, 11, and 23).

Consolidated 

      balance sheets
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Consolidated Financial Statements

(in thousands of dollars)

 Years ended December 31 2009 2008

OpeRATiNg	ACTiviTieS
Net earnings  	77,708   13,388 
Adjustments for:
 Depreciation and amortization 	67,409	  61,225 
 Provision for self-insured liabilities 	22,059	  20,476 
 Payments for self-insured liabilities 	(19,318)  (28,152)
 Future income taxes 	37,982	  (289)
 loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments and foreign exchange (note 9) 	(20,289)  25,344 
 loss (gain) from asset impairment, disposals and other items (note 10) 	(219)  855 
 loss (gain) from asset impairment, disposals and other items from discontinued operations (note 12) 	4,326	  (7,579)
 Other 	11,491	  10,058 
    	181,149	  95,326 
Net change in operating assets and liabilities
 Accounts receivable 	27,328	  (12,992)
 Other current assets 	(3,401)  (1,095)
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 	16,553	  17,528 
 Income taxes 	(36,504)  6,375 
     3,976	  9,816 
    	185,125	  105,142 
iNveSTiNg	ACTiviTieS
Growth capital expenditures 	(55,574)  (39,184)
Maintenance capital expenditures 	(36,020)  (28,350)
Acquisitions (note 3) –  (17,012)
Net proceeds from dispositions (note 12) 	9,995	  20,867 
Other assets  	(48)  6,350 
    	(81,647)  (57,329)
fiNANCiNg	ACTiviTieS
Issue of long-term debt 	20,210	  171,785 
Repayment of long-term debt 	(22,329)  (81,306)
Issue on line of credit 	14,315	  1,066 
Increase in restricted cash 	(22,361) – 
Decrease in investments held for self-insured liabilities 	(5,871)  (6,459)
Purchase of securities for cancellation 	(6,189)  (3,239)
Distributions paid 	(60,182)  (77,739)
Issue of units –   32,875 
Financing costs 	(3,024)  (9,420)
Other 	(339)  (1,069)
    	(85,770)  26,494 
fOReigN	exCHANge	gAiN	(LOSS)	ON	CASH	HeLd	iN	fOReigN	CURReNCy 	(6,780)  4,543 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 	10,928	  78,850 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 	123,084	  44,234 
CASH	ANd	CASH	eQUivALeNTS	AT	eNd	Of	yeAR 	134,012	  123,084 

SUppLemeNTARy	iNfORmATiON
Cash interest paid in determining earnings 	86,789	  85,384 
Cash taxes paid 	46,077	  19,459 
Interest capitalized (included in capital expenditures) 	1,538	  720 
Units issued pursuant to Distribution Reinvestment Plan 	2,806	  2,546 

Cash distributions for REIT and Exchangeable LP units are at the discretion of the Board of Trustees.
see accomPanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated 

      statements of cash flows
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(in thousands of dollars for amounts)

 Years ended December 31 2009 2008

	 	 	 	 Number	 Amount	 Number	 Amount
UNiT	CApiTAL	(note 13)
REIT Units 	69,896,968		 	332,069	  70,162,191   332,910 
Exchangeable lP Units 	3,283,056		 	13,436	  3,410,227   13,943 
Units issued and outstanding at end of year 	73,180,024		 	345,505	  73,572,418   346,853 
Equity portion of convertible debentures  –	 	9,964	  –  10,045 
     73,180,024		 	355,469	  73,572,418   356,898 
CONTRiBUTed	SURpLUS
Balance at beginning of year  	592	  – 
Transfer to deficit  	(592)  –
Purchase of convertible debentures for cancellation   81    592 
Balance at end of year   81    592 
defiCiT
Balance at beginning of year 	 	(410,447)   (343,151)
Application of contributed surplus   592    –
Adjustment to prior year distribution of AlC (note 17)  	(817)   –
Net earnings for the year  	77,708	   13,388 
Purchase of units for cancellation in excess of book value  	(1,161)   (109)
Distributions declared  	(61,304)   (80,575)
Balance at end of year  	(395,429)   (410,447)
ACCUmULATed	OTHeR	COmpReHeNSive	iNCOme	
Balance at beginning of year  	23,425	   (3,852)
Net change in available-for-sale securities  
 (net of tax expense of $461 and  
 tax recovery of $734, respectively)  	1,362	   (1,600)
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments  	(25,811)   28,877 
Balance at end of year  	(1,024)   23,425 
     	(40,903)   (29,532)

Consolidated 

     statements of unitholders’ deficiency
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Consolidated Financial Statements

(in thousands of dollars)

 Years ended December 31 2009 2008

NeT	eARNiNgS 77,708	  13,388 
OTHeR	COmpReHeNSive	iNCOme	(LOSS),	NeT	Of	iNCOme	TAxeS
Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities (net of tax expense of $461  
 and tax recovery of $436, respectively) 	1,466	  (1,460)
Reclassification of gain on available-for-sale securities to earnings  
 (net of tax expense of nil and $298, respectively) 	(104)  (140)
     1,362	  (1,600)
Net change in foreign currency translation adjustment 	(25,811)  28,877 
    	(24,449)  27,277 
COmpReHeNSive	iNCOme	 	53,259	  40,665 

see accomPanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to consolidated 

      financial statements
Years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 
(Tabular amounts in thousands except per unit data)

1. summary of significant accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation
Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust is an unincorporated, open-ended real estate investment trust established under the laws  
of the Province of Ontario by a deed of trust dated September 11, 2006, as amended and restated on October 28, 2006 (the “Deed of 
Trust”). References to “Extendicare REIT”, the “REIT”, “we”, “us” and “our” in these statements mean Extendicare Real Estate Investment 
Trust alone or together with its subsidiaries, as the context requires. The direct ownership and operation of the senior care centers and 
ancillary businesses is conducted by the subsidiaries of the REIT. The REIT itself is not a provider of services or products. Extendicare 
REIT trades on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSx) under the symbol “ExE.UN”.

Extendicare REIT is the successor in interest to Extendicare Inc. (Extendicare) resulting from the conversion of Extendicare to an 
unincorporated, open-ended limited purpose trust on November 10, 2006, pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the “Arrangement”).  
The conversion has been accounted for as a continuity of interest, and accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the REIT 
reflect the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows as if the REIT had always carried on the business 
formerly carried on by Extendicare.

Certain comparative figures for the 2008 reported periods have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in 2009, mainly for 
discontinued operations as described in note 12.

(b) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) and include the accounts of Extendicare REIT, its subsidiaries and its partnerships. All material intercompany transactions and 
balances have been eliminated.

Through its wholly owned U.S. subsidiary, Extendicare Health Services, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “EHSI”) and its wholly owned 
Canadian subsidiary, Extendicare (Canada) Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “ECI”), the REIT is a major provider of long-term care 
and related services in North America, operating 258 senior care centers. 

(c) New Accounting Policies Adopted
Effective January 1, 2009, Extendicare REIT adopted the following new Handbook Sections issued by the Canadian Institute  
of Chartered Accountants (CICA): Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, as well as EIC-173 “Credit Risk and the Fair  
value of Financial Assets and Financial liabilities”. In addition, the REIT implemented the amended Section 3862 “Financial  
Instruments – Disclosures”.

goodwill and intangiBle assets
In February 2008, the CICA issued the new Handbook Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” to replace existing guidance on 
accounting for intangible assets. The revised standards reinforce the principle-based approach to the recognition of costs as an asset 
and clarify the application of the matching concept of revenue and expenses. The new standards clarify the distinction between assets 
and expenses and add guidance on the definition of an intangible asset and the recognition of internally generated intangible assets. 
These accounting standards are effective for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after 
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January 1, 2009. The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on the financial position or the results of operations of the REIT, 
other than reclassifying certain computer software from property and equipment to intangible assets as follows: 

    2009 2008

CONSOLidATed	BALANCe	SHeeT
Decrease in property and equipment (17,216) (22,306)
Increase in other intangible assets 17,216 22,306
CONSOLidATed	STATemeNT	Of	eARNiNgS
Decrease in depreciation (5,969) (3,829)
Increase in amortization of other intangible assets 5,969 3,829

credit risk and the fair value of financial assets and financial liaBilities
In January 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee of the CICA issued EIC-173 “Credit Risk and the Fair value of Financial Assets  
and Financial liabilities”. This Abstract provides guidance on Handbook Section 3855 “Financial Instruments – Recognition and 
Measurement”, in particular, the determination of the fair value of certain financial assets and financial liabilities. It establishes that an 
entity’s own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account in determining the fair value of financial 
assets and financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. This guidance is effective for periods ending on or after January 1, 2009, 
to be applied retrospectively without restatement of prior years. The application of this Abstract did not have a material impact on the 
financial position or results of the REIT.

financial instruments – disclosures
In June 2009, the CICA amended the Handbook Section 3862 “Financial Instruments – Disclosures” to enhance disclosures about  
fair value measurement of financial instruments and requires additional quantitative and qualitative disclosures of liquidity risk.  
The amendments require that fair value measurement disclosures use a three-level fair value hierarchy as follows:

 level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets;
 level 2: Inputs derived from internal models using observable market information; and
 level 3: Inputs derived from internal models that are not based on observable market information. 

These accounting standards are effective for annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2009. 
The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on the financial position or the results of operations of the REIT; however, it results 
in additional disclosures (note 19).

(d) Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. The more subjective of such estimates are 
revenue rate settlements, the measurement of acquired assets and assumed liabilities in business combinations, accrual for self-insured 
liabilities (note 7), impairment of long-lived assets (note 10) and goodwill, asset retirement obligations and accounting for tax 
uncertainties including valuation allowances for future tax assets. The recorded amounts for such items are based on management’s 
best information and judgement and accordingly, actual results could differ from estimates.

(e) Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign operations and foreign currency denominated items are translated to Canadian dollars.

Revenue and expenses of self-sustaining foreign operations are translated at average rates of exchange in effect during the period. 
Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Unrealized exchange gains or losses arising 
on translation are deferred and included in unitholders’ deficiency in accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI). A gain or loss 
equivalent to a proportionate amount of the unrealized exchange gains and losses accumulated in AOCI is recognized in net earnings 
when there is a reduction in the net investment of self-sustaining foreign operations from capital transactions, such as dividend 
distributions or long-term advance repayments.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet 
date and non-monetary items are translated at rates of exchange in effect when the assets were acquired or obligations incurred. 
Revenue and expenses are translated at rates in effect at the time of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses are included 
in net earnings.

74 E x T E N D I C A R E R E A l E S TAT E I N v E S T M E N T  T R U S T

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include unrestricted cash and short-term investments less bank overdraft and outstanding cheques. 
Short-term investments, comprised of money market instruments, have a maturity of 90 days or less from their date of purchase.  
Cash and cash equivalents are categorized as held-for-trading financial instruments and are measured at fair value. 

(g) Assets Held as Investments
Assets held as investments include two types of assets on the balance sheet – invested assets and investments held for self-insured 
liabilities. Invested assets include primarily equity instruments that have been categorized as available for sale and are measured at cost 
as they do not have a quoted market price in an active market. Investments held for self-insured liabilities, which Extendicare REIT holds 
as security for the accrual for self-insured liabilities (see note 1(n)) are investment grade and categorized as held to maturity or available 
for sale. 

Held-to-maturity investments are valued at amortized cost. Available-for-sale financial assets are valued at fair value. Changes in fair 
value, except for impairment losses, are recorded in other comprehensive income (OCI) until the asset is derecognized at which time 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in AOCI is recognized in net earnings. Interest calculated using the effective interest 
rate method on available-for-sale financial assets is recognized in net earnings. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are 
recognized in net earnings when Extendicare REIT’s right to receive payment is established. Transaction costs are added to the cost  
of the assets at fair value.

When a decline in fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset (other than a loan or receivable designated as available for sale)  
has been recognized directly in OCI and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired and the decline in fair value is other than 
temporary, the cumulative loss is removed from AOCI and is recognized in net earnings even though the financial asset has not been 
derecognized. At each balance sheet date, Extendicare REIT considers whether there is any objective evidence  
of an impairment of financial assets, other than those classified as held for trading. 

(h) Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are categorized as loans and receivables and are recorded at amortized cost. In Canada, ECI has receivables 
primarily from provincial government agencies. In the United States, EHSI has receivables from federal and state medical assistance 
programs, other third-party payors and from individuals. Receivables from government agencies represent the only concentrated  
group of accounts receivable for EHSI. As of December 31, 2009, EHSI had approximately 24% (2008 – 22%) in accounts receivable 
derived from services provided under various federal Medicare programs, and 38% (2008 – 40%) derived from services provided  
under various state Medicaid, or medical assistance, programs. Management does not believe there is any credit risks associated  
with these government agencies other than possible funding delays. Accounts receivable other than from government agencies  
consist of receivables from various payors that are subject to different economic conditions and do not represent any concentrated 
credit risks to EHSI.

The REIT periodically evaluates the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful accounts by conducting a specific account review of amounts 
in excess of predefined target amounts and aging thresholds, which vary by payor type. Allowances for uncollectibility are considered 
based upon the evaluation of the circumstances for each of these specific accounts. In addition, the REIT has established percentages 
for allowance for doubtful accounts, which are based upon historical collection trends for each payor type and age of the receivables. 
Accounts receivable that Extendicare REIT specifically estimates to be uncollectible, based upon the above process, are fully reserved 
for in the allowance for doubtful accounts until they are written off or collected.

(i) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Provisions for depreciation and amortization 
are computed by the straight-line method at rates based on the following estimated life expectancies.

Buildings 20 to 40 years
Building improvements 5 to 30 years 
Furniture and equipment varying periods not exceeding 15 years
land improvements 10 to 25 years 
leasehold improvements  the shorter of the useful life of the improvements or the initial term of the lease
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Construction in progress includes pre-acquisition costs and other direct costs related to acquisition, development and construction of 
properties, including interest, which are capitalized until the center is opened. Depreciation of the center, including interest capitalized, 
is commenced the month after the center is opened based upon the useful life of the asset, as outlined previously. 

Government grants are categorized as loans and receivables. These grants, funded over extended periods to construct centers,  
are present valued and are recorded as notes, mortgages and amounts receivable included in other assets, with an offset to the cost  
of construction. Forgivable loans issued by the government are accounted for as government grants if the likelihood of repayment  
is remote. 

(j) Leases
leases that substantially transfer all of the benefits and risks of ownership of property to the lessee, or otherwise meet the criteria for 
capitalizing a lease under GAAP, are accounted for as capital leases. An asset is recorded at the time a capital lease is entered into 
together with its related long-term obligation to reflect its purchase and financing. Property and equipment recorded under capital 
leases are depreciated on the same basis as described in note 1(i), for periods not to exceed the lease term. Rental payments under 
operating leases are expensed as incurred. Operating leases with defined scheduled rent increases are recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

(k) Acquisitions
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the purchase method. This involves allocating the purchase price paid for a business 
to the assets acquired, including identifiable intangible assets and the liabilities assumed, based on their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Any excess is then recorded as goodwill. In allocating the purchase price to identifiable intangible assets in its acquisitions, 
values are assigned to resident relationships as described in note 1(l). The results of operations of the acquired businesses are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

(l) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the cost of acquired net assets in excess of their fair values. Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units and any potential 
goodwill impairment is identified by comparing the carrying value of a reporting unit with its fair value. If any potential impairment is 
indicated, it is quantified by comparing the carrying value of goodwill to its fair value, based on the fair value of the assets and liabilities  
of the reporting unit.

Other intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual 
values, and reviewed for impairment by assessing the recoverability of the carrying values. Other intangible assets include acquired 
leasehold rights, which are amortized over the term of the lease including renewal options.

Resident relationships acquired through the acquisition of senior care centers are another component of other intangible assets. 
Acquiring resident relationships for existing residents avoids the cost of obtaining new residents. These intangible assets include a value 
of lost net resident revenue over the estimated lease-up period of the property, and are amortized on a straight-line basis, based upon a 
review of the residents’ average length of stay. Resident relationships are generally amortized over a 16-month period for senior care 
centers. Amortization of the resident relationships asset is included within amortization expense in the statement of earnings.

Non-compete agreements acquired through acquisitions are amortized on a straight-line basis over the period until the  
agreement expires.

Purchased computer software is amortized over five to seven years and internally developed software over a three-year period. 

(m) Impairment of Long-lived Assets 
Extendicare REIT periodically assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets when there are indications of potential impairment.  
In performing this analysis, management considers such factors as current results, trends and future prospects, in addition to other 
economic and regulatory factors. The amount of any impairment is determined as the excess of the asset’s net carrying value over  
its fair value, as determined by its estimated future cash flows discounted using a risk adjusted interest rate or current market value,  
as appropriate.
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(n) Self-insured Liabilities
Extendicare REIT self-insures certain risks related to general and professional liability. The accrual for self-insured liabilities includes 
estimates of the costs of both reported claims and claims incurred but not reported, and are based on estimates of loss depending  
on assumptions made by management, including consideration of actuarial projections.

We also self-insure certain risks related to auto liability, health benefits, employers’ liability and workers’ compensation. Accruals for 
these self-insured risks are included in accrued liabilities.

(o) Asset Retirement Obligations
Management has determined that an asset retirement obligation exists in the REIT’s pre-1980 constructed centers for possible asbestos 
remediation. Though asbestos is currently not a health hazard in any of these centers, appropriate remediation procedures may be 
required to remove potential asbestos-containing materials, consisting primarily of floor and ceiling tiles, upon any major renovation  
or demolition.

The fair value of the conditional asset retirement obligation related to asbestos remediation is estimated by computing the present value 
of the estimated future costs of remediation based on estimated expected dates of remediation. The computation is based on a number 
of assumptions, which may vary in the future depending upon the availability of new information, changes in technology and in costs  
of remediation, and other factors.

The following assumptions were used in calculating the conditional asset retirement obligations: (a) discount rates of 6.75% and 7.10%; 
(b) an estimated timing of the settlement of the conditional obligations ranging from 10 to 30 years; and (c) an estimated undiscounted 
cash flow amount to settle the asset retirement obligation of approximately $50.0 million. There were no changes to the initial timing  
and estimates of undiscounted cash flow amounts in 2009.

(p) Non-monetary Transactions
All non-monetary transactions are measured at fair value unless: the transaction lacks commercial substance; the transaction is an 
exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a product or property to be sold in the same line  
of business to facilitate sales to customers other than the parties to the exchange; neither the fair value of the assets or services received 
nor the fair value of the assets or services given up is reliably measurable; or the transaction is a non-monetary, non-reciprocal transfer  
to owners that represents a spin-off or other form of restructuring or liquidation. A non-monetary transaction has commercial substance 
when an entity’s future cash flows are expected to change significantly as a result of the transaction. 

(q) Revenue
In the United States, revenue from skilled nursing centers is derived from various federal and state medical assistance programs, 
Managed Care providers (for residents with health maintenance and commercial insurance programs), as well as privately from  
the residents. Revenue is recorded in the period in which services and products are provided at established rates less contractual 
adjustments. Contractual adjustments include differences between established billing rates and amounts estimated by management  
as reimbursable under various reimbursement formulas or contracts in effect. Differences between final settlements and amounts 
recorded in previous years are reported as adjustments to revenue in the period such settlements are determined.

Extendicare REIT also offers information technology services to smaller long-term care providers through its wholly owned U.S. 
subsidiary, virtual Care Provider, Inc., thereby reducing in-house technology costs for these providers.

In addition, EHSI derives outpatient therapy revenue in the U.S. by providing rehabilitation therapy services to outside third parties  
at its clinics. This revenue source is primarily from Managed Care, workers’ compensation, self-pay clients and partly from Medicare  
and Medicaid. Revenue is recognized in the period in which services are provided.

In Canada, fees charged for its nursing homes and home care services are regulated by provincial authorities. Provincial programs fund 
a substantial portion of these fees. Revenue is recorded in the period in which services and products are provided.

Assisted living center revenue in the U.S. and Canada is primarily derived from private-pay residents and is recognized in the period  
in which the services are provided and at rates established by the REIT based upon the services provided and market conditions  
in the area of operation. 
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(r) Income Taxes
Extendicare REIT and its subsidiaries are subject to income taxes as imposed by the jurisdictions in which they operate in accordance 
with the relevant tax laws of such jurisdictions. Income taxes are calculated using the asset and liability method of tax allocation, which  
is based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Future income tax assets or liabilities are 
calculated using tax rates anticipated to apply in the periods that the temporary differences are expected to reverse. The income tax 
rates used to measure income tax assets and liabilities are those rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.  
In assessing whether the future tax assets are realizable, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion  
or all of the future tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of future tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future 
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled 
reversal of future tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.

Tax uncertainties are evaluated on the basis of whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will ultimately be sustained upon 
examination by the relevant taxing authorities. Tax uncertainties are measured using a probability adjusted or expected value model 
whereby amounts are recorded if there is any uncertainty about a filing position, determined by multiplying the amount of the exposure 
by the probability that the entity’s filing position will not be sustained.

(s) Employee Future Benefits
The costs of the defined benefit pension plans are accrued as earned, based on actuarial valuations. Pension fund assets are valued  
at fair value and the net actuarial gain or loss in excess of 10% of the greater of the benefit obligations and the market value of plan 
assets is amortized over the average remaining service periods of active employees. Employee future benefit obligations are measured 
using market interest rates for high quality debt instruments.

(t) Derivative Financial Instruments
All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at their respective fair values. On the date a derivative contract is entered 
into, the REIT assesses whether or not to designate the derivative as either a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability  
(a “fair-value hedge”) or a hedge of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability or a 
forecasted transaction (a “cash-flow hedge”). At the inception of any hedge and on an ongoing basis, we assess whether the derivatives 
that are used in the hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items.  
We currently do not have any fair-value or cash-flow hedges.

Management uses foreign currency forward contracts (FCFCs) to limit the exposure of converting U.S. cash flow into Canadian  
dollars. These are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes; therefore, gains or losses arising from the change in fair values 
are recognized in net earnings during the year. 

The REIT does not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

(u) Unit Appreciation Rights Plan
For awards under the REIT’s unit appreciation rights plan (the “UARP”), the REIT accrues compensation expense on a straight-line  
basis over a three-year vesting period in an amount by which the Fair Market value of a trust unit of Extendicare REIT (the “REIT Unit”) 
exceeds the grant price, plus Accrued Distributions. Changes in the quoted market value of the REIT Units between the date of grant  
and the reporting period date result in a change in the measure of compensation for the award. “Fair Market value” of a REIT Unit,  
on any particular date, means the volume-weighted average trading price of the REIT Unit on the TSx for the 10 trading days  
immediately preceding such date. “Accrued Distributions” means, the aggregate amount of cash distributions per REIT Unit  
declared payable to holders of record during the term of the unit appreciation right (UAR).

(v) Exchangeable Units
Class B limited partnership units (Exchangeable lP Units) of Extendicare limited Partnership (Extendicare lP) are presented as part  
of unitholders’ equity of the REIT as their features make them economically equivalent to the REIT Units.
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2. future change in accounting Policies 

Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards
In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board of Canada (AcSB) confirmed its decision to require all publicly accountable 
enterprises to report under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), with early adoption permitted. For the REIT, IFRS  
will be effective for interim and annual periods commencing January 1, 2011, including the preparation and reporting of one year  
of comparative figures. It is not our intention to early adopt IFRS prior to January 1, 2011.

The REIT continues to assess the effects of the transition to IFRS on its financial reporting and disclosure requirements. The process will 
be ongoing as the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issues new standards and/or revises its existing recommendations. 

Business Combinations, Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-controlling Interests
In January 2009, the CICA issued new Handbook Sections: Section 1582 “Business Combinations”, Section 1601 “Consolidated Financial 
Statements” and Section 1602 “Non-controlling Interests”. Section 1582 establishes standards for accounting for business combinations and 
is equivalent to the IFRS standard, IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. Section 1601, which establishes standards for consolidated financial 
statement preparation, replaces Section 1600 “Consolidated Financial Statements”, and along with Section 1602, replicates the IFRS 
standard, IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”, other than the disclosure requirements, and provides guidance  
on accounting for non-controlling interests subsequent to a business combination. All three new sections are to be implemented 
concurrently, and are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with earlier adoption permitted as of the beginning 
of a fiscal year. Management is evaluating the potential impact of these new standards, but does not expect that there will be a material 
impact on the financial position or results of the REIT. 

3. acquisitions

2008
During 2008, the REIT completed acquisitions totalling $17.0 million, net of cash acquired and debt assumed. These transactions are 
summarized below.

ltc Professional
Prior to being acquired by EHSI on October 31, 2007, Tendercare (Michigan) Inc. and its affiliated entities (collectively “Tendercare”) 
insured its general and professional liability through an affiliated insurance subsidiary, lTC Professional Insurance Company ltd.  
(lTC Professional), which is domiciled in Barbados. Pursuant to the Tendercare share purchase agreement, ECI agreed to acquire  
lTC Professional upon approval of the Barbados regulator. ECI received approval from the Barbados regulator, and completed the 
acquisition of lTC Professional, effective January 1, 2008, for a nominal amount. Consideration for the acquisition was based upon the 
valuation of the excess of assets in lTC Professional on the acquisition date and the actuarially determined liability for claims incurred 
prior to the acquisition of Tendercare on October 31, 2007. Any additional amounts payable or receivable will be calculated annually 
based on the actuarial liabilities determined at December 31st of each year through 2012, with an option to increase the review period  
to December 31, 2015. All such amounts will be recorded as an adjustment to net earnings in the year they are determined. 

Below is the purchase price allocation finalized as at December 31, 2008.

The accrual for self-insured liabilities includes a liability of $1.2 million (US$1.2 million) due to the former shareholders of lTC 
Professional that will be discharged as the liabilities are settled and ultimate claims are determined. 

 January 1, 2008  Barbados

Investments  7,241
Accrual for self-insured liabilities  6,952
Current liabilities  289
NeT	ASSeTS	pURCHASed  –
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manitoBa nursing homes
On October 6, 2008, pursuant to the purchase and sale agreement signed on June 12, 2008, ECI acquired three Manitoba nursing 
homes (304 beds). Total consideration for the transaction was $26.4 million, including the assumption of existing debt of $9.4 million,  
for net cash cost of $17.0 million including estimated transaction costs of approximately $1.6 million, prior to refinancing the properties. 
ECI refinanced the $9.4 million of existing mortgages for $17.0 million of conventional mortgages at a fixed rate of 5.75%, with a five-year 
term and monthly payments based on a 25-year amortization period. Prior to the acquisition, ECI had been operating these centers 
under management contracts for five years. 

The purchase price allocation was finalized in the 2009 third quarter as follows: 

 October 6, 2008  Manitoba

	 	 	 	 (3 nursing homes – 304 beds)

Property and equipment  17,311
Goodwill  12,978
Total assets  30,289
Working capital  188
long-term debt, at fair value  9,448
Future income tax liability  3,641
NeT	ASSeTS	pURCHASed  17,012

CONSideRATiON	–	CASH,	iNCLUdiNg	TRANSACTiON	COSTS	Of	$1.6	miLLiON	  17,012

4. ProPerty and equiPment

     2009   2008

	 	 	 	 	 Accumulated	 	 	 Accumulated	
	 	 	 	 	 depreciation	and	 Net	Book	 	 Depreciation and Net Book	
	 	 	 	 Cost	 Amortization	 value	 Cost Amortization value

land and land improvements  73,544	 5,470	 68,074 83,164 5,629 77,535
Buildings  1,082,215	 410,566	 671,649 1,186,731 416,470 770,261
Furniture and equipment  140,961	 64,583	 76,378 148,121 59,890 88,231
leasehold improvements  8,008	 2,626	 5,382 14,164 6,324 7,840
Construction in progress  41,947	 –	 41,947 26,745 – 26,745
     1,346,675	 483,245	 863,430 1,458,925 488,313 970,612

The cost of assets included in property and equipment under capital leases was $87.4 million (2008 – $88.3 million) with accumulated 
depreciation of $15.4 million (2008 – $13.2 million) (note 8). 

During 2008, a forgivable loan was granted by the local Regional Health Authority (David Thompson Health Region) for a construction 
project in Red Deer, Alberta. This loan is being drawn on during the construction period and is accounted for as government grants as 
the likelihood of triggering repayment is remote (note 17). The amount of forgivable loan received during 2009 was $10.0 million  
(2008 – $6.3 million), and was netted with other costs included in construction in progress. 

Interest is capitalized in connection with the construction of centers and is amortized over their estimated useful life. Interest capitalized 
in 2009 was $1.5 million (2008 – $0.7 million). 

The change in property and equipment is summarized in the table below:

    2009 2008

Balance at beginning of year 970,612 837,965
Acquisitions (note 3) – 24,982
Purchases 89,128 51,995
Disposals, impairment and reclassification of assets held for sale (notes 6 and 12) (40,200) (23,399)
Depreciation (61,100) (55,559)
Foreign exchange (95,010) 134,628
Balance at end of year 863,430 970,612
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5. goodwill and other intangiBle assets

    2009 2008

gOOdwiLL
Balance at beginning of year     	201,974      159,501
Additions       5,652      7,331
Reclass    	 	 –      1,231
Disposals     	 (4,422)      (2,642)
Impairment      (3,982)	 	 	 	 	  –
Foreign exchange     	 (25,900)      36,553
Balance at end of year      173,322	 	 	 	 	  201,974

	 	 	 	 	 Resident	 	 pur-	 Com-	 	 	 Resident  Pur- Com-	
	 	 	 	 Leasehold	 Relation-	 Non-	 chased	 puter	 	leasehold Relation- Non- chased puter	
	 	 	 	 Rights	 ships	 Compete		 License	 Software	 	 Rights ships compete  license Software

OTHeR	iNTANgiBLe	ASSeTS
Gross carrying value  
 at beginning of year 548	 2,646	 101	 1,281	 32,349	 36,925 446 2,230 82 1,281 10,093 14,132
Additions –	 –	 –	 –	 3,677	 3,677 – – – – 19,459 19,459
Write-off of fully  
 amortized assets  (548)	 (2,480)	 –	 (235)	 (1,449)	 (4,712)  – (83) – – (1,628) (1,711)
Foreign exchange –	 (166)	 (14)	 –	 (4,431)	 (4,611) 102 499 19 – 4,425 5,045
Gross carrying value  
 at end of year −–	 –−	 87	 1,046	 30,146	 31,279  548 2,646  101 1,281 32,349 36,925
Accumulated amortization  
 at beginning of year (548)	 (2,312)	 (21)	 (346)	(10,043)	(13,270) (425) (295) (1) (338) (5,410) (6,469)
Amortization –	 (313)	 (19)	 (8)	 (5,969)	 (6,309) (23) (1,778) (18) (8) (3,829) (5,656)
Write-off of fully  
 amortized assets 548	 2,480	 –	 234	 1,441	 4,703 – (83) – – 1,628 1,545
Foreign exchange –	 145	 3	 –	 1,641	 1,789 (100) (156) (2) – (2,432) (2,690)
Accumulated amortization  
 at end of year –	 –−	 (37)	 (120)	(12,930)	(13,087) (548) (2,312) (21) (346) (10,043) (13,270)
Net carrying value –	 –−	 50	 926	 17,216	 18,192 −–  334  80  935 22,306 23,655
        	191,514      225,629

In connection with the disposition of two Ohio centers in March 2009, goodwill was reduced by $4.4 million (US$3.5 million) during the 
2009 first quarter (note 12). The purchase price allocation for the Manitoba nursing homes was finalized during the 2009 third quarter; 
as a result, goodwill was increased by $5.7 million (note 3). Goodwill was further reduced by $4.0 million (US$3.8 million) during the 
2009 fourth quarter with regards to the pending sale of six Michigan centers, one owned Ohio center and one Pennsylvania center to  
be completed in 2010 (note 12).

During 2008, EHSI and Tendercare reached agreement on the first adjustment on acquired working capital relating to the acquisition of 
Tendercare in 2007, which resulted in EHSI recording an increase in goodwill and a liability of $2.0 million (US$2.0 million) during the 
first quarter. In addition, the purchase price allocation was revised during the first and fourth quarters in the same year, resulting in a total 
net increase in goodwill of $1.2 million (US$1.2 million) for 2008.

Prior year balances have been reclassified to reflect the adoption of the new standards on intangible assets (note 1(c)).

6. other assets

    2009 2008

Investments held for self-insured liabilities 
  Held-to-maturity securities, at amortized cost 6,025 6,979
  Available-for-sale securities, at fair value 59,307 60,546
Notes, mortgages and amounts receivable 50,897 53,342
Medicare and Medicaid settlement receivables, less allowance of nil (2008 – nil) 17,420 17,224
Assets held for sale 33,221 13,550
    166,870 151,641
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Investments Held for Self-insured Liabilities 
These investments held for self-insured liabilities are subject to insurance regulatory requirements and are categorized as held  
to maturity or available for sale. The investment portfolio is comprised of U.S. dollar-denominated cash, money market funds and 
investment-grade corporate and government securities. Certain of these investments in the amount of $1.9 million (US$1.8 million)  
have been pledged as collateral for letters of credit issued by the banker of the REIT’s captive insurance company in favour  
of ceding companies.

     2009  2008

	 	 	 	 Held-to-maturity	 Available-for-Sale	 Total	 Total

Fixed income securities, with maturities due 
  In one year or less –	 11,619	 11,619 4,635
  After 1 year through 5 years 5,585	 26,397	 31,982 14,589
  After 5 years through 10 years 440	 3,233	 3,673 5,396
    6,025	 41,249	 47,274 24,620
Cash and money market funds –	 14,611	 14,611 37,318
Equities –	 3,447	 3,447 5,587
    6,025	 59,307	 65,332 67,525

Notes, Mortgages and Amounts Receivable
Included in notes, mortgages and amounts receivable are $42.6 million (2008 – $45.0 million) of discounted amounts receivable due 
from government agencies. These represent amounts funded by the Ontario government for a portion of nursing home construction 
costs over a 20-year period. As each center was opened, a receivable from the government was recorded based on applying a discount 
rate equivalent to the yield on a 20-year Ontario government bond. The amounts were discounted at rates ranging from 5.3% to 6.5% and 
were also treated as a reduction in the cost of the property and equipment related to the center. 

Medicare and Medicaid Settlement Receivables
Settlement receivables from both Medicare and Medicaid state programs at December 31, 2009, totalled $26.5 million (2008 –  
$27.4 million), net of an allowance of nil (2008 – nil). EHSI’s Medicare settlement receivables primarily relate to reimbursable Part A 
co-insurance receivables, which totalled $23.5 million (US$22.4 million) and $25.3 million (US$20.8 million) at December 31, 2009 and 
December 31, 2008, respectively. Upon determination of differences between the final settlement and amounts recorded in previous 
years, adjustments to revenues are recorded in the period this determination is made. Medicaid settlement receivables pertain to 
cost-based reimbursement programs. The amounts expected to be substantially collected within one year are reported as current 
accounts receivable, and the remaining amounts totalling $17.4 million (2008 – $17.2 million) are reported in other assets.

Assets Held for Sale
As at December 31, 2009, assets held for sale of $33.2 million (US$31.6 million) relate to six skilled nursing centers in Michigan  
(667 beds), one skilled nursing center in Ohio (100 beds) and one skilled nursing center in Pennsylvania (107 beds) that are under an 
agreement for sale with another long-term operator to close no later than May 31, 2010, for a total cash consideration of US$31.0 million 
(Michigan/Ohio/Pennsylvania Agreement) (note 12). In addition, assets held for sale include a former 74-bed skilled nursing property  
in Port Angeles, Washington, which was replaced by a new 100-bed skilled nursing center opened in 2008 in Sequim, Washington. 

7. self-insured liaBilities and measurement uncertainty

The accrual for self-insured liabilities is based on management’s best estimate of the ultimate cost to settle claims. Management 
regularly evaluates the appropriateness of the carrying value of this liability. General and professional liability claims are the most volatile 
and significant of the risks for which the REIT self-insures.

Management’s estimate of the accrual for general and professional liability claims is significantly influenced by assumptions, which  
are limited by the uncertainty of predictions concerning future events and assessments regarding expectations of several factors.  
Such factors include, but are not limited to: the frequency and severity of claims, which can differ materially by jurisdiction in which  
we operate; coverage limits of third-party reinsurance; our level of retained risk; and other significant assumptions that underlie 
management’s estimates of self-insured liabilities, could have a material effect on the future carrying value of the self-insured liabilities, 
as well as on our operating results and liquidity.
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General and professional liability claim payments for any particular policy year occur over a period of several years. However, 
management estimates and allocates a current portion of the general and professional liability claim payments on the balance sheet. 

We invest funds to provide security for the accrual for self-insured liabilities (note 6) and believe that we have sufficient cash resources  
to meet our estimated current claims payment obligations. 

8. long-term deBt

     2009  2008

	 	 	 	 US$	 C$	 US$ C$

eHSi (payable in US$)
CMBS Financing, 6.6525%, due 2011 499,348 524,816 500,000 609,000
CMBS Financing, 6.79%, due 2012 89,029 93,569 90,000 109,620
line of credit under Credit Facility, variable rates, due 2011 23,535 24,735 11,000 13,398
Sovereign Bank mortgage loans, variable rates, due 2011 49,513	 52,038 50,518 61,531
HUD mortgages, 5% to 5.5%, due 2018 to 2032 23,275 24,462 24,557 29,910
Other mortgage loans, 5.72% to 6.7%, maturing through to 2010 7,039 7,398 7,310 8,904
Notes payable, 7.5%, maturing through to 2013 16,000 16,816 21,458 26,136
Obligations under capital leases, 5.24% to 7.65%,  
 maturing through to 2015 3,489 3,667 4,092 4,984
    711,228 747,501 708,935 863,483
Financing costs (9,196) (9,665) (12,261) (14,934)
    702,032 737,836 696,674 848,549
exTeNdiCARe	ReiT	ANd	CANAdiAN	SUBSidiARieS (payable in C$)
Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Debentures, 5.7%, due 2014  107,959  107,868
Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Debentures, 7.25%, due 2013  90,387  90,242
Mortgages, 3.52% to 9.81%, maturing through to 2017   167,155  171,481
Obligations under capital leases, average rate of 7.08%,  
 maturing through to 2028  122,279  130,674
Construction loan, variable rate, due 2011  17,331  –
     505,111  500,265
Financing costs 	 (8,915)  (16,001)
     496,196  484,264
Total debt net of financing costs 	 1,234,032  1,332,813
less: current portion  28,538  42,217
    	 1,205,494	  1,290,596

EHSI Debt

cmBs financings
On October 16, 2006, EHSI completed a US$500.0 million commercial mortgage backed securitization financing (the “2011 CMBS 
Financing”). The 2011 CMBS Financing has a five-year term, with a fixed interest rate of 6.6525%, with interest-only monthly payments  
for the first three years, and monthly principal and interest payments thereafter, based upon a 25-year amortization. 

On March 6, 2007, EHSI completed a second series of CMBS financings of US$90.0 million (the “2012 CMBS Financing”). The 2012 
CMBS Financing has a five-year term, with a fixed interest rate of 6.79%, with interest-only monthly payments for the first two years, and 
monthly principal and interest payments thereafter, based upon a 25-year amortization. The proceeds from the 2012 CMBS Financing 
were primarily used to pay income taxes of $120.2 million (US$102.2 million), due in March 2007, associated with the disposition  
of AlC in 2006.

The 2011 and 2012 CMBS financings are collateralized by first mortgages on 86 and 14 of EHSI’s skilled nursing centers, respectively, 
and all other assets owned by these centers including personal property and receivables. Under both financings, EHSI is required  
to maintain: a consolidated leverage ratio, exclusive of any notes owing to Extendicare REIT and its subsidiaries, of less than 5.5 to 1.0; 
and a lease debt service coverage ratio of at least 1.05 to 1.00. EHSI is required to fund capital replacement reserves on a monthly basis, 
plus amounts to cover any significant renovations; however, these funds are recuperated upon evidence of the work being completed.  
If an event of default occurs, the lenders may appoint an interim manager and charge a default rate of interest, and/or foreclose on the 
mortgages and other collateral securing the loans. 
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Under the terms of both CMBS financings, EHSI has the option to prepay the balance in whole, but not in part, provided no event of 
default has occurred and a prepayment yield maintenance premium is paid by EHSI. This premium is an amount equal to the greater  
of: one percent of the principal amount being prepaid; or the present value, as of the prepayment date, of interest payments computed 
using the principal amount being prepaid and an interest rate equal to the excess, if any, of the interest rate on the CMBS financings over 
the current market United States Treasury rate for the period through the maturity dates.

credit facility
The credit facility of EHSI (the “EHSI Credit Facility”) was renewed and amended in June 2009 and provides for borrowings up to 
US$70.0 million. The amount available to be borrowed under the EHSI Credit Facility is the lesser of: (1) 60% of the appraised values  
of the skilled nursing centers collateralizing the EHSI Credit Facility, or (2) an amount based on the actual net cash flow of these centers 
for the last 12 months. The amount available to be borrowed as of December 31, 2009, was US$70.0 million. The EHSI Credit Facility 
matures in June 2011 and has an option to extend for a third year to June 2012 upon satisfaction of certain conditions. 

The EHSI Credit Facility is used to back letters of credit and for general corporate purposes, and requires EHSI to comply with various 
financial covenants, including fixed charge coverage, debt leverage, and tangible net worth ratios. It contains customary covenants and 
events of default and is subject to various mandatory prepayment and commitment reductions. If an event of default occurs, the lenders 
may accelerate the maturity of the loans under the EHSI Credit Facility, charge a default rate of interest, and/or foreclose on the 
mortgages and other collateral securing the EHSI Credit Facility. EHSI is permitted to make voluntary prepayments at any time.

The EHSI Credit Facility is secured by mortgages on 21 skilled nursing centers and is guaranteed by Extendicare Holdings, Inc. and 
EHSI’s material domestic subsidiaries. Tendercare and its subsidiaries remain classified as unrestricted subsidiaries under the EHSI 
Credit Facility; however, the entities are now specified non-recourse subsidiaries and are considered restricted subsidiaries solely with 
respect to certain financial covenants. Tendercare and certain of its subsidiaries have also given a limited guarantee and granted a 
security interest in their accounts receivable, chattel paper and instruments, and any books and records pertaining thereto to the lender. 

At EHSI’s option, the interest rate is either the eurodollar rate, with a floor set at 2%, plus a margin from 4% to 4.75%, or the U.S. prime rate 
plus a margin from 3% to 3.75%. The specific margin is based on EHSI’s consolidated leverage ratio as defined in the EHSI Credit Facility.

As of December 31, 2009, US$23.5 million was drawn under the EHSI Credit Facility. The unused portion of the EHSI Credit Facility that 
was available for working capital and corporate purposes, after reduction for total outstanding letters of credit of US$3.7 million in favour 
of a state workers compensation program and certain landlords of leased properties, was US$42.8 million as of December 31, 2009.  
The letters of credit are renewed annually in mid-October.

sovereign Bank mortgage loans 
The Sovereign Bank mortgage loans (the “Sovereign loans”) are secured by first mortgages on 21 skilled nursing centers owned by 
Tendercare and its subsidiaries. These loans have a three-year term with monthly payments based on a 25-year amortization period. 
Under the mortgage agreement, Tendercare and its subsidiaries are required to maintain a minimum consolidated fixed charge 
coverage ratio and the 21 skilled nursing centers securing the loans are required to maintain a minimum combined debt service 
coverage ratio. At EHSI’s option, the interest rate is equal to lIBOR plus a margin of 3.25% or the U.S. prime rate plus a margin of 0.50%. 

EHSI has the option to prepay the balance in whole or in part provided no event of default has occurred and a yield maintenance fee is 
paid by EHSI for any loan that has a rate based on lIBOR. This premium is equal to the present value of the excess, if any, of (1) interest 
computed at the current loan rate until the next interest rate change date, over (2) interest computed for the same period based on the 
current rate for United States Treasury securities with a maturity date closest to the next interest rate change date.

hud mortgages
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) insured mortgages are secured by first mortgages on 10 skilled nursing 
centers owned by Tendercare and its subsidiaries, and mature from 2018 through 2032. The monthly principal and interest payments 
are approximately US$0.2 million. In addition, the regulatory agreement between Tendercare and HUD specifies the maintenance of 
escrow reserve funds for mortgage insurance premiums, property taxes, insurance and repairs and replacements. These mortgages  
are subject to prepayment penalties of between 4% and 6% of the remaining principal balances, which decrease by 1% per year until  
no penalty is required. 
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notes PayaBle
Notes payable are related to seller notes of US$16.0 million arising from the Tendercare acquisition from 2007 (note 21). These notes 
have an interest rate of 7.5%, with an original balance totalling US$26.4 million, consisting of US$16.0 million payable commencing in 
2010 at US$4.0 million per annum until maturity in 2013 and the balance of the notes of US$10.4 million payable based upon certain 
factors being met, but with a term of no longer than 18 months ending April 2009. In January 2008 and March 2009, those factors were 
met and EHSI paid US$5.4 million and US$5.0 million, respectively. Under the terms of the agreement, the balance of acquired working 
capital is subject to adjustment based upon finalization of the assets subsequently received and liabilities subsequently incurred.  
The adjustments occur annually 90 days after the anniversary date of the Tendercare acquisition over a four-year period until January 
2012. The first anniversary adjustment increased net working capital by US$1.7 million and was paid by EHSI in April 2009 with no impact 
on net earnings.

Canadian Debt

convertiBle unsecured suBordinated deBentures
On June 19, 2008, the REIT completed a public offering of $92.0 million of 7.25% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures  
with an $11.35 conversion price, due June 30, 2013 (the “2013 Debentures”) and 3,565,000 REIT Units at $9.70 per unit for aggregate 
proceeds of $34.6 million. Interest on the 2013 Debentures is payable semi-annually. The 2013 Debentures may not be redeemed by the 
REIT prior to July 1, 2011, except in the event of the satisfaction of certain conditions after a change of control has occurred. On or after 
July 1, 2011 but prior to July 1, 2012, these debentures may be redeemed by the REIT in whole at any time or in part from time to time,  
at a price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, on a notice of not more than 60 days and not less than 
30 days prior, provided that the volume-weighted average trading price of the REIT Units on the TSx for the 20 consecutive trading days 
ending on the fifth trading day immediately preceding the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the 
conversion price. On or after July 1, 2012, these debentures may be redeemed by the REIT in whole at any time or in part from time  
to time, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, on a notice of not more than 60 days  
and not less than 30 days prior. 

On June 21, 2007, Extendicare REIT completed a public offering of $115.0 million of 5.7% convertible unsecured subordinated 
debentures, with a $19.90 conversion price, due June 30, 2014 (the “2014 Debentures”). Interest is payable semi-annually. The 2014 
Debentures may not be redeemed by the REIT prior to July 1, 2010, except in the event of the satisfaction of certain conditions after  
a change of control has occurred. On or after July 1, 2010, but prior to July 1, 2012, the redemption features, dates, terms and conditions 
are identical to the 2013 Debentures described above. 

As the 2013 and 2014 debentures are convertible into REIT Units, they were accounted for, in part, as equity. 

Upon a change of control whereby more than 662⁄3% of the units are acquired by any person or group of persons acting jointly, each 
holder of the 2013 or 2014 debentures may require the REIT to purchase their debentures at 101% of the principal. If 90% or more of  
the debenture holders do so, the REIT has the right but not the obligation to redeem all the remaining outstanding debentures.

mortgages
Extendicare REIT’s Canadian subsidiaries have various mortgages with several Canadian financial institutions at rates ranging from 
3.52% to 9.81% with maturity dates through to 2017.

In July 2008, Extendicare successfully refinanced $10.3 million of mortgage loans on three Ontario nursing homes with $20.7 million  
of Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) financing at a fixed rate of 5.012%, with a five-year term and monthly payments 
based on a 15-year amortization period. 

On January 26, 2009, ECI refinanced a $6.0 million mortgage on an Ontario nursing center with $8.9 million of CMHC financing  
at a fixed rate of 3.52%, with a five-year term, and monthly payments based on a 15-year amortization. 

caPital lease oBligations
ECI obtained financing of $125.4 million in 2001 from BCP long-Term Care Facilities Inc. (BCP) to build eight Ontario nursing  
centers and entered into another arrangement in 2003 with BCP for $14.4 million of financing for an additional Ontario nursing home. 
ECI is operating the centers for BCP under 25-year capital lease arrangements at an average interest rate of 7.08%. 
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construction loan
In September 2008, ECI secured CMHC insured construction financing on its Red Deer, Alberta project, for a maximum of $30.4 million, 
of which we anticipate utilizing $28.9 million (approximately 87% of the construction costs, net of government grants), plus CMHC fees 
of $1.6 million. Commencing in January 2009, ECI made its first draw under the loan. The loan is due in February 2011, with interest-only 
payments based on a floating rate of 30-day asset backed commercial paper rates plus 1.5%. Management plans to secure long-term 
financing for this project prior to its completion in the summer of 2010. 

In June 2009, ECI obtained CMHC insured long-term financing of $16.6 million on its lethbridge, Alberta project (approximately 95%  
of the construction costs, net of government grants), plus CMHC fees of $1.0 million. The loan has a term of 27 years, of which the first 
two years is for construction at a fixed rate of 4.25%, following which it would be amortized over 25 years at a fixed rate of 7.70%. 
However, once the center is opened, the interest costs will be reimbursed through government funding for the rest of the term. 

In July 2009, ECI obtained a CMHC insurance certificate to finance its Edmonton, Alberta project. In August 2009, construction financing 
of $16.6 million was secured (approximately 85% of the construction costs, net of government grants), plus CMHC fees of $1.0 million. 
The loan has a term of two years, with interest-only payments based on a floating rate of 30-day banker’s acceptance plus 2.5%. 
Management plans to secure long-term financing before the end of the two-year term. 

Other

letters of credit
EHSI had US$3.7 million in letters of credit under the EHSI Credit Facility which were issued in favour of a state workers’ compensation 
program and certain landlords of leased properties. These letters of credit are renewed annually and mature through October 2010. 

Extendicare Inc. has a $70.0 million credit facility with the Royal Bank of Canada (the “RBC Credit Facility”) for its Canadian operations 
that is due on demand. The RBC Credit Facility is secured by 14 Canadian nursing homes and guaranteed by certain Canadian 
operating subsidiaries of Extendicare. This credit facility is used to back letters of credit of which there were $60.1 million issued and 
outstanding as at December 31, 2009, leaving $9.9 million available. The $60.1 million of letters of credit secured $44.5 million of 
Extendicare’s executive pension obligations, $15.4 million of our obligation for contingent liabilities in connection with the sale of our 
investment in Crown life Insurance Company (Crown life) in 2007 (note 11) and $0.2 million related to construction projects. The letter 
of credit securing the executive pension obligations was renewed in March 2009, with a May 1, 2010, renewal date. The Crown life 
letters of credit have various terms ranging from 5 to 15 years, and were renewed on July 5, 2009, at the reduced amount of $15.4 million 
from $16.8 million in 2008 as a result of the settlement of certain contingent liabilities. 

In June 2009, Extendicare Inc. amended its RBC Credit Facility to provide for the issuance of a U.S. dollar letter of credit facility of up  
to US$22.2 million which was subsequently reduced to US$18.1 million in December 2009, in addition to the existing $70.0 million 
available under the RBC Credit Facility. The amended credit facility is secured by $22.4 million in cash collateral held by RBC that is used 
to back the US$18.1 million letter of credit issued to a third-party insurer for workers’ compensation claims of EHSI. The cash collateral is 
currently invested in short-term deposits; however, the cash is restricted as to withdrawal and therefore presented on the balance sheet 
as restricted cash within current assets. 

financing costs 
Financing costs are deducted from long-term debt and are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the term of the  
debt. Financing costs included as part of long-term debt amounted to $18.6 million at December 31, 2009. Financing costs decreased 
$12.4 million during 2009, associated mainly with financing and refinancing of new and existing debt, a $1.8 million increase due  
to foreign exchange and $8.2 million amortized to interest expense.
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Below is a summary of the financing costs:

     2009  2008

	 	 	 	 US$	 C$	 US$ C$

eHSi (payable in US$)
CMBS Financing, 6.6525%, due 2011 5,110 5,371 7,583 9,236
CMBS Financing, 6.79%, due 2012 1,283 1,348 1,814 2,209
line of credit under Credit Facility, variable rates, due 2011 1,718 1,805 1,232 1,501
Sovereign Bank mortgage loans, variable rates, due 2011 936 984 1,497 1,824
Other  149 157 135 164
    9,196 9,665 12,261 14,934
exTeNdiCARe	ReiT	ANd	CANAdiAN	SUBSidiARieS (payable in C$)
Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Debentures, 5.7%, due 2014  3,211  4,040
Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Debentures, 7.25%, due 2013  3,047  3,827
Mortgages, 3.52% to 9.81%, maturing through to 2017  1,826  2,190
Obligations under capital leases, average rate of 7.08%,  
 maturing through to 2028  545  5,914
Construction loan, variable rate, due 2011  286  30
     8,915  16,001
Total financing costs  18,580  30,935
less: current portion  7,291  8,117
     11,289  22,818

PrinciPal rePayments
Principal repayments on long-term debt, exclusive of the equity allocation and obligations under capital leases as described in note 17, 
and after giving effect to renewal privileges, are as follows:

 Year  Amount

2010   31,510
2011   625,557
2012   105,490
2013   205,545
2014   123,791
2015 and beyond   42,159
     1,134,052

interest rates
The weighted average interest rate of all long-term debt at December 31, 2009, was approximately 6.6% (2008 – 6.7%).  
At December 31, 2009, 92.5% of the long-term debt, excluding financing costs and equity allocation, was at fixed rates. 

9. derivative financial instruments and foreign exchange

 Loss	(Gain)	on	Derivative	Financial	Instruments	and	Foreign	Exchange 2009 2008

valuation loss (gain) on foreign currency forward contracts  (12,812) 25,757
Notes due between Canadian and U.S. subsidiaries (7,477) (314)
valuation loss on interest rate swap agreements – 354
Gain on termination of interest rate swap agreement – (453)
    (20,289) 25,344

Foreign Currency Derivatives
The valuation gain on FCFCs was $12.8 million in 2009 (2008 – loss of $25.7 million). This was mostly related to revaluation of EHSI 
contracts that lock in the purchase of Canadian dollars at specified foreign exchange rates for US$4.0 million per month until June 2011. 
One of these contracts expired in December 2009 (note 19). 
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Notes Due between Canadian and U.S. Subsidiaries
For the year ended December 31, 2009, the REIT recorded a foreign exchange gain of $7.5 million (2008 – $0.3 million). This included  
a foreign exchange gain of $0.5 million (2008 – $0.9 million) resulting from payments of intercompany dividends, and the remaining gain 
related primarily to the settlement of foreign currency-denominated notes between EHSI and some of the Canadian-based subsidiaries. 

Interest Rate Derivatives
EHSI assumed two interest rate swap agreements in connection with the acquisition of Tendercare in October 2007, with a notional 
amount of US$25.8 million that partially offset changes in rates on variable-rate debt of Tendercare, with maturity dates in 2008  
and 2011. These swaps were terminated in June 2008 with a payment of US$0.9 million to the counterparty, which was a lower amount 
than the carrying value, resulting in a gain of $0.4 million on termination. The revaluation of these agreements before the termination 
amounted to a loss of $0.5 million in 2008.

10. asset imPairment, disPosals and other items 

The following summarizes the components of the loss (gain) from asset impairment, disposals and other items.

    2009 2008

loss on impairment of long-lived assets – 1,319
loss on impairment of investments held for self-insured liabilities – 851
Gain on sale of non-core assets – (2,455)
loss on suspended construction projects 605 2,505
Gain on repurchase of securities for cancellation (257) –
Other gains (567) (1,365)
    (219) 855

Impairment losses are recognized for long-lived assets used in operations when indicators of impairment are present and the estimated 
undiscounted cash flows do not appear to be sufficient to recover the carrying amounts of the assets. The impairment loss is measured 
by comparing the fair value of the assets to their carrying value.

2009
In June 2009, EHSI abandoned one project in Spokane, Washington, and wrote off $0.6 million of associated costs.

Commencing in 2009, management acquired for cancellation, $1.1 million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Debentures at  
a cost of $0.7 million and $0.2 million aggregate principal amount of the 2013 Debentures at a cost of $158,500. The gain or loss on the 
purchase of these debentures was calculated by comparing the consideration paid with the carrying value of the debenture, net of the 
related financing costs, and the carrying value of the equity conversion option extinguished through the transaction. These transactions 
resulted in a gain of $0.3 million (note 13). 

Other gains of $0.6 million included the reversal of accruals no longer required resulting from the settlement of one of the contingent 
liabilities assumed from the sale of Crown life (note 11).

2008
In September 2008, due to operational issues, EHSI recorded a loss on impairment of $1.3 million (US$1.2 million) to write down the 
assets of a skilled nursing center in Washington to its estimated fair value. In the same month, the REIT also recorded a $0.9 million  
write down in investments held for self-insured liabilities, as this impairment in value was considered to be other than temporary.  
These impaired investments were sold in December, no further gain or loss was recognized.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, a gain of $2.5 million was recorded on the sale of non-core assets with no book value. In addition, 
three Ontario construction projects were suspended (note 17), and costs incurred to date of $2.5 million were written off.

Other gains of $1.3 million included primarily the reversal of accruals no longer required resulting from the settlement of one of the 
contingent liabilities assumed from the sale of Crown life (note 11), and other non-recurring miscellaneous items.
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11. other long-term liaBilities 

    2009 2008

Conditional asset retirement obligation  24,786 26,243
Accrued pension plan obligation (note 18) 22,187 22,735
Deferred compensation 11,068 11,050
Unit appreciation rights 158 –
liabilities assumed from Crown life  5,632 7,039
Future lease commitments 2,146 1,422
Fair value of foreign currency forward contract  203 9,399
Other 1,375 1,310
    67,555 79,198

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligation
The conditional asset retirement obligation relates to possible asbestos remediation of the REIT’s pre-1980 constructed centers  
(note 1(o)).

Accrued Pension Plan Obligation
Extendicare REIT provides a defined benefit pension plan, as well as a supplementary plan which is an unfunded defined benefit 
pension arrangement for certain of its executives (note 18).

Deferred Compensation
EHSI maintains an unfunded deferred compensation plan offered to all corporate employees defined as highly compensated by the  
U.S. Internal Revenue Service Code in which participants may defer up to 10% of their base salary. EHSI will match up to 50% of the 
amount deferred. EHSI also maintains an unfunded deferred salary plan for certain EHSI executives where the employee may defer  
up to 10% of their annual base salary, and a funded non-qualified deferred compensation plan covering certain executive employees.

Unit Appreciation Rights Plan 
UARs are granted at the discretion of the board of trustees of the REIT (the “Board of Trustees”), upon recommendation by the human 
resources committee of the Board. Any trustee, director, officer or employee of Extendicare REIT or its affiliates is eligible to participate. 

On August 20, 2009, the Board of Trustees granted to senior management 559,000 UARs at a price of $6.64 that vest on  
August 20, 2012, conditional on a minimum REIT Unit price of $6.64. As at December 31, 2009, the 559,000 UARs remained  
outstanding, with a remaining contractual life of 2.7 years.

Subsequent to year end, on March 10, 2010, the Board of Trustees granted to senior management and the trustees 598,000 UARs  
at a price of $10.09 that vest on March 10, 2013, conditional on a minimum REIT Unit price of $10.09.

Awards under the UARP cliff vest after three years, subject to conditions as described below, and permit the participant to receive,  
at the election of the Board of Trustees, either a payment in cash or equivalent value of REIT Units acquired on the TSx. vesting of  
UARs is subject to continued employment of the participant, with pro-rating provisions in the event of the participant’s death, retirement 
or termination of employment as described below, a minimum REIT Unit price, and may also be subject to achieving operating 
performance measures, as determined by the Board of Trustees at the date of grant. Consideration for vested UARs is equal to  
the appreciation in the Fair Market value of the vested UARs from the date of grant of the UAR, plus Accrued Distributions. 

The UARP contains provisions providing for adjustments in the event of a corporate reorganization, including an amalgamation  
or merger of the REIT with or into another entity, or in the event of a change in control (as defined in the UARP). Upon termination of 
employment (for cause) of a participant, all of his or her UARs shall be cancelled and terminated without payment. In the event of the 
death, retirement, or termination of employment (other than for cause) of a participant, that occurs on or after the first anniversary date  
of the date of grant of a particular UAR, the number of UARs available to vest for the remaining term of such grant is pro rated based  
on the elapsed time since the date of grant. The balance of the number of UARs under such grant shall be cancelled and terminated 
without payment. If the date of any such event occurs prior to the first anniversary date of the date of grant of a particular UAR, then  
such UAR is cancelled and terminated without payment.
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Liabilities Assumed from Crown Life
Under the Crown life share sale agreement with Canada life entered into in June 2007, Extendicare remains responsible for certain 
specified contingent claims against Crown life up to a maximum amount of approximately $18.8 million, which was reduced to  
$15.4 million as at December 31, 2009. In support of the claims, Extendicare delivered letters of credit to Crown life in such amount 
(note 8). Extendicare recorded a contingent liability of $5.6 million as of December 31, 2009, representing management’s best estimate 
of the exposure to the contingent claims. 

Future Lease Commitments
The effects of scheduled rent increases included in minimum lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over the  
lease term. The amount recorded as future lease commitments represents the cumulative excess of lease expense computed  
on a straight-line basis for the lease term over actual lease payments. 

Fair Value of Foreign Currency Forward Contract
At December 31, 2009, the fair value of the foreign currency forward contract was a liability of $0.3 million (2008 – $13.9 million),  
of which $0.1 million was included in accrued liabilities (2008 – $4.5 million) and $0.2 million in other long-term liabilities  
(2008 – $9.4 million).

12. discontinued oPerations

The following is a summary of results of all discontinued operations with prior periods revised accordingly.

    2009 2008

Revenue
  Nursing 94,198 116,963
  Assisted living – 513
    94,198 117,476
Operating expenses 85,746 110,699
lease costs 2,252 2,104
Earnings before undernoted 6,200 4,673
Depreciation, amortization and accretion expense 1,455 3,038
Interest expense (income) 7 (29)
Earnings before the undernoted 4,738 1,664
loss (gain) from asset impairment, disposals and other items
  Impairment charges on assets held for sale 5,752 891
  Recoveries on sale of centers (1,426) (8,470)
    4,326 (7,579)
Earnings from discontinued operations before income taxes  412 9,243
Income tax expense  2,863 2,279
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations  (2,451) 6,964

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per unit (in dollars) (0.03) 0.09

2009 Discontinued Operations
During the 2009 fourth quarter, EHSI reached an agreement with another long-term care operator to sell six Michigan skilled nursing 
centers (667 beds), one owned skilled nursing center in Ohio (100 beds), and one skilled nursing center in Pennsylvania (107 beds)  
for total cash consideration of US$31.0 million prior to May 31, 2010 (note 6). The transaction resulted in an impairment charge of  
$4.0 million (US$3.8 million) against goodwill, relating to all of these centers, which was recorded in the 2009 fourth quarter (note 5).

In addition, EHSI classified three leased Ohio skilled nursing centers as discontinued operations during 2009 and, in the 2009 fourth 
quarter, transferred one of these operations to another operator. The lease on the remaining two leased skilled nursing centers mature 
in January 2011 and the landlord is actively seeking another operator as EHSI has no intention to continue operating the centers. An 
impairment charge of $1.8 million (US$1.6 million) was recorded on these centers in the 2009 third quarter. 
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2008 Discontinued Operations
In 2008, due to poor financial and operational performance along with the need for future capital outlays, EHSI decided to actively 
pursue the sale of seven centers in Ohio, Indiana and Pennsylvania. In addition, two centers in Ohio and Oregon that were previously 
identified as discontinued operations were sold during 2008.

ohio and indiana skilled nursing centers
During 2008, three skilled nursing centers (271 beds) located in Ohio, with net book value of $11.8 million (US$9.7 million), were 
classified as discontinued operations. In March 2009, EHSI completed the sale of two of the Ohio centers for proceeds of $11.1 million 
(US$8.7 million) resulting in a gain of $1.4 million (US$1.1 million). The remaining center is included in the Michigan/Ohio/Pennsylvania 
Agreement that is expected to close no later than the end of May 2010 (note 6). 

During 2008, three skilled nursing centers (310 beds) located in Indiana, with net book value of $8.4 million (US$6.9 million), were 
classified as discontinued operations. All of the three Indiana centers were sold in the 2008 fourth quarter for proceeds of $13.9 million 
(US$11.4 million), resulting in a $5.5 million (US$4.5 million) gain. 

Another skilled nursing center (175 beds) located in Ohio was closed in May 2007 and was sold in March 2008 for net proceeds  
of $1.5 million (US$1.5 million), resulting in a recovery of $1.3 million (US$1.3 million). During the fourth quarter of 2008, bed licenses  
for this center were sold for proceeds of $4.4 million (US$3.7 million), resulting in a gain of $1.6 million (US$1.4 million).

Pennsylvania and oregon assisted living ProPerties
The financial results of an assisted living center (92 units) located in Pennsylvania were reclassified to discontinued operations in the  
first quarter of 2008, and an impairment charge of $0.9 million (US$0.9 million) was recorded to reduce the property to its fair value  
net of disposal cost. The center was closed in April 2008 and sold in May 2008 for proceeds of $0.6 million (US$0.6 million), resulting  
in a further loss of $0.4 million (US$0.4 million). 

EHSI sold a previously closed assisted living center in Oregon in May 2008 for net proceeds of $0.4 million (US$0.4 million), resulting  
in a gain of $0.5 million (US$0.5 million).

13. unit caPital 

Authorized Capital 
The REIT has an unlimited number of REIT Units and an unlimited number of Exchangeable lP Units authorized.

The REIT may issue an unlimited number of trust units, or REIT Units. Each REIT Unit is transferable and represents an equal and 
undivided beneficial interest in the assets of the REIT. Each REIT Unit entitles the holder to one vote at all meetings of unitholders of  
the REIT. Holders of REIT Units are entitled to receive non-cumulative distributions from the REIT (whether of net earnings, net realized 
capital gains or other amounts) if, as and when declared by the Board of Trustees. REIT Units are redeemable upon demand by the 
unitholders, and may be purchased by the REIT for cancellation through offers made to, and accepted by, such holders. Otherwise,  
the REIT Units have no conversion, retraction, redemption or pre-emptive rights.

The Exchangeable lP Units issued by Extendicare lP are intended, to the greatest extent practicable, to be economically equivalent  
to REIT Units. Additionally, Exchangeable lP Units are accompanied by special voting units of the REIT that entitle the holder to receive 
notice of, attend and vote at all meetings of unitholders of the REIT. As a result, they have been treated for accounting purposes as  
REIT Unit equivalents. They are exchangeable on a one-for-one basis for REIT Units at the option of the holder, and will be automatically 
exchanged for REIT Units on November 10, 2011. Each Exchangeable lP Unit entitles the holder to receive distributions from 
Extendicare lP that are, to the greatest extent practicable, economically equivalent to the distributions made to holders of REIT Units. 
During 2009, 0.1 million Exchangeable lP Units were exchanged for REIT Units on a one-for-one basis at the option of the holders  
(2008 – 6.1 million).
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The following summarizes the unit capital activity during the past two years.

 (in thousands of dollars for amounts)  2009  2008

	 	 	 	 Number	 Amount	 Number Amount

REIT Units
  Issued and outstanding at beginning of year 70,162,191	 332,910 60,962,653 272,912
  Issued pursuant to DRIP 476,300	 2,743 322,300 2,258
  Issue of REIT units (note 8) –	 – 3,565,000 32,875
  Purchased pursuant to issuer bid (880,500)	 (4,153) (797,714) (3,759)
  Converted from Exchangeable lP Units 138,977	 569 6,109,952 28,624
ReiT	UNiTS	 69,896,968	 332,069 70,162,191 332,910
Exchangeable lP Units
  Issued and outstanding at beginning of year 3,410,227	 13,943 9,481,383 42,279
  Issued pursuant to DRIP 11,806	 62 38,796 288
  Converted to REIT Units (138,977)	 (569) (6,109,952) (28,624)
exCHANgeABLe	Lp	UNiTS	 3,283,056	 13,436 3,410,227 13,943
Units issued and outstanding at end of year 73,180,024	 345,505 73,572,418 346,853
Equity Portion of Convertible Debentures (note 8) –	 9,964 – 10,045
UNiT	CApiTAL 73,180,024	 355,469 73,572,418 356,898

Distribution Reinvestment Plan 
The REIT has implemented a Distribution Reinvestment Plan (DRIP) pursuant to which holders of REIT Units and holders of 
Exchangeable lP Units who are residents in Canada may elect to reinvest their cash distributions in additional REIT Units or 
Exchangeable lP Units, as the case may be, on the date of the distribution, at a price equal to 97% of the volume-weighted average 
trading price of the REIT Units on the TSx for the five trading days immediately preceding the corresponding date of distribution.  
During 2009, the REIT issued 0.5 million REIT Units at a value of $2.7 million, and Extendicare lP issued 11,800 Exchangeable lP Units  
at a value of $0.1 million in connection with the DRIP.

Normal Course Issuer Bid 
On January 5, 2010, the REIT received approval from the TSx to commence a normal course issuer bid (the “2010 Bid”) for up to  
6.9 million of the REIT Units on the TSx, $11.4 million aggregate principal amount of its 2014 Debentures, and $9.2 million aggregate 
principal amount of its 2013 Debentures, representing, in each case, approximately 10% of the public float of the outstanding securities 
at December 31, 2009. The 2010 Bid provides the REIT’s Board of Trustees with flexibility to repurchase units over a period of 
approximately one year, until January 6, 2011.

On December 18, 2008, the REIT received approval from the TSx to make a normal course issuer bid (the “2008 Bid”) for up to  
6.9 million of the REIT Units on the TSx, $11.5 million aggregate principal amount of its 2014 Debentures, and $9.2 million aggregate 
principal amount of its 2013 Debentures, representing, in each case, approximately 10% of the public float of the outstanding securities 
at December 15, 2008. The 2008 Bid expired on December 28, 2009. During the 2009 first quarter, management acquired for 
cancellation 0.9 million REIT Units at a cost of $5.3 million, $1.1 million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Debentures  
at a cost of $0.7 million and $0.2 million aggregate principal amount of the 2013 Debentures at a cost of $158,500.

14. revenue

EHSI derived approximately 78% of its revenue from services provided under the federal (Medicare) and state (Medicaid) programs 
(2008 – 79%). The Medicare program pays each participating center a prospectively set rate for each resident, which is based on the 
resident’s acuity. Most Medicaid programs fund participating centers using a case-mix based system, paying prospectively set rates. 
With respect to Medicaid in states that utilize retrospective reimbursement systems, nursing centers are paid on an interim basis for 
services provided, subject to adjustments based upon allowable costs, which are generally submitted in cost reports on an annual basis. 
In these states, revenue is subject to adjustments as a result of cost report settlements with the state.
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In respect of Medicare cost reporting periods prior to the implementation of the prospective payment system, EHSI has ongoing 
discussions with its fiscal intermediaries regarding the treatment of various items related to prior years’ cost reports. Normally, items  
are resolved during the audit process and no provision is required. Differences of opinion regarding cost reporting methods between 
EHSI and its fiscal intermediaries can be settled through a formal appeal process. Should this occur, a general provision for Medicare 
receivables may be recorded for disagreements that result in EHSI filing an appeal with the Provider Reimbursement Review Board  
of the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Differences between the final settlement and amounts recorded in prior years are 
reported as adjustments to revenue in the period they are determined.

Funding received by ECI for its nursing homes and home health care services are regulated by provincial authorities. Revenue from 
provincial programs represented approximately 65% of ECI’s nursing home revenue, and 96% of ECI’s home health care revenue. 

Interest income on investments, which was included in other revenue, amounted to $1.4 million during 2009 (2008 – $1.6 million).

15. income taxes 

Taxation of Extendicare REIT and its Corporate Subsidiaries
Extendicare REIT is a Canadian unincorporated, open-ended real estate investment trust established under the laws of the Province  
of Ontario by the Deed of Trust. 

On October 31, 2006, the Minister of Finance (Canada) (the “Finance Minister”) announced proposals to amend the Tax Act, to alter the 
taxation regime applicable to certain publicly traded entities that are specified investment flow-through trusts or partnerships, or SIFTs, 
and their investors (the “SIFT Rules”). The SIFT Rules were subsequently enacted by Bill C-52, the Budget Implementation Act, 2007, 
which received Royal Assent on June 22, 2007. Consequently, Extendicare REIT is considered a SIFT and has been subject to the SIFT 
Rules since January 1, 2007. 

Under the SIFT Rules, an income trust that is a SIFT is subject to tax in respect of certain income that is distributed to its unitholders,  
at rates that are substantially equivalent to the general corporate tax rate applicable to Canadian corporations. Distributions from income 
in respect of which this tax is payable will be treated in the same manner as taxable dividends from a taxable Canadian corporation in the 
hands of unitholders and will be eligible for the enhanced dividend tax credit if paid to an individual resident in Canada. This distribution 
tax does not apply to distributions of taxable dividends paid by a SIFT, nor does it apply to distributions that constitute returns of capital. 
Corporate subsidiaries of the REIT are not subject to tax under the SIFT Rules but are instead subject to corporate income tax in the 
jurisdictions in which they operate.

The SIFT Rules generally apply to a SIFT for taxation years ending after 2006 unless the entity would have qualified as a SIFT on  
October 31, 2006, in which case it is eligible for transitional relief from the SIFT tax through 2010. We would not have qualified as a SIFT 
on October 31, 2006, because our units were not listed or traded on a stock exchange or other public market on that date. Furthermore, 
due to the nature of our income and investments, we do not qualify for the exemption from the SIFT Rules applicable to “real estate 
investment trusts” (as defined in the SIFT Rules). As a result, we are subject to the SIFT tax commencing January 1, 2007. Accordingly,  
our results include an income tax provision for the SIFT tax commencing in the 2007 second quarter.

On July 14, 2008, November 28, 2008, and February 2, 2009, the Finance Minister released draft amendments to the Tax Act, including 
certain amendments to the SIFT Rules (the “SIFT Amendments”). The SIFT Amendments received Royal Assent on March 12, 2009. 
Among other things, the SIFT Amendments include revisions to the definitions of “SIFT trust” and “SIFT partnership” to specifically 
exclude certain trusts and partnerships that are wholly owned by a SIFT, with effect from October 31, 2006. The SIFT Amendments do  
not change the status of the REIT as a SIFT, although they confirm that Extendicare Trust, which is wholly owned by the REIT, is not a SIFT. 
Management has assessed the impact of the SIFT Amendments on Extendicare lP and has concluded that Extendicare lP should not 
be treated as a SIFT. 

New rules contained in the SIFT Amendments also facilitate the conversion of SIFT trusts into corporations, either through the 
distribution by a SIFT trust of shares of a taxable Canadian corporation to its unitholders or by the transfer of units of a SIFT trust  
to a taxable Canadian corporation, followed by a winding up of the SIFT trust. The automatic tax-deferred rollover treatment applies  
to transactions that occur on or after July 14, 2008 and before 2013.

The REIT elected to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes with the intention of managing its affairs so that  
it would be treated as a non-taxable entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The outcome of Canada’s Bill C-52 to tax income trusts 
could result in the REIT reassessing the benefit of maintaining its partnership status for U.S. tax purposes. 
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Effective Tax Rate 
The major factors that caused variations from the expected combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rates were 
the following:

    2009 2008

Earnings from continuing health care operations before income taxes 125,762 29,599
Income taxes at statutory rates of 33% (2008 – 33.5%) 41,503 9,915
Income tax effect relating to the following items:
  Tax rate variance of foreign subsidiaries  2,511 8,388
  Foreign exchange (gain) loss (1,755) 121
  Reversal of previously recognized benefit  2,001 2,081
  Non-deductible items 1,330 2,767
  Non-taxable income (185) (519)
  Other items 198 422
    45,603 23,175

Current and Future Income Tax Expense

    2009 2008

Current tax expense (recovery):
  Accelerated tax depreciation  (24,868) –
  Other 31,686 26,249
    6,818 26,249
Future tax expense (recovery):
  Accelerated tax depreciation 24,868 –
  Other 13,917 (3,074)
    38,785 (3,074)
    45,603 23,175

In respect of the 2009 income tax filings of our U.S. operations, we plan to file a one-time retroactive change in our U.S. tax accounting 
method that will accelerate the tax depreciation and expensing of certain previously capitalized assets that have occurred over  
the past seven years. This tax accounting change will expense, rather than capitalize, certain expenditures that are frequently required  
to maintain our properties. This retroactive change is subject to review by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS). 

The tax accounting change resulted in a recovery of federal and state cash taxes of US$21.8 million, to be received through a reduction 
of our 2010 U.S. tax instalments. As a result, our 2009 current income tax expense included a recovery of $24.9 million (US$21.8 million) 
recorded in the 2009 fourth quarter, with an equal offset charged to the future income tax provision that will be reversed over an 
estimated 28 years.

Summary of Operating and Capital Loss Carryforwards
At December 31, 2009, the REIT’s U.S. corporate subsidiaries had net operating loss carryforwards available for U.S. state income tax 
purposes of $32.2 million (US$30.6 million), which expire in the years 2013 through 2029, and had $8.5 million (US$8.1 million) of net 
operating loss carryforwards available for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which expire in the years 2021 through 2029. In addition,  
the REIT’s Canadian corporate subsidiaries had $25.6 million of net operating loss carryforwards available for Canadian federal income 
tax purposes, which expire in the years 2014 through 2029. To the extent that it is more likely than not that some or all of the future  
tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance has been established. A valuation allowance of $3.2 million (US$3.0 million) for  
a U.S. subsidiary was provided for in 2008, including $2.1 million (US$2.0 million) related to prior years. This valuation allowance was 
$3.3 million (US$3.1 million) at December 31, 2009.
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At December 31, 2009, there were capital losses available for Canadian income tax purposes of $28.4 million (2008 – $34.5 million) that 
can be carried forward indefinitely to apply against future capital gains. For Canadian tax purposes, there was an acquisition of control  
on November 10, 2006; as a result, capital losses incurred in taxation years ending before the acquisition of control cannot be carried 
forward to taxation years ending after the acquisition of control. To utilize these capital losses, which would otherwise expire, the REIT’s 
Canadian corporate subsidiaries made designations to increase the adjusted cost base of certain non-depreciable capital property  
to its fair market value at the time of the acquisition of control. The future tax benefit of these capital losses for 2009 and 2008 of  
$6.8 million have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The capital losses available at December 31, 2009 for carryforward were 
generated after the Reorganization and primarily arose as a result of foreign exchange losses incurred on repatriation of funds from the 
REIT’s U.S. subsidiaries following the Reorganization. The future tax benefit of these capital losses of $4.0 million (2008 – $5.0 million) 
has been fully offset by the valuation allowance against future tax assets. 

Net future tax liabilities increased in 2009 by $30.8 million to $55.0 million primarily due to the previously discussed change in  
the tax accounting method in our U.S. operations. The valuation allowance for future tax assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008  
was $17.1 million and $18.1 million, respectively. The net change in the total valuation allowance for 2009 and 2008 was a decrease  
of $1.0 million and an increase of $4.5 million, respectively. The increase in 2008 was primarily due to the uncertainty of realization  
of future tax assets in a U.S. subsidiary. Management believes it is more likely than not that the REIT’s corporate subsidiaries will realize 
the benefits of these deductible differences, net of the valuation allowances.

Future income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities and their respective  
tax values as well as available tax loss carryforwards. The significant components of future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

    2009 2008

Future income tax liabilities
  Property and equipment  96,133 84,404
  leasehold rights  418 483
  Other  18,650 12,415
    115,201 97,302
Future income tax assets
  Self-insurance reserves  13,472 17,941
  Employee benefit accruals  20,431 22,182
  Operating loss carryforwards  12,283 12,206
  Net capital loss carryforwards  3,981 5,009
  Deferred revenue  5,484 5,399
  Accounts receivable reserves  7,435 13,331
  Conditional asset retirement obligation 8,189 9,605
  Other  6,096 5,586
     77,371 91,259
 less: valuation allowance  17,136 18,075
    60,235 73,184
Future income tax liabilities, net  54,966 24,118
Current portion of future income tax assets, net 24,900 40,888
long-term future income tax liabilities, net  79,866 65,006
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16. earnings Per unit

Basic earnings per unit is calculated using the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per unit, 
using the “if-converted” method and to the extent the conversion is dilutive, assumes all convertible securities have been converted at 
the beginning of the period, or at the time of issuance, if later, and any charges or returns on the convertible securities, on an after-tax 
basis, are removed from net earnings. The after-tax interest on convertible debentures have been removed from net earnings and the 
weighted average number of units has been increased by the number of units which would be issued on conversion of the convertible 
debentures, pro-rated for the number of days in the year the convertible debentures were outstanding. 

The following table reconciles the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted earnings per unit computation. 

    2009 2008

NUmeRATOR	fOR	BASiC	ANd	diLUTed	eARNiNgS	peR	UNiT
Earnings from continuing operations
Net earnings for basic earnings per unit  77,708 13,388
less: earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (2,451) 6,964
Earnings from continuing operations for basic earnings per unit 80,159 6,424
Add: after-tax interest on convertible debt 11,209 8,664
Earnings from continuing operations for diluted earnings per unit 91,368 15,088

Net earnings
Net earnings for basic earnings per unit  77,708 13,388
Add: after-tax interest on convertible debt 11,209 8,664
Net earnings for diluted earnings per unit 88,917 22,052

deNOmiNATOR	fOR	BASiC	ANd	diLUTed	eARNiNgS	peR	UNiT
Weighted average number of units for basic earnings per unit 72,999,716 72,460,050
Units issued if all convertible debt was converted(1) 13,817,000 10,097,877
Total for diluted earnings per unit 86,816,716 82,557,927

BASiC	eARNiNgS	peR	UNiT (in dollars) 
Earnings from continuing operations 1.09	 0.09
Net earnings  1.06 0.18
diLUTed	eARNiNgS	peR	UNiT (in dollars) 
Earnings from continuing operations 1.05 0.09
Net earnings 1.02 0.18
(1) units in 2008 were Pro-rated for the 195 days in 2008 that the 2013 deBentures were outstanding.

17. commitments and contingencies

Capital and Operating Lease Commitments
At December 31, 2009, the REIT was committed under non-cancellable leases requiring future minimum rentals as follows:

    Capital	 Operating
	 	 	 	 Leases	 Leases	 Total

2010  12,939 9,981 22,920
2011  12,916 8,067 20,983
2012  12,859 6,932 19,791
2013  12,860 5,755 18,615
2014  12,861 5,374 18,235
Thereafter 153,156 28,742 181,898
Total minimum payments 217,591 64,851 282,442
less: amount representing interest 91,645  
Obligations under capital leases 125,946  
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Property and Equipment Commitments
At December 31, 2009, outstanding capital expenditure commitments for EHSI totalled $13.1 million (US$12.5 million). ECI has 
outstanding capital expenditure purchase commitments totalling $30.8 million as at December 31, 2009, relating to three construction 
projects currently in progress (600 beds in Alberta).

ECI has a number of internal growth projects under various stages of development, representing three senior care centers in Alberta  
for 600 beds, at a cost of approximately $74.3 million, net of government grants, for completion through 2011. These are described  
as follows.

Construction is in progress on three centers in Alberta consisting of a 280-bed continuing care center in Red Deer, a 140-unit  
designated assisted living center in lethbridge, and a 180-unit long-term care center in Edmonton. The Red Deer center is anticipated  
to be completed in the summer of 2010, at an estimated cost, net of government grants, of $33.3 million, of which $23.3 million has 
been incurred through December 31, 2009. The new lethbridge center is anticipated to be completed by the fall of 2010, at an 
estimated cost, net of government grants, of $21.5 million, of which $6.0 million has been spent to December 31, 2009. The new 
Edmonton center is anticipated to be completed in the summer of 2011, at an estimated cost of $19.5 million, net of government  
grants, of which $5.5 million has been spent to December 31, 2009. 

ECI currently operates older nursing centers in lethbridge (120 beds) and Edmonton (113 beds). The Alberta Health Services Board  
is presently evaluating the long-term needs for nursing center beds. We have agreed that we will cease operating our lethbridge nursing 
center when the new center is built in 2010. In the meantime, we are continuing to explore alternate uses thereafter for the building. 
There have been no discussions to date regarding the timing of closure of the Edmonton nursing center. The combined EBITDA of the 
two existing centers was $2.7 million in 2009. The projected combined annual EBITDA of the two new centers, once fully operational,  
is expected to exceed $5.0 million. 

During 2007, ECI was awarded three projects representing 480 long-term care beds under the Ontario government’s October 2006 
emergency room wait time strategy that included the construction of 1,750 new and the replacement of 662 long-term care beds.  
In December 2008, it was decided that ECI would no longer be participating in these development projects. There were a number of 
factors considered in making this decision, the most significant being the availability and cost of capital in the current economic climate. 
At the time the proposals were submitted for these beds, we did not anticipate the magnitude of the global financial crisis. This and other 
factors have challenged the viability of these projects for ECI. As such, we believe the prudent course of action was to discontinue our 
involvement in them. All costs incurred to date, totalling $2.5 million, were written off during the fourth quarter of 2008 (note 10).

Contractual and Future Skilled Nursing Property Lease Obligations
In June 2009, EHSI entered into a 10-year operating lease agreement that commences upon completion of the construction of a new 
skilled nursing center (100 beds) in South Bend, Indiana, which is expected to be completed in the 2011 first quarter. Upon completion, 
annual lease payments will be US$1.0 million in the first year and US$1.1 million thereafter. 

In September 2009, EHSI entered into an agreement with the company controlled by the former shareholders of Tendercare that 
includes a partial interest of Mr. lukenda and his immediate family. The company owns a 120-bed skilled nursing center in lansing, 
Michigan, that under the terms of the agreement, upon renovation and certification of the center, EHSI will enter into a 10-year lease  
for US$0.4 million per annum. The renovation is anticipated to be completed by the 2010 third quarter (note 21).

ALC Spin-Off 
The Arrangement included the distribution of Assisted living Concepts, Inc. (AlC) to Extendicare’s shareholders and a number of 
pre-Arrangement transactions (referred to as the “Reorganization”). As part of the spin-off of AlC in 2006 to Extendicare’s shareholders, 
EHSI and AlC entered into a tax allocation agreement dated as of November 10, 2006 (the “Tax Allocation Agreement”). In connection 
with the gain arising on the transfer of AlC by EHSI to Extendicare on November 10, 2006, management had estimated income taxes 
payable of $115.9 million (US$102.5 million) based on the volume-weighted average trading price of the AlC Class A Shares on its first 
day of trading, which was US$8.00. In June 2009, the IRS completed its audit of the year in which this transaction occurred and has not 
adjusted management’s methodology for determining the fair market value of AlC. During 2009, there was an income tax adjustment  
of $0.8 million (US$0.7 million) relating to an IRS examination that was charged to retained earnings since it related to the spin-off.

There are certain risk factors relating to the AlC spin-off that impact EHSI. These risks and uncertainties are based upon those that are 
identifiable. There could be additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to EHSI, or which are currently viewed as immaterial, 
but may also impair the future operations of EHSI. If any such risks actually occur, the business, financial condition, or liquidity and results 
of operations of EHSI could be adversely affected.
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In 2009, AlC asserted that EHSI owes an estimated US$3.1 million to AlC under the Tax Allocation Agreement relating to additional 
depreciation deductions allowed by IRS for years 2005 and 2006 relating to limitations computed under Section 382 of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Extendicare disagrees with this assertion and does not believe any liability has been incurred. Should AlC assert this 
position and be successful, through a decision made by an independent arbitrator, any liability would be charged directly to retained 
earnings since the spin-off of AlC was accounted for as a capital transaction in 2006.

Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Risk
The REIT and its consolidated subsidiaries are defendants in actions brought against them from time to time in connection with their 
operations. It is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of the various proceedings at this time or to estimate additional costs  
that may result.

In late 2008, three class action lawsuits were filed against wholly owned U.S. based subsidiaries of the REIT in a federal court in 
Washington and in Minnesota, and in a state court in Wisconsin. All of the lawsuits had essentially the same allegations that our 
advertising did not match with our regulatory history. The claims also included allegations that the centers admitted residents without 
due regard to their needs. The Washington complaint involved 15 centers during a four-year period beginning in August 2004; the 
Minnesota complaint involved 10 centers during a six-year period beginning in October 2002; and the Wisconsin complaint involved  
26 centers during a three-year period beginning in November 2005. 

Motions to dismiss were granted by the courts in both the Minnesota and Washington actions in March 2009, and in the Wisconsin 
action in September 2009. The courts held that the plaintiffs’ allegations were too general and unspecific to serve as the basis  
for a claim.

The U.S. Department of Justice and other federal agencies have increased their resources dedicated to regulatory investigations and 
compliance audits of health care providers. EHSI is diligent to address these regulatory efforts. U.S. federal law requires each state to 
have a Medicaid Fraud Control Unit, which is responsible for investigating provider fraud and resident abuse in Medicaid-funded centers. 
EHSI has had previous investigations by these Medicaid Fraud Control Units but is not aware of any potential costs related to 
investigations at this time.

18. emPloyee future Benefits

Retirement compensation arrangements, including defined benefit plans, are maintained for certain employee groups as described below. 

The REIT provides a registered defined benefit pension plan, as well as a supplementary plan which is an unfunded defined benefit pension 
arrangement for certain of its executives, both of which have been closed to new entrants for several years. The registered defined benefit 
plan was fully funded with plan assets of $6.1 million and accrued benefit obligations of $6.3 million as at December 31, 2009. The accrued 
benefit obligations of the supplementary plan were $30.0 million as at December 31, 2009. We do not set aside assets in connection with 
the supplementary plan and the benefit payments made thereunder are funded from our cash from operations. We measure our accrued 
benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes at September 30th of each year. A discount rate of 6.0% was 
used to determine the benefit expense in 2009, and a discount rate of 5.5% was used to calculate the accrued benefit obligation at the end 
of 2009. Actuarial valuation reports of the defined benefit pension plan are completed every three years. The most recent actuarial 
review was conducted effective October 1, 2009, and will be completed in early 2010. Additional information for these benefit plans is 
provided in the following tables.

EHSI also maintains defined contribution retirement 401(K) savings plans in the U.S., which are made available to substantially all of its 
employees. EHSI pays a matching contribution of 25% of every qualifying dollar contributed by plan participants, net of any forfeitures. 
EHSI incurred expenses and made cash payments of $3.4 million (2008 – $3.3 million) related to the 401(K) savings plans.
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    2009 2008

Accrued benefit obligations
  Balance at beginning of year 34,740 37,094
  Current service cost 122 197
  Benefits paid (2,637) (2,534)
  Interest costs 2,016 1,946
  Actuarial losses (gains)  2,062 (1,963)
  Balance at end of year 36,303 34,740
Plan assets
  Fair value at beginning of year 6,197 7,483
  Employer contributions 2,242 2,130
  Actual return on plan assets 326 (882)
  Benefits paid (2,637) (2,534)
  Fair value at end of year 6,128 6,197
Funded status – plan deficit 30,175 28,543
  Unrecognized net experience losses (5,212) (3,077)
  Other (543) (565)
  Accrued benefit liability 24,420 24,901

Annual benefit plan expense
  Current period service costs 122 197
  Interest cost 2,016 1,946
  Actual return on plan assets (326) 882
  Actuarial losses (gains) 2,062 (1,963)
  Plan benefit cost before adjustments to recognize long-term nature of plan benefit cost 3,874 1,062
  Adjustments to recognize the long-term nature of plan benefit costs
   Difference between expected and actual return on plan assets (94) (1,391)
   Difference between actuarial loss recognized and actual actuarial loss on accrued benefit obligation (2,041) 2,048
  Plan benefit expense recognized in the period  1,739 1,719

    2009 2008

Reconciliation of funded status to amounts in financial statements
  Accrued benefit liability at beginning of the year 24,901 25,348
  Pension expense 1,739 1,719
  Employer contributions (2,220) (2,166)
  Accrued benefit liability at end of the year 24,420 24,901

Reported in the REIT’s balance sheet
  Current accrued liabilities 2,233 2,166
  Other long-term liabilities  22,187 22,735
  Accrued benefit liability at end of year 24,420 24,901

Percentage of plan assets
  Equities 62% 59%
  Fixed income securities 32% 34%
  Cash and short-term investments  6% 7%
    100% 100%

    2009 2008

Significant assumptions 
  Discount rate 5.5% 6.0%
  Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.0% 7.0%
  Rate of compensation increase 5.0% 5.0%
  Average remaining service years of active employees 8 6
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19. nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

a) Risk Associated with Financial Instruments
The REIT is exposed to the following risks as a result of holding financial instruments: credit risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and 
liquidity risk. Below is a description of those risks and the objectives, policies and processes that have been implemented to measure 
and manage the risks.

credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the REIT by failing to discharge its obligation. 
The nature and maximum exposure to credit risk as at December 31 was:

 Carrying	Amount 2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents  134,012 123,084
Restricted cash 22,361 –
Accounts receivable, less allowance  210,562 271,739
Investments held for self-insured liabilities(1) 61,885 61,938
Notes, mortgages and amounts receivable(2)  53,812 55,647
Medicare and Medicaid settlement receivables 17,420 17,224
    500,052 529,632

(1) excludes equity investments.
(2) includes current Portion.

The majority of our cash and cash equivalents are held with highly rated financial institutions in Canada and United States. 

Receivables from U.S. and Canadian government agencies, which are included in accounts receivables, notes, mortgages and amounts 
receivable, and Medicare and Medicaid settlement receivables, represented the only concentrated group of credit risks for the REIT.  
As at December 31, 2009, receivables from government agencies represented approximately 77% of the total receivables. Management 
does not believe that there is significant credit risk associated with these government agencies other than possible funding delays. 
Receivables, other than those from government agencies, consist of receivables from various payors and do not represent any 
concentrated credit risks to the REIT. There is no significant exposure to any single party. 

The REIT’s investments held for self-insured liabilities are with high-quality financial institutions, as are the counterparties to the foreign 
currency forward contracts. The REIT limits the amount of exposure to any one institution.

currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates.

The REIT finances and secures Canadian debt on only Canadian operations and assets, and similarly, finances and secures U.S. debt  
on only U.S. operations and assets. Therefore, there is no currency exposure in respect of the valuation of assets and associated debt. 
The REIT can raise capital to finance, through cross-border loans or an injection of capital, the REIT’s U.S. operations. Any cross-border 
transactions are subject to exchange fluctuations that may result in realized gains or losses as and when the balances are settled and 
upon the payment of interest on such loans, as well as any cross-border dividend or return of capital. 

The majority of the REIT’s operations are conducted in the United States, which accounted for approximately 70% of its total revenue  
in 2009. All of the REIT’s distributions are denominated in Canadian dollars, and therefore, to the extent those distributions are funded  
by our U.S. operations, the REIT is subject to currency risk. Approximately 86% of the REIT’s distributions in 2009 were funded from the 
flow of funds from the U.S. to the REIT as intercompany loans or interest. To limit the exposure to converting the REIT’s U.S. cash flow  
into Canadian dollars, we implemented a foreign currency hedging strategy through FCFCs, provided the conditions are favourable  
at the time. As a result, EHSI has entered into FCFCs to acquire Canadian dollars on a monthly basis to June 2011. 

The REIT maintains risk management control systems to monitor foreign currency cash flow risk attributable to its outstanding  
or forecasted debt obligations as well as its offsetting hedge positions. We do not enter into financial instruments for trading  
or speculative purposes.
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Our exposure to foreign currency risk as at December 31, 2009 and 2008, was as follows:

 (in thousands of US$)  2009 2008

Assets
  Current assets 292,916 271,787
  Property and equipment, goodwill, intangibles & other assets 843,849 845,807
liabilities
  Current liabilities 149,938 230,689
  long-term debt and other liabilities 814,763 783,122
Net asset exposure 172,064 103,783

Cash	flow	sensitivity:
Below is the cash flow sensitivity for the current level of distribution of US$4.0 million per month from U.S. to Canada:

• since the FCFCs we had in place, covering the period to November 2009, were locked at a fixed exchange rate, any fluctuation  
in currency would not have had any impact on our monthly distribution from the U.S. to Canada; 

• from December 2009 to June 2010, if the prevailing exchange rate at that time falls between 1.00 and 1.1050, for every one cent 
change in exchange rate, the impact would be $0.5 million per year;

• for July 2010, if the prevailing exchange rate at that time falls between 1.00 and 1.09, for every one cent change in exchange rate,  
the impact would be $0.5 million per year; and

• from August 2010 to June 2011, if the prevailing exchange rate at that time falls between 1.00 and 1.09, for every one cent change  
in exchange rate, the impact would be $0.5 million per year.

Net	earnings	sensitivity	analysis:
Every one cent strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar on U.S. dollar denominated net assets would impact net 
earnings and other comprehensive income by amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest 
rates and fair value of the FCFCs, remain constant.

	 Favourable	(unfavourable)	impact 2009 2008

Net earnings (607) (35)
Other comprehensive income (1,721) (1,038)

interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates.

The REIT assesses interest rate risk by continually identifying and monitoring changes in interest rates that may adversely impact 
expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities. The REIT maintains risk management control systems to monitor 
interest rate risk attributable to its outstanding or forecasted debt obligations as well as its offsetting hedge positions.

In order to meet its monthly distributions, the REIT has limited the amount of debt that may be subject to changes in interest rates. As at 
December 31, 2009, all but $94.1 million of our outstanding long-term debt was at fixed rates. We do not enter into financial instruments 
for trading or speculative purposes.

The interest rate profile of our interest-bearing financial instruments at December 31, 2009 and 2008, was as follows:

 Carrying	Amount 2009 2008

Fixed-rate instruments:
  Investments held for self-insured liabilities(1)  54,358 32,553
  less: long-term debt(2)(3)  1,158,508 1,288,819
Net liability in fixed-rate instruments 1,104,150 1,256,266

variable-rate instruments:
 long-term debt(2)(3)  94,104 74,929
Total liability in variable-rate instruments 94,104 74,929

(1) excludes variaBle-rate instruments.
(2) excludes financing costs.
(3) includes current Portion.
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fair	value	sensitivity	analysis	for	fixed-rate	instruments:
We do not designate interest rate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model; therefore, changes  
in interest rates would not affect net earnings with respect to these fixed-rate instruments. As at December 31, 2009, there were no 
fixed-rate instruments that are designated as held for trading included in invested assets; therefore, changes in interest rates will not 
have any impact on net earnings for these instruments.

fair	value	sensitivity	analysis	for	variable-rate	instruments:
long-term debt is classified as other financial liabilities which are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method  
of amortization; therefore, changes in interest rates would not affect other comprehensive income with respect to variable-rate debt.

Cash	flow	sensitivity	analysis	for	variable-rate	instruments:
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have increased or decreased net earnings by amounts shown below. This analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

	 Favourable	(unfavourable)	impact	 	 2009  2008

	 	 	 	 100bp	 100bp	 100bp 100bp	
	 	 	 	 increase	 decrease	 increase decrease

Net earnings (566)	 566 (328) 328

liquidity risk
liquidity risk is the risk that the REIT will encounter difficulty in meeting its contractual obligations associated with financial liabilities 
(note 20).

We manage our liquidity risk through the use of budgets and forecasts. Cash requirements are monitored regularly based on actual 
financial results and actual cash flows to ensure that there are sufficient resources to meet operational requirements. We ensure that 
there are sufficient funds for declared and payable distributions and any other future commitments at any time. In addition, since there  
is a risk that long-term debt may not be refinanced or may not be refinanced on as favourable terms or with interest rates as favourable  
as those of the existing debt, we attempt to appropriately structure the timing of contractual long-term debt renewal obligations and 
exposures.

At December 31, 2009, we had a balance of $134.0 million in cash and cash equivalents. With respect to credit facilities, in the U.S.,  
EHSI had US$23.5 million in borrowings under the EHSI Credit Facility. The unused portion of the EHSI Credit Facility that was available 
for working capital and corporate purposes, after reduction for outstanding letters of credit of US$3.7 million, was US$42.8 million.  
In Canada, the unused portion of the RBC Credit Facility, after reduction for outstanding letters of credit of $60.1 million, was  
$9.9 million (note 8).

b) Fair Values of Financial Instruments
     2009  2008

	 	 	 	 Carrying		 fair	 Carrying Fair	
	 	 	 	 Amount	 	value	  Amount  value

Financial assets:
  Invested assets(1) 823	 823 947 947
  Accounts receivable, less allowance(2) 227,982	 227,401 288,963 288,098
  Notes, mortgages and amounts receivable(3) 53,812	 57,287 55,647 59,647
  Investments held for self-insured liabilities 65,332	 65,763 67,525 68,387
Financial liabilities:
  long-term debt(3)(4) 1,252,612	 1,276,928 1,363,748 1,360,805
  Foreign currency forward contract liability(3) 330	 330 13,934 13,934
Net liabilities (904,993)	 (925,984) (964,600) (957,660)
Net unrealized gain (loss)   (20,991)  6,940

(1) included in other current assets.
(2) includes long-term Portion.
(3) includes current Portion.
(4) excludes financing costs.
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Basis	for	determining	fair	values:
The following summarizes the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected  
in the previous table.

Fair values for investments designated as held to maturity and available for sale are based on quoted market prices.

loans and receivables include accounts receivable as well as notes and mortgages receivable. Accounts receivable including other 
long-term receivables, are recorded at amortized cost. The carrying values of accounts receivable approximate fair values due to their 
short-term maturities, with the exception of certain settlement receivables from third-party payors that are anticipated to be collected 
beyond one year. The fair values of these settlement receivables are estimated based on discounted cash flows at current borrowing 
rates. Notes and mortgages receivable primarily consist of notes and amounts receivable from government agencies, and other 
third-party notes. The fair values for these instruments are based on the amount of future cash flows associated with each instrument, 
discounted using current applicable rates for similar instruments of comparable maturity and credit quality.

The fair value of the FCFCs is based upon the valuation as provided by the financial institution that is the counterparty to the agreements.

The fair values for long-term debt are based on the amount of future cash flows associated with each instrument discounted using 
current applicable rates for similar instruments of comparable maturity and credit quality.

fair	value	hierarchy:
We use a fair value hierarchy to categorize the type of valuation techniques from which fair values are derived. Our use of quoted market 
prices (level 1), internal models using observable market information as inputs (level 2) and internal models without observable market 
information as inputs (level 3) for the following financial instruments recorded at fair value were as follows:

    Available-for-	 derivative
 As at December 31, 2009 Sale	Securities	 Liabilities

level 1 – valued using quoted market prices 65,763 –
level 2 – valued using internal models (with observable market inputs) 823 330
level 3 – valued using internal models (without observable market inputs) – –
    66,586  330

20. caPital management

The REIT’s objective is to preserve a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. We seek to balance the need for maintaining an attractive payout ratio with maintaining adequate capital 
to grow the business by acquisition or internal growth. 

The REIT must access the capital markets periodically to fund acquisitions, growth capital expenditures and certain other expenditures. 
We monitor the capital markets to assess the conditions for raising capital and the cost of such capital relative to the return on any 
acquisitions or growth capital projects. We monitor the level, nature of debt and leverage ratios, along with our compliance with debt 
covenants continuously to ensure that sufficient resources exist. 

In December 2008, we reduced our distributions effective January 2009 in response to the uncertain economic environment. In addition, 
we retracted from plans to develop three Ontario projects and deferred two projects in the U.S. We are not actively seeking acquisitions at 
this time, and have successfully executed our plan to divest of a number of underperforming centers in the U.S. The cash flow from these 
initiatives can be directed to the acquisition for cancellation of securities and to reduce our leverage.

We are monitoring closely our cash position on a monthly basis and providing information to the Board of Trustees in order to carefully 
evaluate any significant cash flow decisions. In the opinion of the REIT, and based upon the information provided to the REIT, the majority  
of our investments are of high quality and relatively safe from further economic turbulence, and cash is held in secure financial institutions.
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Global Economic Change in 2009
The most significant factor impacting the REIT’s industry this past year, and for the near term, is the global economy. Beginning in the 
latter part of 2008, the economy and stock markets have suffered a significant downturn as a result of the worldwide credit and liquidity 
crisis that impacted market values of securities, values of commodities, such as oil and gas, interest rates and the foreign exchange 
markets; and there has been unprecedented job losses in both the U.S. and Canada. With a dramatic reduction in corporate profits  
and reduced consumer confidence, the fiscal health of provincial, state and federal governments have been dampened; consequently, 
the future funding of services for which they provide support may be at risk. The global economic downturn has impacted nursing  
home funding, short-term admissions in our U.S. nursing centers and the financing environment.

Impact of Global Events on the REIT
There are a number of risks that the global events could pose on the REIT. Below is a summary of the potential uncertainties and 
significant risks that could have an impact on the REIT.

a)	State,	provincial	and	federal	funding	and	regulatory	pressure
Reductions in Medicaid, Medicare and provincial funding for long-term care due to the economic downturn could have a material 
impact on our earnings. The majority of our costs are wages that cannot be changed given the requirements of our residents and 
regulations. In addition, any escalation of regulatory pressure by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) or states could 
have a negative impact on our costs and thereby reduce our earnings. 

In February 2009, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 provided US$787 billion in government stimulus of which 
US$86.7 billion was appropriated to increase funding for state Medicaid programs. However, despite this additional funding and the 
stated intention to maintain core education, health and unemployment funding, a number of states in which we operate have faced 
severe budgetary shortfalls in 2009, are expected to continue to do the same in 2010, and have implemented or proposed reductions  
in Medicaid funding or provided for below inflationary increases. Each year as of July 1, EHSI receives new annual Medicaid rates  
in eight of the 12 states in which it operates skilled nursing centers. For the 2009 year, the weighted average Medicaid increase over 
2008, net of provider taxes and exclusive of case mix index, was approximately 1.9%. In addition, on July 31, 2009, CMS issued its final  
rule for skilled nursing centers, resulting in a net reduction in Medicare Part A rates of 1.1% effective October 1, 2009. 

In response to the reductions in government funding, we have undertaken a number of initiatives in the latter half of 2008 and  
during 2009, and plan to continue to do so in 2010, to reduce our operating and administrative costs without impacting the quality  
and level of services to the residents that we serve. Those initiatives have been focused on reducing the costs of pharmaceuticals, 
telecommunications and major supplies through enhanced procurement initiatives; implementing real-time labour tracking tools within 
our U.S. centers; reducing health care and workers compensation costs through a number of program initiatives; reducing the level  
of bad debts through new admission and collection software tools; tightening travel policies and reducing corporate overhead through 
technology driven solutions.

b)	decline	in	short-term	admissions	in	the	U.S.
In the U.S., Medicare and Managed Care funded residents are the source of approximately 80% of our admissions, a component  
of which come from hospitals after elective surgeries. 

In respect of Medicare admissions, the global economic downturn has reduced disposable income of individuals, reduced employment 
and resulted in a general restraint by the public on health care spending. As a result of this downturn, the number of individuals seeking 
elective surgery and hence the need for post-acute care has declined. We believe that the majority of long-term care providers in the 
United States have experienced a decline in short-term admissions. We also believe the decline that it experienced during the 2008 
fourth quarter and during 2009 in Medicare admissions was in part due to individuals deferring elective surgery due to the economy  
and the resulting reduction in required post-acute care. Our future earnings could be eroded further should the level of admissions 
decrease as a result of lower incomes and lower financial resources of our prospective residents.

c)	Ability	to	raise	financing	and	refinance	loans	and	the	resulting	higher	costs	of	borrowing
Our leverage has been established as a result of the 2006 reorganization, and in general, leverage ratios are higher in property-based 
long-term care operators such as the REIT, and are required to maximize state reimbursement in certain states. Should leverage ratios  
of the REIT increase as a result of declining earnings, the REIT may have limited ability to reduce the level of debt to meet  
lenders expectations.
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EHSI has in aggregate original principal of US$590.0 million in CMBS financings and US$51.0 million in Sovereign loans that mature 
between June 2011 and March 2012. The EHSI Credit Facility matures in June 2011 and has an option to extend for a third year  
to June 2012 upon satisfaction of certain conditions. The Sovereign loans can be refinanced without any prepayment penalty.  
The CMBS financings have a defeasement penalty that continues through to three months prior to their maturity dates, and is 
determined based upon the difference between the interest rate on the loans and U.S. Treasury rates. Over time, the defeasement 
penalty is reduced. Currently, EHSI would not seek to defease any significant portion of the CMBS financings without successfully 
seeking an amendment to reduce the defeasement penalty, and hence is currently limiting its ability to deleverage. 

The availability of low-cost and long-term financing is more limited than prior to the global economic downturn, as are the sources  
and options for financing. As a result, the terms and conditions of financing are less favourable to the REIT. Management continuously 
monitors its refinancing risks and communicates regularly with lenders to maintain an understanding of the availability and cost of 
capital. If the CMBS financings were maturing today, the favoured option would be to replace them with HUD insured mortgages. 
Mortgages insured through HUD are available to all qualifying long-term care operators and represent a low-cost and long-term 
financing option for the REIT. However, additional administrative costs are required to establish and maintain HUD mortgages. 

The REIT has, however, been successful in renewing its U.S. line of credit and amending its Canadian line of credit during 2009, raising 
equity in February 2010, and arranging new construction loans for all Canadian developments. 

Normal Course Issuer Bid
We continue to be prudent with our cash usage. In light of the current economic environment, given the high current yields as a  
result of the lower trading prices of our REIT Units and debentures throughout 2008 and at the beginning of 2009, we believe that 
repurchasing these securities was a wise capital allocation decision. To date, we have purchased 1.7 million REIT Units, as well as  
$1.1 million and $0.2 million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Debentures and the 2013 Debentures, respectively, through  
 our 2008 Bid. On January 5, 2010, the REIT received approval from the TSx to commence our 2010 Bid (note 13).

Capital Structure
The REIT defines its capital structure to include long-term debt, net of cash and cash equivalents, and unit capital.

    2009 2008

Current portion of long-term debt(1)  28,538 42,217
long-term debt(1)  1,205,494 1,290,596
Total debt 1,234,032 1,332,813
less: Cash and cash equivalents (134,012) (123,084)
Net debt 1,100,020 1,209,729
Unit capital 355,469 356,898
    1,455,489 1,566,627

(1) net of financing costs.  

Distributions
In accordance with the REIT’s Deed of Trust, distributions to unitholders are declared at the discretion of the REIT’s Board of Trustees. 
The REIT’s Deed of Trust provides that to the extent the aggregate amount of distributions to unitholders for a taxation year of the REIT  
is less than the sum of (i) the net income of the REIT for such year determined pursuant to the provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada) 
(the “Tax Act”) (excluding any capital gains and capital losses of the REIT and without regard to the deduction under subsection 104(6) 
of the Tax Act in respect of amounts that became payable to unitholders in such year), and (ii) the net realized capital gains of the REIT 
for such year, an amount equal to such shortfall shall, unless otherwise determined by the Trustees, be automatically due and payable by 
the REIT to unitholders of record on December 31 of such year. The REIT has no requirements pursuant to the Deed of Trust concerning 
Debt to Adjusted Gross Book value or any other financial requirements.

REIT Unit Redemption Rights
REIT Units are redeemable at any time on demand by the holders. Upon receipt by the REIT of a notice to redeem REIT Units, all rights  
to and under the REIT Units tendered for redemption shall be surrendered and the holder shall be entitled to receive a price per REIT 
Unit in cash equal to the lesser of:

a)  95% of the “market price” of the REIT Units on the principal stock exchange or market on which the REIT Units are quoted for trading 
during the 10 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to the redemption date; and

b)  100% of the “closing market price” of the REIT Units on the principal stock exchange or market on which the REIT Units are quoted 
for trading on the redemption date.
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The aggregate cash redemption price payable by the REIT in respect of all REIT Units surrendered for redemption during any calendar 
month shall be satisfied by a cash payment no later than the last day of the month following the month in which the REIT Units were 
tendered for redemption, and shall not exceed $100,000, unless waived at the discretion of the Trustees. If the holder is not entitled  
to receive his, her or its redemption price in cash upon redemption as a result of the foregoing and other limitations, then each REIT Unit 
tendered for redemption will be redeemed by way of a distribution in specie of securities held by the REIT, subject to any applicable 
regulatory approvals. 

Financial Covenants
EHSI is subject to external financial covenant requirements pursuant to the CMBS financings, Sovereign Bank mortgage loans and  
the EHSI Credit Facility on the level of debt to earnings and cash flow of its operations (note 8). Management and the Board of Trustees 
monitor these covenant ratios on a monthly and quarterly basis, respectively. The REIT is in compliance with all these covenants as  
of December 31, 2009.

21. related Party transactions

In October 2007, EHSI completed the acquisition of Tendercare, a privately owned operator of senior care centers in the State of 
Michigan, which was comprised of 29 skilled nursing centers and one inpatient rehabilitation hospital, for a total of 3,301 operational 
beds. The total consideration of the acquisition was $225.0 million (US$238.2 million), and was comprised of the assumption of debt  
of US$76.4 million, the issuance of US$26.4 million of 7.5% seller notes, a portion of which is payable based on certain factors being  
met (note 8), and US$135.4 million in cash.

On April 7, 2008, Tim lukenda, the former President of Tendercare was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of Extendicare 
REIT. Prior to its acquisition by EHSI, Mr. lukenda owned an approximate 4.6% direct and indirect interest in Tendercare and received, 
directly or indirectly, on completion of the acquisition of Tendercare an equivalent percentage of the consideration paid by EHSI.  
As part of Mr. lukenda’s terms of employment, the employment contract provides a mechanism and process that effectively removes 
Mr. lukenda from the decision-making process in situations where a conflict of interest may arise on any matter between Extendicare 
REIT and his previous employer, or with respect to any financial interest that Mr. lukenda or his family have with Extendicare REIT  
and its subsidiaries. As part of the acquisition of Tendercare, in addition to normal representative and warranty provisions, EHSI has  
to agree on any adjustments to the final purchase price as described above, before making any payments to Mr. lukenda or his  
family. EHSI and ECI also provide certain services to three long-term care centers that are owned or partially owned by members  
of Mr. lukenda’s immediate family. 

In connection with the purchase of Tendercare, EHSI paid the balance due of US$5.0 million in March 2009 (note 8), and made  
a payment of US$1.7 million in April 2009 pursuant to the annual closing statement adjustments that continue until January 2012. 

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement of lTC Professional in 2008, consideration for the acquisition is to be adjusted  
annually based upon the actuarial liabilities determined at December 31st of each year through 2012, with an option to extend to 2015.  
In March 2009, ECI made the first annual settlement of US$2.2 million. 

In September 2009, EHSI entered into an agreement with a company controlled by the former shareholders of Tendercare that includes 
a partial interest of Mr. lukenda and his immediate family. The company owns a 120-bed nursing center in lansing, Michigan, that under 
the terms of the agreement, upon renovation and certification of the center, EHSI will enter into a 10-year lease for US$0.4 million per annum. 
The renovation is anticipated to be completed by the 2010 third quarter (note 17).

22. segmented information

During 2009, the REIT had two reportable operating segments: United States operations and Canadian operations. These operations  
are managed independently of each other because of their geographic areas and regulatory environments. Each operation retains its 
own management team and is responsible for compiling its own financial information. 

The REIT, through its subsidiaries, operates long-term care centers in the United States and Canada. Also offered in the United States  
are medical specialty services, such as post-acute care and rehabilitative therapy services, as well as health technology services, while 
home health care services are provided in Canada.
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Substantial portions of our revenue are funded by various federal, state, provincial and local government programs. The funding 
programs from which we receive 10% or more of our continuing operations’ revenue are: the United States federal Medicare program, 
representing revenue of $491.1 million and $460.6 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively; and the Ontario provincial government, 
representing revenue of $335.0 million and $334.4 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The significant accounting policies of the reportable operating segments are the same as those described in note 1. Information about 
the REIT’s segments and a reconciliation of segment profit to net earnings are as follows:

      2009   2008

	 	 	 	 United	 	 	 United	
	 	 	 	 States	 Canada	 Total	 States Canada Total

Revenue      
  Nursing and assisted living centers 1,469,126	 479,125	 1,948,251 1,332,390 446,131 1,778,521
  Home health care –− 155,096	 155,096 –− 148,928 148,928
  Health technology services 18,853	 –−	 18,853 14,328 – 14,328
  Outpatient therapy 13,905	 −–	 13,905 12,956 −– 12,956
  Other 22,372	 8,719	 31,091 20,888 10,679 31,567
    1,524,256	 642,940	 2,167,196 1,380,562 605,738 1,986,300
Operating expenses 1,262,819	 553,788	 1,816,607 1,179,618 522,090 1,701,708
Administrative costs 52,794	 20,024	 72,818 46,290 25,151 71,441
lease costs 7,991	 4,110	 12,101 7,292 4,032 11,324
    1,323,604	 577,922	 1,901,526 1,233,200 551,273 1,784,473
Earnings before undernoted 200,652	 65,018	 265,670 147,362 54,465 201,827
Depreciation and amortization 52,731	 13,301	 66,032 47,230 11,060 58,290
Accretion expense 1,191	 378	 1,569 1,092 378 1,470
Interest expense 59,197	 37,862	 97,059 58,097 34,490 92,587
Interest income (605)	 (3,639)	 (4,244) (666) (5,652) (6,318)
Inter-segment interest expense (income) (1,451)	 1,451 – (702) 702 –
loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments  
 and foreign exchange (14,043)	 (6,246)	 (20,289) 25,467 (123) 25,344
loss (gain) from asset impairment,  
 disposals and other items  605	 (824)	 (219) 2,460 (1,605) 855
Earnings from continuing health care operations  
 before income taxes 103,027	 22,735	 125,762 14,384 15,215 29,599
Income tax expense (recovery)      
  Current  (628)	 7,446	 6,818 18,710 7,539 26,249
  Future 41,029	 (2,244)	 38,785 (1,209) (1,865) (3,074)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 62,626 17,533	 80,159 (3,117) 9,541 6,424
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations,  
 net of income taxes (2,451) – (2,451) 6,964 – 6,964
Net earnings  60,175	 17,533	 77,780 3,847 9,541 13,388

 
Cash used in capital expenditures 56,130	 35,464	 91,594 52,825 14,709 67,534
Balance sheet:      
  Property and equipment 586,321	 277,109	 863,430 707,464 263,148 970,612
  Goodwill 160,296	 13,026	 173,322 194,600 7,374 201,974
  Other intangible assets  16,611	 1,581	 18,192 22,147 1,508 23,655
  Total consolidated assets 1,194,740	 473,325	 1,668,065 1,361,230 445,692 1,806,922

23. suBsequent event

On February 4, 2010, the REIT completed a public offering of 9,228,750 REIT Units at $9.35 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $86.3 million. 
The net proceeds from the offering were $82.8 million, after the payment of issue-related costs of $3.5 million. The net proceeds of  
the offering will provide the REIT with greater balance sheet flexibility and liquidity and will be used by the REIT to repay indebtedness,  
to fund redevelopment of the REIT’s existing properties and for general purposes.
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Extendicare REIT believes that good corporate governance is 
fundamental for maintaining the confidence of investors and 
increasing unitholder value.

Our governance system is built on values of trust and 
transparency, and we are committed to the principles of 
disclosure and a strong, independent Board. Our commitment to 
providing quality services while building unitholder value is the 
basis for a well-established and enduring organization.

The REIT is dedicated to providing timely, accurate and complete 
disclosure of all material information to the public. Our Board 
of Trustees and Committee members operate under Charters 
that clearly define their roles and responsibilities, including: 
Stewardship, Independence, Effectiveness and Accountability.

The Board of Trustees  
of Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust

Mel Rhinelander B, E

Chairman

Timothy L. Lukenda
President and Chief Executive Officer

John F. Angus A

Senior Partner of PerformaCorp Inc.

George A. Fierheller A 
President of Four Halls Inc. 

Dr. Seth B. Goldsmith HR/GN

Attorney and Professor Emeritus  
at the University of Massachusetts at Amherst

Michael J. L. Kirby E, HR/GN

Chairman of the Mental Health  
Commission of Canada and a retired  
member of the Senate of Canada

Frederick B. Ladly E 
Retired Chairman and  
Chief Executive Officer of Extendicare

Alvin G. Libin A, B 
President and Chief Executive Officer  
of Balmon Investments Ltd. 

J. Thomas MacQuarrie, Q.C.A, B, HR/GN

Senior Partner in the Atlantic Canada  
law firm of Stewart McKelvey

A  Audit Committee 
B  Buyback Committee 
E  Executive Committee 
HR/GN Human Resources, Governance
  and Nominating Committee

Further information on the Trustees of Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust and a description of the REIT’s governance practices 
may be found in the Management Information and Proxy Circular, dated March 5, 2010 as filed with SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on 
the REIT’s website at www.extendicare.com. 

Corporate Governance

 Extendicare REIT’s Board of Trustees and management team fully 
acknowledge the importance of its duty to serve the long-term interest 
of unitholders.
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(unaudited) (thousands of dollars unless otherwise noted)    

     2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 

fiNANCiAL	pOSiTiON
Property and equipment  863,430	 970,612  837,965  725,949  1,107,883  
Health care assets  1,668,065	 1,806,922  1,440,163  1,235,791  1,626,658  
Equity accounted investments  – – –  79,931  73,805  
long-term debt  1,205,494	 1,290,596  996,470  837,757  775,243  
Unitholders’ (deficiency)/shareholders’ equity  	(40,903)  (29,532)  (23,578)  (23,654)   486,536  
fiNANCiAL	ReSULTS
Revenue
  Nursing and assisted living centers
   United States  1,469,126	 1,332,390  1,105,867  1,065,051  1,066,009  
   Canada  479,125	 446,131  418,658  399,222  382,377  
  Home health care – Canada  155,096	 148,928  141,797  141,104  128,144  
  Health technology services – United States  18,853 14,328 13,861 12,361 9,853
  Outpatient therapy – United States  13,905	 12,956  12,259  12,384  13,644 
  Other  31,091	 31,567  33,174  30,808  29,102  
    2,167,196	 1,986,300  1,725,616  1,660,930   1,629,129   
EBITDA(1)  265,670	 201,827   203,074   183,640   197,027   
Earnings (loss) from continuing health care  80,159	 6,424   72,039   (50,176)  75,804   
Share of equity accounted earnings  – –   1,541    5,220    3,928   
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations  80,159	 6,424   73,580   (44,956)  79,732   
COmpONeNTS	Of	diLUTed	eARNiNgS	(LOSS)		
	 peR	UNiT/SHARe ($)
Continuing health care operations  
 before undernoted  	0.81	   0.41    0.82    0.80    0.96   
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments,  
  foreign exchange, restructuring, asset impairment,  

disposals, and other items, net of income taxes  0.24 (0.32) 0.20 (1.54) 0.12 
Earnings (loss) from continuing  
 health care operations  	1.05	  0.09    1.02   (0.74)   1.08   
Share of equity accounted earnings  – –   0.02    0.07    0.05   
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations  	1.05	   0.09    1.04   (0.67)   1.13   
Discontinued operations  	(0.03)	  0.09   (0.04)   0.14    0.21  
Net earnings (loss)  	1.02		  0.18    1.00   (0.53)   1.34   
AFFO from continuing operations (1)  141,360 72,362 82,533 n/a n/a
AFFO from continuing operations per basic unit ($) 1.94 1.00 1.17  n/a n/a
Average US/Canadian dollar exchange rate  1.1420 1.0660 1.0748 1.1341 1.2116
OTHeR	iNfORmATiON
Number of centers (year end)
  United States  176		 185   191   156   156   
  Canada  82		 81   78   78   77   
     258		 266   269   234   233   
Operational resident capacity (year end)
  United States  17,295		 18,634   19,256   15,759   15,315   
  Canada  11,523		 11,394   11,077   11,077   10,920   
     28,818		 30,028   30,333   26,836   26,235  
U.S. nursing center average daily census  
 by payor source (%)       
  Medicare   16.5	  17.7   18.7   18.8   18.7   
  Managed Care  6.7		 6.2   5.0   4.0   3.2   
  Private/other  10.8		 11.2   10.9   11.5   12.6   
  Medicaid  66.0		 64.9   65.4   65.7   65.5   
U.S. nursing center revenue by payor source (%)
  Medicare   33.5		 34.6   36.0   36.1   35.7   
  Managed Care  10.5		 9.4   7.3   5.9   4.6   
  Private/other  9.3		 9.8   9.8   10.4   11.1   
  Medicaid  46.7		 46.2   46.9  47.6   48.6   
Average U.S. nursing centers occupancy (%)  88.5		 88.4   90.3  91.8   93.3   
Average Canadian centers occupancy (%)  98.1		 98.0   98.2  98.1   97.8   
ParaMed home health care hours of service  4,554,000		 4,495,000   4,571,000   4,776,000   4,532,000   
Number of employees (year end)  	38,000		 39,100   37,700   33,700  37,600   
Number of units/shares outstanding (year end)  73,180,024	  73,572,418   70,444,036   70,205,003  67,809,828   
(1) refer to discussion of non-gaaP measures on Page 57.
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Extendicare REIT AFFO and Cash Distributions

Extendicare Real Estate  
Investment Trust 
3000 Steeles Avenue East, Suite 700
Markham, Ontario 
L3R 9W2
Tel: (905) 470-4000
Fax: (905) 470-5588
www.extendicare.com

Unitholder Inquiries/ 
Investor Relations
Jillian Fountain
Secretary
Tel: (905) 470-5534
Fax: (905) 470-4003
email: jfountain@extendicare.com

Transfer Agent
computershare trust company of canada
Tel: (800) 564-6253
Fax: (866) 249-7775
email: service@computershare.com
www.computershare.com

Annual Meeting
Unitholders are invited to attend the Annual Meeting 
of Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust on 
Thursday, May 6, 2010, at 4:00 p.m. at The Gallery, 
TSX Broadcast Centre, 130 King Street West,  
Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

Stock Exchange Listings
Toronto Stock Exchange –  
EXE.UN, EXE.DB and EXE.DB.A

Voting Rights
Unitholders receive one vote for each Extendicare 
Real Estate Investment unit (REIT Unit) or Limited 
Partnership Class B limited partnership unit held.

REIT Unit Trading Profile
Toronto (TSX: EXE.UN)
January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2009
High: $9.58, low: $3.65, close: $9.52
Volume: 51,062,128

Published Information
Extendicare Real Estate Investment Trust’s 2009 
Annual Report is available for viewing or printing  
on its website at www.extendicare.com, together  
with news releases, quarterly reports and other filings 
with the securities commissions. Printed copies of  
the annual report are available upon request  
to the Secretary.

Extendicare REIT AFFO and Cash Distributions

Payout ratio:

AFFO from continuing operations (per basic unit)
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3000 Steeles Avenue East, Suite 700
Markham, Ontario, Canada
L3R 9W2
Tel: (905) 470-4000
Fax: (905) 470-5588
www.extendicare.com

Our Mission
• We help people live better by providing quality, cost - effective  
 health care and rehabilitation primarily to seniors in a resident - 
 directed environment.

• We accomplish this by providing remarkable services through  
 highly engaged and motivated members of our team resulting  
 in an appropriate return to our investors.

Our Vision
Helping people live better, one life at a time, through our people,  
properties and technology.

PeoPle – our experienced and dedicated workforce help   
improve the quality of people’s lives through a commitment to  
the highest standards of service to residents and their families, 
who entrust us with their health care needs. 

ProPerties – as owner and operator of industry - leading North 
American senior care centers for over 40 years. 

technology – we incorporate technologies into the delivery  
of health care services to improve care and efficiency. 

Our Values
At Extendicare REIT, we value our customers and our team who 
cares for them. We are committed to treating them with dignity 
and respect in an atmosphere of compassion. As health care 
professionals, we take pride in being responsive to the needs of 
those who rely upon us.
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